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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a
market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowleage and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any staterment herein or this report misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MERE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue

Gross profit

Loss before income tax

Loss attributable to owners of the Company
Basic loss per Share (HK cents)

Dividend per Share (HK cents)
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March

Total assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

N
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mE¥EE
BE=HA=1—HIFE
Changes 2015
& —E-5F
HK$’000
FET
14.0% 369,635
-53.9% 23,082
-90.6% (45,352)
-90.3% (41,723)
-94.7% (1.34)
N/AT i A N/ATIE
RE BN
R=EH=7—H
Changes 2015
g2 —E-1fF
HK$’000
FET
10.1% 366,612
201.6% 62,166
-46.6% 395,578
92.9% (28,966)

2014

— e
HK$ 000
T

324,331
50,100
(483,513)
(431,292)
(25.14)
N/A i3 A

2014

— PO
HK$ 000
FET

332,957
20,609

740,896

(407,939)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEEE

RATIOS o =S
As at 31 March R=A=+—H
2015
—E-EREF
Return on equity (Note a) WEmBIIR (Hita ) N/ATE F
Return on assets (Note b) BERS (Aatb) -11.4%
Current ratio (Note c) MELE (ffite) 1.66 timesfZ
Gearing ratio (Note d) BEARBLE (fitd) 70.1%
Notes: Kz

(@  Return on equity is calculated as net loss divided by Shareholders’ equity.
(b)  Return on assets is calculated as net loss divided by total assets.

(c) Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current
liabilities.

(d) Gearing ratio is calculated as total amount of bank overdraft, promissory

note, convertible notes, finance lease payables and advance received
from customers divided by total assets.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
2 5 @ 5

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of waterworks
engineering services for the public sector in Hong Kong, television
broadcasting business in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the
PRC) in return for advertising and related revenue and large outdoor
display screen advertisement in the PRC.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 15 March 2010 and the Shares were listed on GEM on
30 August 2010.

Currently, the Group’s television broadcasting business is mainly
carried out through Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific and its subsidiaries. The
Group’s large outdoor display screen advertisement business is
mainly carried out through Shenzhen Qianhai Xinhua TV Cultural
Development Limited* CFYIBIEFEETRLERBR AR .

The Group’s business of provision of waterworks engineering
services for the public sector is carried out through TYW and
TY Civil respectively with TYW responsible for signing and
implementing civil engineering contracts as a main contractor and
forming joint operations while TY Civil responsible for signing and
implementing civil engineering contracts as a subcontractor.

* for identification purpose only
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A EBOR -_ZF-—FFNAA=THERIER
Sliivde

B AEEZERBEREHIELHEER
TREREWBRRET  REEZKREF I
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2014/2015 Fik HPEFESHIEZERERLT 5



CORPORATE PROFILE
2 B o

REGISTRATIONS HELD FOR UNDERTAKING

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has obtained the following registrations from Works
Branch Development Bureau (2% & /& T##}) of the Government

for undertaking projects as a main contractor:

Registration
o it

RREBIEXRBFE2EM

AEBEABFEERTERRE TR
R EARENELR

Value of project which the Group is eligible to undertake
under the relevant registration

REEBEMAEESEREAR IR ZEE

Approved Contractors for Public Works
— Waterworks Category (Group C)
(probationary status)

RAI A TR AR — /KB ITIREA
(R (ARl &%)

Approved Contractors for Public Works
— Roads and Drainage Category (Group B)
(confirmed status)

RAINH TR AR — 8RBT EER
(248) (&Rl 519)

Approved Contractors for Public Works
— Site Formation Category (Group B)
(probationary status)
RAAHTEAREE R TEIRRER
(z#48) ([RA1&517)

A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$185 million each in
any one category, provided that the total value of works in any
one category does not exceed HK$500 million

&% RER—EER R % mIE X 8 E185,000,0008 TR & 4
HEAE AT — {28 51 ) T A2 48 (B {5 T8 38500,000,00078 7T

Current contract value up to HK$185 million

& #935 (B & = 185,000,000/ 7T

Current contract value up to HK$185 million

& #93R (B & = 185,000,000/ 7T

Also, the Group has registered under the Voluntary Subcontractor
Registration Scheme (FES& &1 5 BB M HIE) , which is
maintained by the Construction Industry Council (i %% € ) ,
for participating in civil engineering works, road works and drainage

services and waterworks engineering services as a sub-contractor.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

The following diagram illustrates the corporate structure of the
March 2015:

Company as at 31

The Company

(Cayman Islands)
Investment holding, provision of management
services and television broadcasting business

ADE
(F8#8)
BREER  BRHEERER
BREWER
100%
Shenzhen Qianhai
Succeed Capital Xinhua TV Cultural
TYW (BVI) Limited Profit Station Limited Limited Axis Concept Limited Core Galaxy Limited Development Limited’|
BvI) Bv) Bv) BvV) Bv) (PRC)
Investment holding Investment holding Investment holding Investment holding Investment holding Advertising business
YW Profit Station Limited Succeed Capital Axis Concept Limited Core Galaxy Limited RYIFBHEBR
(#) (HBEXEE (%, 2) LHEE XEBRERAT
RAEER ()
EEEK
100% ‘ 100%
100% 100% ‘ ‘
TY Civil Xinhua Outdoor China Cultural
Yw (Hong Kong) Display Network Her't; o Rl:as:arch International Capital
Holding of motor Broadcast Limited Kinhua TV Asia-Pacifig Karaoke Limited itag Market Research
(Hong Kong) . . Development o
vehicles, provision (Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) . Center Limited
Provision of waterworks . : Center Limited
of waterworks and Large outdoor display Television broadcasting Provision of (Hong Kong)
nd laying of water pipe: . . (Hong Kong)
AT laying of water pipes screen adveritisement business management services Inactive Inactive
EHRLAR business HEBRTAE FRARAT L EETR ERERT S
(5#) FEMFHHEERAD #) ( it o FREOERAT
BHEH - (&/8) ) (&%)
REVKI TR R )
BREKE

100% 90%
Xinhua TV Xinhua TV
Hong Kong Operating Macau Operating
Co., Limited Co., Limited
(Hong Kong) (Macau)
Television || Television
broadcasting business broadcasting business
gapEss |10 gEafmns
EERRATF EERRAR
(BE) Fi)
BRERES

*  for identification purpose only
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AT EH

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Hao (Chairman) (appointed on 25 August 2014

as Vice chairman and redesignated as Chairman
on 16 September 2014)

Mr. Zou Chen Dong (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(redesignated as Vice chairman on 25 August 2014)

Dr. Lee Yuk Lun, JrP (Vice chairman)

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John

Mr. Wu Jin Cai (resigned on 15 September 2014)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. Li Yong Sheng
Ms. Liang Hui (resigned on 15 Septermber 2014)

Independent Non-executive Directors
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP
(appointed on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP
(appointed on 9 February 2015)
Mr. Jin Hai Tao
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth
Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan (resigned on 31 January 2015)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Zou Chen Dong
Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Yuet Tai, CPA
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Chairman)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP
(appointed on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP
(appointed on 9 February 2015)
Mr. Jin Hai Tao
Ms. Liang Hui (resigned on 15 September 2014)
Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan (resigned on 31 January 2015)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Jin Hai Tao (Chairman)
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP
(appointed on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP
(appointed on 9 February 2015)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth
Ms. Liang Hui (resigned on 15 September 2014)
Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan (resigned on 31 January 2015)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhang Hao (Chairman)
(appointed on 25 August 2014)

Mr. Zou Chen Dong (appointed on 16 September 2014)

The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP
(appointed on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP
(appointed on 9 February 2015)
Mr. Jin Hai Tao
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth
Mr. Wu Jin Cai (resigned on 25 August 2074)
Ms. Liang Hui (resigned on 15 September 2014)
Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan (resigned on 31 January 2015)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AT EH

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Rooms 2601-2605, 26/F.,
China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of Communication Corporation Limited

China Minsheng Banking Corporation Limited

WEBSITE
http://www.cnctv.hk
STOCK CODE

8356
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Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands
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DEFINITIONS
2 =5

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following — FEARERERA - fr X 5 B AEI) » T 5782 5% ]
words and expressions shall have the following meanings when — Z (& A B X T 5 -

used herein:

“AGM”
[ RBFRE ]

“Board”
[EEg]

“BVI”
[RBEREHS ]

“China Xinhua NNC”

[REFEHEERE]

“CNC China”

(B EHEERS

(FRE) ]

“Company”

EA/NCTR

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Dr. Lee”

S

“Financial Statements”

[ B35 ¥Rk

the annual general meeting of the Company

ARARRBERE

the board of Directors

E=g

the British Virgin Islands
REBRZES

China Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (FEFEFHESRBER LA, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xinhua News
Agency (#7Z4t ) and a Shareholder of the Company
PEFEFEERBERAF] —KNBETMKLZ ARIRAHEL 2 2 EMH
BAR WRARRRR

hEFEFEEBIRBAR 2 A, a company incorporated in the PRC, which owns
100% of the equity interests in China Xinhua NNC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Xinhua News Agency and a substantial Shareholder of the Company
REEFEERAERAR — KPP EAGMK Iz AR AT BEFENE
BERAEI00%RE  RFEG 2 2EMBRATRARGBZEERE

CNC Holdings Limited ( # BIT#E ERITAR B A F)) , a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 15 March 2010
RBTESEERERAR —ZR T —FF=-AThBERSHESIMAKL
ZBRAA]

director(s) of the Company

ZAN/NETE- =

Dr. Lee Yuk Lun, uP (Z=25[8 ) |, an executive Director
WITESTEBEBE L cFut

the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015

AEERE _T-AF=A=1T—HILFEZEERHBEREK
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DEFINITIONS
2 =

“GEM”
FIEE

“GEM Listing Rules”
[BI %Mk Em#R Al

“Government”

[

“Group”
[KEE ]

“HK$” and “HK cent(s)”
7] R 7L

“Hong Kong”
(&

“Macau”

PR

“Mr. Chia”
[Eipea

“Mr. Kan”
[ 5E 4 ]

“PRC”
[ B

“Proud Glory”

[BIER |

“SFO”

[ 58 7% M| 15kl

the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange
Bt <2 BT I S AR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM

BIEIRFE S EmRA

the Government of Hong Kong

EBBA

the Company and its subsidiaries
Apal REWB AT

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

ERAEER BT RE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
BB F B RITTRR

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
B BRI R TT R

Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John ({3 %F) , an executive Director
WITEFH =L E

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung ( f& B ) , an executive Director
MITESEHEELEE

the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
REARANE TEEEE RFIKAE

Proud Glory Investments Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI which is wholly
and beneficially owned by Dr. Lee

HEREARAR] —ZRNEBRLHESTMK L AR AFEE L2 EELE
B

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended or otherwise modified from time to time
BEBENEST1EZ 5 R EIERG] (B TRHEFT 3 bAE At 75 B 240
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“Share(s)”
[ ]

“Share Option Scheme”
[ At 2l

“Shareholder(s)”
[ R |

“Shunleetat”

[ Shunleetat |

“Stock Exchange”

6 32 FfT

“TY Civil”

[EXRLTAK]

“TYW”

[ K

“WSD”

[7K#5E ]

“Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific”

[FrEERTAE]

woy”
[% |

ordinary share(s) of the Company
KRR T

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 11 August 2010
ARBRZE—ZFN\A+T AR ZBERESS

holder(s) of the Share(s)
ELESESIN

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Kan

Shunleetat (BV) Limited * —HX N RBRABHSTEMK L RG] HETELEE
wmEE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMAERSHAAR AT

Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited (2 AR Ti2HERAE]) , a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 16 June 2000 and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

EEITATIRERAR] — KR _ZEZEZFAATABEEBTMKLZERA
a DAREZAEE2ENB AT

Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company Limited (3 3 /KFEEEGR A F)) , a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 6 February 1996 and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

EEKBREEBERAR —XR—ANASF_ASNBEESTIMEKLZEBRA
a DARRIZEEEZENE AR

Water Supplies Department of the Government (7K7% % )
BT KT%E

Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Co., Limited (FiEEBR A SELHRAF) , a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 22 December 2009 and
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
HESETASELCARAR — ZR _ZEENF+-_A -+ -_BEFBTMK
NZERAT BARARIZEEEZEKE QR

per cent
Aoth
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FRBEESE

To all Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

During the year ended 31 March 2015, we had obtained
approximately HK$369.6 million revenue, which represented an
increase of approximately 14.0% over the revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2014 (2014: approximately HK$324.3 million).

The gross profit decreased by approximately 53.9% from
approximately HK$50.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2014
to approximately HK$23.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2015.

The net loss of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2015
was approximately HK$41.7 million, representing approximately
90.3% decrease from that of previous year (2014: approximately
HK$431.3 million).

FUTURE PROSPECTS

During the year, the Group continued to generate considerable
revenue from its business of provision of waterworks engineering
services, while devoting efforts to further develop its television
broadcasting business and large outdoor display screen
advertisement business.

With the Group’s proven track record in the waterworks
engineering industry, comprehensive services, established
operating history and numerous licences, permits and
qualifications, we believe that the Group could strengthen its
position in the Hong Kong market and consolidate our position
as one of the major players in this sector. At the same time,
we will further expand the business of provision of waterworks
engineering services by undertaking more work contracts
currently implemented or to be implemented by the Government
in the near future. We believe our Group’s proven track record in
delivering works of high quality in a timely manner has placed us
in an advantageous position to seize the growth opportunities in
the waterworks engineering sector in Hong Kong. In the future,
the Group will continue to seek to develop other projects in due
time, and strive to become a leading brand in Hong Kong and will
progress forward in a sustainable manner.

.I 4 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015
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During the year, both the television broadcasting business and
large outdoor display screen advertisement business has made
a steadily progress. Due to the rapid growth in the internet-
based media technology, the Group has been pursuing a strategy
designed to expand its media business and thereby generate
further business growth. Currently, expanding its commercial base
to other media platforms, such as mobile internet, in an attempt to
keep up with global trends, has been a vital element of the Group’s
long-term strategy and also developed a more balanced and
comprehensive business model. We believe that the diversification
strategy of the Group, as well as by leveraging on the brand name
of Xinhua News Agency, has the potential to lead the Group to a
new horizon and are expected to generate satisfactory return to the
Company and its Shareholders in the long run.

Due to the global economic sentiments and keen competition
in the relevant markets, the operating environment will remain
challenging. Looking forward, the Group will grasp any future
profitable investment opportunities that are in line with the Group’s
development strategy to diversify the Group’s business stream and
thereby further expand the Group’s source of revenue, so as to
enhance the Group’s profitability and the long-term benefits of the
Company.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my most sincere appreciation to all the management team
and staff for their dedication and contribution over the past years. |
would also like to thank all the Shareholders, customers, suppliers
and business partners for their continuous support and trust.

Zhang Hao
Chairman

1 June 2015

FR BERBEREBRAEPINBRFESE
BIREER ANEERERMREER A&
@%HXTEJEE&% 8 XTSI 5 2 — R AFIE
REEKES - BRI ARELBEmEERERE
Eﬁﬁm” B (BB EBAE) BMARKEZIK
BE -t —ER/AKERERBNERZ IR T
REREEFRE2EZEBREA -HMABEAR
SENZTTCREEANMBRENEL 2 REATHE
E—FHEPAEEERR LA FERER/SEN
REAREBREARMEER -

HREREERAREENSHRF AR &8
RENERME - RERK  NEBFLER
AKE.E’\]%E RS B A R R B B 1R & 1

g UETTEAEERERR - FE —FEAR
%.E’\JWJ\XK’?ﬁéﬁﬁhﬁﬁ%lﬁ’\]@ﬂﬁz
KA R R BARES

EE |

R AANBEHILIRERRESTSHEEER
BEEETHEBEZFNE N RAERMBIARD
B WREHMAEBRR P HEBEEKE
HERE R SO EAEE -

H
W

15

2014/2015 Fik HPEFESHIEZERERLT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE SR

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of waterworks
engineering services for the public sector in Hong Kong, television
broadcasting business in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the
PRC) in return for advertising and related revenue and large outdoor
display screen advertisement business in the PRC. During the year
ended 31 March 2015, the Group continued to focus on rendering
waterworks engineering services to the public sector in Hong Kong
and further develop its television broadcasting business in the Asia-
Pacific region (excluding the PRC) and large outdoor display screen
advertisement business in the PRC.

Provision of waterworks engineering services

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group has been
undertaking two main contracts and six subcontracts. Among
the eight contracts, five are related to provision of waterworks
engineering services and the remaining contracts are related to
provision of drainage services. Details of the contracts undertaken
are set out below:

X o

AEETERFBREHMPVRHEKBE TR -
REKRE (TEETE)ETERERFER AR
RS RARKEIA RN HBEETAERFINE
ARESEB - BE_FT-—AF=A=t—H
LTFEE AEBESFZINERTE SR ERM
REKBIERS WE—FRERENENR
(TEEPE) CERBEREBLPEZAEP
SN RS R

REKZEIERE

BE_Z-—hF=A=+—HILFE F&H
—HEETMEREIAGHORNESBEH -REZN
JHAH)F - R AR R HOKE T2 REHR -
HRAMRRREHERERFE AR -FIEZAHN
ZAIBEHEIIIT

Contract number Particulars of contract Client Contract period
under main contracts
ERES ERFHE 5P BEETENNEHNH
Main contracts
FEH
8/WSD/11 Construction of Pak Shek Kok Fresh Water  WSD Dec 2011 - May 2014
Service Reservoir Extension
BAARKEKENEEZTRE K%E —E——FTZAZ
—T-NERA
3/WSD/13 Mainlying near She Shan Tsuen, Tai Po WSD Sept 2013 - Jul 2016
A E LA Bk E KBE ZT-=FNAE
—T-RN¥tH
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Contract number Particulars of contract Client Contract period
under main contracts
BRI BN &P RETAONEHE
Subcontracts
2EEH
18/WSD/08 Replacement and rehabilitation of water Ming Hing Civil Mar 2009 -
mains stage 3 — mains on Hong Kong Contractors Mar 2015
Island South and outlying islands Limited
FHREEKEIREMRR AETATE “ETNF=RE
- EEERESKEIR AR A —T-1F=H
8/WSD/10 Replacement and rehabilitation of Hsin Chong Apr 2011 - Dec 2015
water mains, stage 4 phase 1 Construction
—mains in Tuen Mun, Yuen Long, North Company Limited
District and Tai Po
FRRBEKE IRFAKEE1S MEZERAERAR —Z——FNAZE
—HPM T kR RABKEIR “E-REtZA
Total contract value
HK$1,959.2 million
DC/2012/04 Sewerage in Kau Lung Hang San Wai, Kau  Hsin Chong Tsun Yip  Jun 2012 - Dec 2017 BEnEER
Lung Hang Lo Wai and Tai Hang Joint Venture 1,959,200,000/ &
NERHE NERZERET MEEXEHE —T-_FRAE
BN E T S Total amount of
works certified
DC/2012/07 Lam Tsuen Valley Sewerage Hsin Chong Tsun Yip ~ Oct 2012 - Jan 2016 (Note) HK$1,432.9
- village sewerage, stage 2, phase 1 Joint Venture million
MR AT KR E R G- SRR E 18 MEERERE “E-—ftHE EREIRARE (I
—E-RE-A ##)1,432,900,0007%
7T
DC/2012/08 Lam Tsuen Valley Sewerage Hsin Chong Tsun Yip ~ Oct 2012 - Aug 2016
- village sewerage, stage 2, phase 2 Joint Venture
MIREKNE R 5 — SR8 R E28 MEERERE —F-——%1A%
—T-RENA
5/WSD/13 Replacement and rehabilitation of Hsin Chong Tsun Yip ~ Nov 2013 - Feb 2016
water mains, stage 4 phase 1 and stage Joint Venture
4 phase 2 - mains in northern and
eastern New Territories
BHREEKEIREBERETEAR MEERRE —Z-Z£t-fA%
FARE R E2H — AL R R —T-RFA
KEIR
Note: Amount of works certified is based on the certificates of payment — it : EZEFTLELHILREREFEF KD Z 11515 E

received from client.

EE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE SR

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the two contracts with
contracts numbered 5/WSD/13 and DC/2012/07 were the
main contributors to the Group’s revenue, which generated
approximately HK$161.5 million and HK$46.3 million, constituting
approximately 43.7% and 12.5% of the Group’s total revenue
respectively.

Television broadcasting business

The Group has developed a broadcasting network of television
channels with relatively extensive scale. Currently, it is broadcasting
the television programmes relating to information contents from
Xinhua News Agency in Hong Kong, Thailand, Mongolia, Malaysia,
Laos and Australia. The Group maintained good relationship with
those television service providers that are currently working with
and in the meantime, actively sought for cooperation opportunities
with other strategic partners in order to give customers a unique
viewing experience and expand in the worldwide coverage of the
China Xinhua News Network Channel and China Xinhua News
Network World Channel (collectively the “CNC Channels”).

Expect for broadcasting television programmes in the CNC
Channels, the Group has currently produced several self-
produced television feature programmes. “Macau, Macau”, one
of the documentary television feature programme produced by
the Group, for the purpose of marking the 15th anniversary of
the transfer of sovereignty over Macau to the PRC, has been
completed during the year ended 31 March 2015. “Macau,
Macau” debuted on 1 December 2014 at a special premiere held
at The Venetia Macao and was broadcasted on the CNC Channels
in over 70 countries from 18 December 2014 with good response.
Besides gaining social influence, the production of “Macau,
Macau” was supported by the subsidy from Macau Government
Tourist Office. In addition to the CNC Channels, the Company
has granted the licence of certain television feature programmes,
such as “Hong Kong, Hong Kong” and “Macau, Macau”, to other
media channel operators in respect of broadcasting these television
feature programmes on its channels in Hong Kong and other
different countries so as to boost up the audience rating.
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A5/WSD/13%DC/2012/07THI B A HI_ A &
H &) E e OR - 9 5l E 4 49161,500,0007%8
7T 146,300,000/ 7T * 1 A B & U 25 4943.7%
%12.5% °
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In addition to good response from audience, the television feature
programme “ICAC” which was produced in last year, has been
awarded the third honor of the television documentary films in the
27th China TV Golden Eagle Award (£ —++ /2R EE L E L)
of the China TV Golden Eagle Award Organising Committee ( &
ERSEEMAEHEEZE L) . It affrmed the production quality and
success of the self-produced features programmes of the Group. In
the future, with the great success of television feature programmes,
the Group will continue to produce information contents according
to different social themes.

Large outdoor display screen advertisement business

Large outdoor display screen advertisement business segment
has only made a steady development due to the challenging and
competitive business environment in the PRC. Except for the LED
displays in Sichuan Chengdu, Jiangsu Xuyi and Jiangsu Kunshan,
the Group has constructed and installed a LED display in Yangzhou
during the year. In order to increase the effectiveness on cost-
saving and obtain higher profit growth, the Group has formed a joint
operation arrangement in respect of construction and operation of
LED display in Yangzhou jointly during the year. As such, it allows
the Group to share both construction and operation costs with
each other and at the same time enjoy the advertising revenue
derived from the joint operation. In addition to the joint operation
arrangement, the Group has entered into an advertising agreement
with an advertising agent pursuant to which the Group grants the
right to the advertising agent for operating certain portion of the
advertising air time of the LED display in Yangzhou in return for a
fixed amount of advertising revenue. The Directors consider that it
is a more effective way to boost the Group’s advertising income.

Despite the adversities, including but not limited to the keen
competition environment and high construction and operation
costs, that the Group faced, the Group has actively seized business
opportunities and sought for expansion of this business segment
during the year. The Group has maintained good relationship
with the constructors and extended the construction agreement
with the constructors so as to build up more LED displays in the
PRC in the coming year. Going forward, the Group will continue
to negotiate with potential customers, including but not limited to
commercial real estate developers, PRC government authorities
and other potential partners for cooperation in order to balance the
risk and return of this competitive segment.

Aimed at maximising profit and return for the Group and the
Shareholders, the Group is exploring new business opportunity to
broaden its source of income and expand the business operations

BRR2NBRGN EFERECEREEMNA
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=R FETASEETRIFEN B ZEZEK
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE SR

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group reported a
revenue of approximately HK$369.6 million (2014: approximately
HK$324.3 million), representing an increase of approximately
14.0% as compared with that for the previous year. The revenue
derived from provision of waterworks engineering services,
television broadcasting business and large outdoor display
screen advertisement business constituted approximately 97.0%,
2.7% and 0.3% of the Group’s total revenue respectively. The
higher revenue was mainly due to the increase in works from the
replacement and rehabilitation of water mains stage 4 phase 1 and
stage 4 phase 2 — mains in northern and eastern New Territories.
For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group derived advertising
revenue of approximately HK$9.9 million (2014: approximately
HK$16.9 million) from television broadcasting business and
approximately HK$1.0 million (2014: approximately HK$4.0
million) from large outdoor display screen advertisement business
respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the revenue of the Group
was primarily generated from the undertaking of waterworks
contracts in the capacity of a subcontractor. The breakdown of
total revenue by nature of capacity of the Group is set forth below:

Bt %5 [0 B
iz

HE-_ZT—AF=-A=+—HLFE H~5E
£ 15 UK 25 49369,600,0008 7T (—ZZ — W& : 49
324,300,000 7T ) * REFIEINAI14.0% © Ffft
KB TR  ERBRES RKRE P INETR
RESEBEEZWES MRS BRUEL
970%~27%)§203% W mMEZSHRER

RAE1EKE TIRFAPE ER B 1Bl R AP ER 2B —
%ﬁﬁibHB&$ﬁ57kEmI%ziEﬂuﬁﬁéﬂzoéti_
T-RAF=A=1+—HALFE AEEHHH%
HER B R E £ B S 3 499,900,00078 7T
(—Z— V04 : 416,900,000/ 7T) R R KA F
HNEETR BB S E TS E A B & K25 491,000,000
7T (=ZZ — U4 : £94,000,0007% 7T ) °

BE_T-AF=-A=1t—HLEFEHRH &
SERBETZREADBEFNAR 2KET
BEQ -BAKESMMEE DR BWEFFIT
g7l

For the year ended 31 March

BE=A=1t-HLEE
2015 2014
“Z-hF - uif3
HK$000 % of total HK$000 % of total
T 1hAEEE
FET B (%) FET B2 (%)
Main contractor ‘E?%ﬁiﬁﬁ 28,094 7.8 15,076 5.0
Subcontractor AEHE 247,891 69.1 245,035 80.8
Jointly controlled operations HEEH L E 82,699 23.1 43273 14.2
Total B 358,684 100.0 303,384 100.0
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Cost of services

The Group’s cost of services increased by approximately 26.4% to
approximately HK$346.6 million (2014: approximately HK$274.2
million) for the year ended 31 March 2015 as compared with that
for the previous year. The Group’s cost of services mainly includes
costs of construction services, costs of television broadcasting
business and direct costs attributable to large outdoor display
screen advertisement business. Costs of construction services
mainly comprise raw materials, direct labour and subcontracting
fee for services provided by the subcontractors. Costs of television
broadcasting business mainly comprise transmission costs
and broadcasting fee. Transmission costs comprise satellite
transmission fee and carriage fee payable to satellite operators
while broadcasting fee comprises annual fee payable to media
broadcasting providers and China Xinhua NNC. Direct costs
attributable to large outdoor display screen advertisement business
mainly comprise depreciation charges of LED display screens and
control room. The following table sets out a breakdown of the
Group’s cost of services:

AR 7 A A

AEBREBEE-_ZT—RAF=ZA=Z+—81
F[Z 7 R KA A #9346,600,0008 7T (= F
— MY 4F : #9274,200,000/8 7T ) * 8 & F# N 49
26.4% ° NEE MRS E EBIERERBEK
RN -BEBBEERAARABEINBERRE
EEBEECEERN AR BERBELEAETER
BEME BEESLIERSEARERENS 2
ER -BREBENEBRAEEBREEEKAR
BHER BEXRABETEEXERARER
WELER ERER MEMERIBIERE
NP HBERBRERRTBFMENEERA
FE - RAFPIINBRRESEBELHCEEXK
REZBRELEDETREREZESIZZINEER -
TRIBIANEBRBK A 2 F1E -

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HLEFE

Costs of construction services EHRS AL A
Raw materials R
Direct labour EEST
Subcontracting fee ABEER
Other direct costs HEEZKA
Subtotal NG

Costs of television broadcasting business ERBNEBKR
Transmission costs ESPN
Broadcasting fee BHER
Subtotal Nat

2015 2014

—E-1% ZT-F
HK$'000 % of total HK$ 000 % of total
1hA8EE 14
FET BE(%) FEr B 71 (%)
44,155 12.8 30,915 11.3
65,865 19.0 62,335 22.7
162,374 46.9 108,850 39.8
61,138 17.6 62,571 22.8
333,532 96.3 264,671 96.6
2,500 0.7 2,500 0.9
7,784 2.2 5,861 2.1
10,284 2.9 8,361 3.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t+-BLEE

Direct costs attributable to large outdoor display AR FINER R B & £

screen advertisement business [l 2 AR A
Subtotal INEF
Total 1B

2015 2014

—E-h1F —Z-mF
HK$'000 % of total HK$ 000 % of total
1A 1A
FET B (%) FET B (%)
2,737 0.8 1,199 0.4
2,737 0.8 1,199 04
346,553 100.0 274,231 100.0

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015
decreased by approximately 53.9% to approximately HK$23.1
million (2014: approximately HK$50.1 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The gross profit margin of the Group
decreased to approximately 6.2% for the year ended 31 March
2015 (2014: approximately 15.4%). The decrease in gross profit
and gross profit margin was largely due to large portion of revenue
and gross margin derived from certain waterworks engineering
projects recognised at the early stage in the prior years.

Other income

The Group’s other income for the year ended 31 March 2015
decreased by approximately 86.6% to approximately HK$4.1
million (2014: approximately HK$31.0 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The decrease in other income was mainly
due to the recognition of one-off item, i.e. waiver of interests on
convertible notes of approximately HK$30.7 million from certain
noteholders in the previous year.
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Other gains and losses

The Group’s other gains and losses for the year ended 31 March
2015 increased by approximately 4.2 times to approximately
HK$10.6 million in surplus (2014: approximately HK$3.3 million in
deficit) as compared with that for the previous year. The increase in
other gains and losses was mainly attributable to gains arising from
extension of promissory note recognised during the year.

Amortisation expenses

The Group’s amortisation expenses for the year ended 31 March
2015 decreased by approximately 59.5% to approximately
HK$24.1 million (2014: approximately HK$59.5 million) as
compared with that for the previous year. The amortisation
expenses mainly consisted of amortisation charges of television
broadcasting right and film rights for the television broadcasting
business. The decrease in amortisation expenses was mainly due
to the impairment loss of television broadcasting right recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2014 and thus caused a significant
reduction in carrying amount of television broadcasting right.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the year
ended 31 March 2015 increased by approximately 165.9% to
approximately HK$0.2 million (2014: approximately HK$85,000)
as compared with that for the previous year. The selling and
distribution expenses mainly consisted of advertising expenses for
the television broadcasting business. The increase in selling and
distribution expenses was mainly due to the increase in marketing
effort in promotion of television feature programme “Macau,
Macau” during the year.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31
March 2015 increased by approximately 11.5% to approximately
HK$33.1 million (2014: approximately HK$29.7 million) as
compared with that for the previous year. The administrative
expenses mainly consisted of auditors’ remuneration, legal and
professional fees, staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration),
depreciation expenses and rental expenses. The increase in the
administrative expenses was mainly attributable to the increase
in staff costs and depreciation expenses due to the expansion of
business.

Hfttg = % 18

AREFRBE_ZT—RAF=-A=+—HILEE
Mﬁmwmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmmﬁm@mﬁm<_
T — P4 : E54E 493,300,000/ 7T ) * B AN
#4205 - Ui B 1B1E N ZE AN F g
RERE R EREE 2 WS B

BEMx

AEERBE-_T—AF=-A=+—RHLHFE
O $5 59 2 A #4724,100,0008 7T ( —Z—P 4 :
#759,500,000/% 7T ) B & F Rl 2 £959.5% o
HHAY T ERRERERER CERERER
EYMEZEEERA -BERAIRLOEEHR
HE-_Z-NF=A=1+—HULFEBRRER

BRERRERE  YERMEHERBEREN
FREERIER D FTEL

HERDHAX
AEERBE_T-—RAF=-A=1T—"HLFE

MSHE K7 %ﬁi%@mmmﬁm(_f [t
E : Z'785 000/ 7T ) * A& F 1L HN4V165.9% - iH

DA T EERERBEREE ZESH
i ﬁ%& D 6 7 SCIE 0 2 f X AR IR A0

REREENMAE CRFT R 2hBERNE
PP B

TR

rEBREBEEZE T —AF=-A=+—RALFE
Wﬁﬁﬁi%%%J%D%%E(_ — g4 -
#929,700,000% 7T ) * A FIE N 4911.5% 1T
R EZ0EZEBAMEH EENEXER -
BINRA (BEESHM) HERANULER
A - THAXENFEHREREBSET
AN R T E R I8 ANFT B

2014/2015 Fik HPEFESHIEZERERLT :KB



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2015
decreased by approximately 38.8% to approximately HK$25.7
million (2014: approximately HK$42.0 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The decrease in finance costs was mainly
due to reduction in carrying amount of convertible notes which
were resulted from the exercise of conversion rights of convertible
notes by certain noteholders during the year.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill and
intangible assets

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with China Xinhua NNC, APT
Satellite TV Development Limited and Proud Glory to acquire
entire equity interest of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$700.0 million, comprising
(a) issuance of 474,335,664 Shares to China Xinhua NNC at
HK$0.196 per share; and (b) HK$607,030,210 by way of the issue
of the convertible notes to China Xinhua NNC, APT Satellite TV
Development Limited and Proud Glory at a conversion price of
HK$0.196 per Share. The Group completed its very substantial
acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of the entire equity interests in
Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific on 9 December 2011 and commenced the
television broadcasting business since then.

The recoverable amounts of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific as at 31 March
2015 and 2014, were determined with reference to valuations
conducted by an independent valuer, based on income-based
approach, after considering the financial informations of Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific as at 31 March 2015 and 2014, including but not
limited to (i) the financial positions of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific and its
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2015 and 2014; (ii) the total revenue
derived from television broadcasting business; (iii) number of
existing contracts and memorandum of understanding; and (iv) the
market and industry condition.
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The recoverable amount of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific approximates
to the carrying amount of intangible assets, i.e., television
broadcasting right as at 31 March 2015. Therefore, no impairment
loss is recognised during the year ended 31 March 2015. To
the best of knowledge and belief of the Directors, there has not
been any change of valuation methodology, basis of valuation
and assumptions as at 31 March 2015 and no other changes
in circumstance and reasons giving rise to changes in valuation
approach. All changes of inputs were made to reflect the recent
development of television broadcasting business as compared to

that expected in previous years.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, although the television
broadcasting business continued to make steady growth and
progress when compared with previous years, it is still under
development and far behind the development schedule as
expected. It has not yet brought in satisfactory return to the Group
since the Acquisition. The Group generated its first revenue from
television broadcasting business during the year ended 31 March
2013.

Due to the unsatisfactory results in these years and relatively
slow development pace of television broadcasting business, the
Directors considered that major inputs regarding revenue were
adjusted downwards to reflect the current situation for prudence
sake. As such, the recoverable amount of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific
as at 31 March 2014 was amounted to approximately HK$163.0
million and the impairment loss, which arose from the difference
between the aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible
assets and the recoverable amount of entire equity interests in
Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific as at 31 March 2014, of approximately
HK$151.2 million and approximately HK$269.3 million respectively
were recognised in respect of goodwill and intangible assets
for the year ended 31 March 2014. Except aforesaid, to the
best of knowledge and belief of the Directors, there had not
been any change of valuation methodology, basis of valuation
and assumptions as at 31 March 2014 and no other changes
in circumstance and reasons giving rise to changes in valuation
approach. All changes of inputs were made to reflect the recent
development of television broadcasting business as compared to
that expected in previous years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE SR

Net loss

The net loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2015 decreased by approximately 90.3% to
approximately HK$41.7 million (2014: approximately HK$431.3
million) as compared with that for the previous year. The decrease
in net loss was mainly resulted from the recognition of one-off item,
i.e., the impairment loss in respect of goodwill and intangible assets
and provision for doubtful debt, made in the previous year.

Loss per Share

The basic loss per Share for the year ended 31 March 2015 was
approximately HK1.34 cents (2014: approximately HK25.14
cents).

PROSPECTS

During the year, the respective established brandnames of the
Group are given full play in our vigorously developed three main
businesses, namely provision of waterworks engineering services,
television broadcasting business and large outdoor display
screen advertisement business. The Group is currently pursuing a
strategy of diversification of business segments by developing new
businesses, deeply exploring the potential and value of its existing
resources, and putting greater efforts to improve the synergy
of its terminal resources in order to improve its overall efficiency
and expand room for development. The Group will continue to
streamline and strengthen its existing businesses and operations
to meet the challenges ahead. The Directors are optimistic towards
its core businesses and will seize the business opportunities to
achieve long-term sustainable growth for the benefits of the Group
and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Provision of waterworks engineering services

The Group’s waterworks engineering services remains the major
source of revenue of the Group. In the coming years, it is believed
that the replacement and rehabilitation programme of water mains
(the “R&R Programme”) launched by WSD will continue to open
up numerous waterworks opportunities to the Group. According to
WSD, Stage 4 Phase 1 of the R&R Programme had commenced in
March 2011 and will be completed in 2015. About 500 kilometres
of water mains will be replaced and rehabilitated at this stage.
Stage 4 Phase 2 of the R&R Programme had commenced in
January 2012 and will be completed in 2015. About 350 kilometres
of water mains will be replaced and rehabilitated at this stage.

Due to the economy of Hong Kong and intensity competition
and threat from rising construction costs, Hong Kong economy
is expected to continue its moderate growth, particularly for the
construction industry. However, we will work closely with our
subcontractors and suppliers, develop construction initiatives in
technology and design for better operational efficiency, and reduce
the demand for manpower to trim down the overall construction
costs. Taking into account the construction industry in Hong Kong,
the Group still remains prudently optimistic about the business
outlook on this segment in the foreseeable future. We believe that
the Group is able to take up more contracts and capture more
potential business opportunities.

Going forward, the Group will continue to improve its quality
of service and enhance management capabilities and
competitiveness for bidding for more rewarding contracts in Hong
Kong and to further scale up the Group’s business. Also, the
Group will intend to expand our services from time to time and
apply for additional licences, permits or qualifications which may
be required. The Group will continue to seek improvement in cost-
savings, efficiency and profitability and identify opportunities for
joint ventures or strategic alliances in a bid to drive its strategy of
vertical as well as horizontal expansion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE SR

Television broadcasting business

Television broadcasting business is now under overwhelming
competitive pressure due to the rapid growth of the media
technologies which has posed great challenges to the traditional
television broadcasting business. In view of the significant loss
incurred in this segment for the year ended 31 March 2014, the
immediate task of the Group is to achieve a turnaround in its
profitability of this business segment. However, the television
broadcasting business is still at the stage of adjustment and may
continue to encounter difficulties as the same as the previous
year. In face of the difficult operation environment, the Group is
actively sought to increase the coverage of the CNC Channels
by strengthening and rejuvenating its marketing and sales team
internally. Besides, the Group will seek for new type of co-operation
arrangements with television service providers so as to lower the
cost of operation which in turn to improve its profitability.

Also, the Group will continue to produce information contents
according to different social themes. Apart from continuing to
serve viewers’ needs for quality and informative programmes, such
as Hong Kong Voice Express, the Group is actively enlarging its
market share, improving its market image and developing new
contents, including the production of crowd pleasing materials that
cater to the tastes of the main stream audience. The Company
is now preparing to produce a documentary television feature
programme regarding the background and history of The University
of Macau which is estimated to be completed in year 2015.

In view of these uncertainties for this business segment, the
Group remains cautiously optimistic and continues to execute
our business strategies while keeping a close eye on the latest
developments of the market. The Group’s strong backup from
Xinhua News Agency and relationships with media service
providers, together with the forward-looking strategy are favourable
factors for the development of our business and operations.
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Large outdoor display screen advertisement business

Upon completion of construction and installation of LED displays in
Sichuan Chengdu, Jiangsu Xuyi, Jiangsu Kunshan and Yangzhou,
the Group aims at constructing more LED displays in other
PRC cities so as to increase the attractiveness to the potential
advertising customers. With the view of fierce industry competition,
the Group will continue to adopt the strategy of forming
joint operation arrangements or other effective co-operation
arrangements with potential partners in respect of construction and
operation of LED displays so as to increase the cost-effectiveness
of this segment. At the same time, the Group aims to increase
the market share by comprehensively fostering marketing plan for
advertising business as well as the capacity to maintain customer
relationships. Meanwhile, the Group will look for new business
opportunities from time to time, including but not limited to
negotiating with potential commercial real estate developers, PRC
government authorities and other potential partners to strengthen
its market position and boost up the development of this business
segment.

Video broadcasting business

In an era where internet and mobile internet grow sharply, the
lifestyle changes rapidly nowadays. The Group has made great
efforts in seeking market penetration in the mobile internet
industry and transforming from television-based operation to
mobile internet-based operation. Currently, the Group has been
growing its advertising base through mobile and other platforms
and diversified its business to video broadcasting business in the
Greater China region. By leveraging on the video contents of the
Group, the Company has entered into a cooperation agreement
(the “Video Cooperation Agreement”) with China Mobile Limited
(the “China Mobile”) in October 2014 pursuant to which the
Group becomes a cooperation partner and content provider of
certain mobile video platforms of the China Mobile, namely F14%
$8 and T8 5 (collectively the “Mobile Video Platforms”). As a
result, the Group can broadcast locally produced programmes,
video contents broadcasted in and extracted from CNC Channels
and videos that the Group has licensed to broadcast, either with
charges or free of charge, via the Mobile Video Platforms of China
Mobile with effect from October 2014. The Directors aims at further
co-operations with other media platforms and believed that it is
another source of income in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE SR

Despite the ever-changing economic environment, the Group will
implement stringent control over the costs and make frequent
review in order to maximize its profit by utilizing existing resources
efficiently and maximizing synergic effects between business
segments. The Group will also fine-tune the pace of operation
and development and adopt flexible marketing policies to suit
the development of different business segments. The Group
is now developing a diversified business strategy such that its
different business segments cater the taste of different groups of
customers, including diversifying its business and strengthening
the development of existing business. Besides, by capitalizing the
advantages of business segments accumulated over the years,
the Group aims penetrate into upstream resources business so
as to realise vertical integration into industry-specific markets
to form competitive edges across industries or regions for its
long-term stable development. This allows to adapt and react to
sudden changes in demand and to realise its full business potential
markets.

The Group will continue to review its existing business segments
from time to time and strive to improve the business operation and
financial position of the Group. Looking forward, the Group will
continue to look for business opportunities in its main business
segments and take effort to optimize the synergy of its related
investments and other profitable investments with a view to
maximize return to the Shareholders. The Directors consider that it
is beneficial for the Group to seek suitable investment opportunities
from time to time to diversify its existing business portfolio into
businesses with growth potential, that expand its geographical
reach, broaden its source of income and further improve the
financial position of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Shares were listed on GEM on 30 August 2010. The capital of
the Group comprises only ordinary shares.
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On 3 July 2014, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with Gransing Securities Co., Limited to place an aggregate of
334,900,000 Shares to not less than six placees at an issue
price of HK$0.25 per placing Share and that the net price to the
Company of each placing Share is approximately HK$0.243. The
placing price represented (i) a discount of approximately 13.8%
to the closing price of HK$0.29 per Share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on 3 July 2014, being the last trading date of
the placing agreement; and (i) a discount of approximately 14.7%
to the average closing price of HK$0.293 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange for the five consecutive trading days
preceding 3 July 2014. The placing Shares were placed to not less
than six placees, who and whose ultimate beneficial owners are
independent institutional, professional and/or individual investors
and not concert parties with the controlling shareholder(s) (if any)
(as defined under Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers),
and not connected with any directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (if any) of the Company or its subsidiaries and their
respective associates. None of the placees and their respective
associates became a substantial shareholder of the Company as a
result of the placing.

The Directors were of the view that the placing would strengthen
the financial position of the Group, including its ability to meet any
future obligations and further expand the Group’s business. The
Directors considered that the terms of the placing agreement,
including the rate of the placing commission, were fair and
reasonable based on the current market conditions. Accordingly,
the Board considered that the placing was in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The placing
was completed on 17 July 2014 and raised gross proceeds of
approximately HK$83.7 million. The proceeds from the placing was
used to finance the Group’s development, payment of registered
capital of a subsidiary incorporated in the PRC, repayment of
unsecured and non-interest bearing advances from certain
Directors and general working capital of the Company.

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$29.0 million in deficit as at 31 March 2015
(31 March 2014: approximately HK$407.9 million in deficit). The
decrease in deficit was mainly resulted from fund raising activities
from the placing and conversion of convertible notes from
noteholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEERE SR

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group generally
financed its operations through internally generated cash flows and
net proceeds from placing exercise.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$73.2 million (31 March 2014: net current
liabilities of approximately HK$583.1 million), including cash
balance of approximately HK$62.2 million (31 March 2014:
approximately HK$20.6 million). The current ratio, being the
ratio of current assets to current liabilities, was approximately
1.66 as at 31 March 2015 (31 March 2014: approximately 0.18).
The change from net current liabilities to net current assets and
increase in current ratio were primarily due to fund raising activities
from placing, conversion of convertible notes and extension of
promissory note and convertible notes during the year.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio, which is based on the amount of total bank
overdraft, promissory note, convertible notes, finance lease
payables and advance received from customers divided by total
assets, was approximately 70.1% as at 31 March 2015 (31 March
2014: approximately 178.8%). The decrease in gearing ratio was
resulted from the decrease in total liabilities due to exercise of
conversion rights of convertible notes by certain noteholders and
increase in total assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of the
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity. During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group was
mainly exposed to foreign currency exchange risk of United States
Dollars and Renminbi and the management mainly monitored the
foreign currency exchange risk with advices from the Group’s major
banks.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2015, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitments (31 March 2014: approximately HK$3.5 million in
respect of acquisition of property, plant and equipment).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group’s machineries and motor vehicles with net book values of
approximately HK$0.8 million (2014: approximately HK$1.4 million)
and approximately HK$12.3 million (2014: approximately HK$8.6
million) was held under finance lease respectively as at 31 March
2015. As at 31 March 2015, the Group pledged its machinery and
motor vehicles with net book values of approximately HK$12,000
(31 March 2014: approximately HK$78,000) and approximately
HK$0.7 million (31 March 2014: approximately HK$1.8 million)
respectively as securities for its performance of obligations as a sub-
contractor of the Replacement and Rehabilitation of water mains,
Stage 4, Phrase 1 — Mains in Tuen Mun, Yuen Long, North District
and Tai Po.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2015, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 March 2014: Nil).

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2015 the Group had 275 full-time staff in Hong
Kong and over 90% of them are direct labour. Total staff costs
(including Directors’ remuneration) for the year ended 31 March
2015 amounted to approximately HK$80.2 million (2014:
approximately HK$72.7 million), representing an increase of
approximately 10.3% over that for the previous year. The increase
was mainly due to the increase in the number of staff to support the
expansion of the Group’s business.

ERERE

R-ZZTE—RFE=A=1+—8 KREB T EEq
EREAAE (ZE—WF=ZA=1+—H: 5tk
BB BE MR #93,500,0005 7T ) ©

rEBEEER

AEBR_TE—AF=A=+—BRERER
E# A REFED BI#800,0008 T (—ZZ—M
£ : 491,400,0007% 7T ) & #912,300,000% 7T ( =
= —[U4F : 48,600,000/ 7T ) Z #2s I B - 1
—T-REZA=Z+—B - AEEEKHAHE®R
FEDRIA12,00087T (ZE—WF=A=+—
H : £978,000/ 7T ) K& #J700,000/8 7T (=& —MW
F=H=+—H8:#1,800,000/87T) 2 HENE
W AEABITER RIEE TR F4R R F 15
BT tERAFKETIR 2D BREETE
ZHER

HREE

R-ZB-RAF=A=1+—H AEELEERE
RIARBBE(ZE—OF=A=+—H:8&)-

BEEH

RZE—hF=A=1+—H RAEBEEHEE
2752 B T  HFBO0% R EE S T - &
E_E—RFEZA=Z=+—ALFEEZHET
A (BIEESE M) A 4980,200,000% 7T (=
T — P 4F : #972,700,0007 7T ) * & EF I N
10.3%  BE TN AENEZEHRAIHAR
SEERETMIGIMAFAB-

2014/2015 Fik HPEFESHIEZERERLT 33



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

As at 1 April 2014, the Group held a 17% equity interest in the
issued share capital of China New Media (HK) Company Limited as
a long term investment. During the year, the Group has disposed
of 17% equity interest in the share capital of China New Media (HK)
Company Limited.

Except for investment in subsidiaries and save as disclosed above,
during the year ended 31 March 2015 and as at the end of the
reporting period, the Group did not hold any significant investment
in equity interest in any company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

On 8 December 2014, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party pursuant to which
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will acquire 60%
of the issued share capital of Xinhua Afanti Asset Management
Limited (formerly known as Afanti Asset Management Limited) at
the consideration of HK$1.0 million. The acquisition has not yet
completed as at date of this report and the acquisition is subject to
approval of Securities and Futures Commission.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, the Group did not
have other plans for material investments and capital assets.
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group did not have any

material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEEEHT

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Hao (&%) ,
and is responsible for the overall business planning and corporate

aged 52, the chairman of the Board

strategy of the Group. Mr. Zhang graduated from the institute of
German Language of Shanghai International Studies University
ﬁ /$

( EBINE BB IERE 2
1983. Mr. Zhang joined Xinhua News Agency after his graduation

2 ) with a degree of Bachelor of Arts in

and held the positions of editor, reporter, senior editor (= 4% 4
#5 ) and deputy officer of International Department of Xinhua News
Agency (T BIFR#0&IE1E) . He was the officer of Xinhua
News Agency Audio News Desk (& F £ E6) in 2003 and
was re-designated as the deputy officer of Xinhua News Agency
Audio and Video News Desk (¥4 E R 4850) in 2009 and
2010. Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman of the board and legal
representative of CNC China. Mr. Zhang is a director of China
Xinhua NNC. In the last three years, he held no directorships in
any listed public companies. Mr. Zhang has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 25 August 2014, and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other or three months’ salary being
payment in lieu of notice.
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Mr. Zou Chen Dong (3R 5 ) , aged 46, is the vice chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer of the Group and is
responsible for overseeing the overall project management and
the daily operation. Mr. Zou is a reporter superior ( = {E52 %) of
Xinhua News Agency. Mr. Zou graduated from the Department of
Journalism of China People’s Liberation Army Nanjing School of
Department Political Science (1 Bl A R % 18 ZE 8 R BUA 25t 37
B &) in 1990 and joined Xinhua News Agency in 2001. He was
a reporter of Tibet People’s Broadcast Television ( 787 A & &
BT A& ) and Tibet Television (A E R & ) in 1991, a reporter in
China Central People’s Broadcast Television ( 7 Bl F1 st A R E &
E A ) in 1994, a reporter in a Tibet correspondent of New China
Agency People’s Liberation Army in 2001 and the news director
of Shanghai Securities News ( F/&3E% %R ) in 2007. Mr. Zou is
a director of China Xinhua NNC. Mr. Zou has about 20 years of
experience in the media industry. In the last three years, he held no
directorships in any listed public companies. Mr. Zou has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from 9 December 2011, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other or three months’ salary
being payment in lieu of notice.
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Dr. Lee Yuk Lun, JP (Z=ZEE 1) | aged 52, is the vice chairman
of the Board and is responsible for business development of
the Group. Dr. Lee has been engaged in the finance industry
for over 17 years and, in particular, in the area of mergers and
acquisitions. He also possesses over 12 years of experience in
project investments in the PRC. Dr. Lee is a Committee member of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC)
Beijing Committee (FRIARBUAHEAERIL A TZESRIRE
8 ), a member of the Committee of Shunyi District, CPPCC Beijing
Committee (FEIARBUAH A @RI RTIRERZESEE),
a director of Beijing Chinese Overseas Friendship Association (1t
RSN R 2 IR E ) | a director of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals
(ERZE=PFR) from 2009, a part time member of the Central Policy
Unit of the Government, the founding chairman of Wanchai and
Central & Western District Industries & Commerce Association and
the founding chairman of Dr. Lee Yuk Lun Charitable Foundation.
Dr. Lee was deputy chairman and executive director of Rising
Development Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1004) since 31 August
2007. He was designated as chairman and chief executive officer
from 10 March 2010 to 6 August 2013 and was re-designated as
executive director from 6 August 2013 to 27 January 2014. Save
as disclosed above, Dr. Lee did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years. Dr. Lee has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from 22 June 2012, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other or three months’ salary
being payment in lieu of notice.
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Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung ( fE#f ) , aged 50, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Kan formed TYW and TY Civil in 1996 and 2000
respectively and has been the director of both companies since
their formation. Mr. Kan has over 21 years of experience in handling
civil engineering projects of various types. In the last three years, he
held no directorships in any listed public companies. Mr. Kan has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from 11 August 2010, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other or three months’ salary
being payment in lieu of notice. In addition, Mr. Kan has entered into
an employment contract with TYW to act as the director of TYW
for a continuous term commencing from 6 February 1996 until
terminated by not less than thirty days’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other or thirty days’ salary being payment in lieu
of notice.

Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John (#i3#T) , aged 45, is the vice
president and compliance officer of the Group and is responsible
for the financial and compliance aspects of the Group. Mr. Chia
has over 15 years of experience in corporate finance, management
and investment and he joined the Group in May 2009. Mr. Chia
graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Science in accounting
and finance from Purdue University, Indiana, the United States
of America (“USA”) in 1994. In the last three years, he held no
directorships in any listed public companies. He has entered into a
service contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 11 August 2010, and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other or three months’ salary being
payment in lieu of notice.
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Non-Executive Director

Dr. Li Yong Sheng ( Z>kFt) , aged 44, is a reporter superior ( =
£52% ) of Xinhua News Agency and has been working in Xinhua
News Agency since his graduation from Wuhan University with a
degree of Bachelor of Economics and Management in 1992. Dr.
Li obtained a Doctorate of philosophy in Economics from Wuhan
University of Technology in 2010. Dr. Li has held the positions of
reporter and editor in financial and economical businesses. Dr. Li
has served as the associate director of the service line of Xinhua
News Agency (Tt BRE B4R BI# &) since 2003 and the editor
of Xinhua News Agency Audio and Video News Desk and the officer
of the Financial Television Centre ( BA AL B4R H /L3 () since 2009.
In the last three years, Dr. Li did not hold any directorships in any
listed public companies.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, Gas, up (B #:% 2 ) , aged 63, has
been appointed by the Company as independent non-executive
Director on 18 May 2015. The Hon. Ip is a member of the
Legislative Council of Hong Kong representing the District Council
(The First) functional constituency and a member of the Democratic
Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong (‘“DAB”).
The Hon. Ip was appointed as a Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1999
and was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) in the Hong Kong
2004 Honours List. The Hon. Ip is presently a Deputy to the 12th
National People’s Congress of PRC for Hong Kong, the Chairman
of Legislative Council Panel on Security, the DAB Party Affairs
Advisor and the Convenor of DAB Legislative Council Caucus.
The Hon. Ip also currently serves as a non-executive director of
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority and a member
of Central and Western District Council (Kwun Lung). The Hon.
Ip was a member of the Legislative Council between 1995-1997,
a member of the Provisional Legislative Council between 1997-
1998 and a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong
representing the district council functional constituency between
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2000-2004 and between 2008-2012. The Hon. Ip is currently
appointed as the independent non-executive director of Vantage
International (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 15). Save as disclosed
above, The Hon. Ip did not hold any directorships in any other
listed public companies in last three years. He has not, by himself
or through his firm in which he practices, provided professional
services to the Company during the year ended 31 March 2015.

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 55S, Jp ( F 558554 ) , aged 65, has
been appointed by the Company as independent non-executive
Director on 9 February 2015. Mr. Wan obtained a degree of master
of Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 2008 and a degree of master of Buddhist studies from
The University of Hong Kong in 2010. Mr. Wan was appointed as
a Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1997 and was awarded the Bronze
Bauhinia Star (BBS) in the Hong Kong 2004 Honours List. Mr. Wan
is engaged in the business of property and chattel valuation and
auction. Mr. Wan is a fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors, an associate of The Institution of Business Agents,
a member of The Land Institute (London), an associate of The
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators and a fellow of The Institute of
Administrative Accounting. Mr. Wan is currently appointed as
the independent non-executive director of Lee & Man Chemical
Company Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 746). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wan did
not hold any directorships in any other listed public companies in
last three years. He has not, by himself or through his firm in which
he practices, provided professional services to the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2015.
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Mr. Jin Hai Tao (¥78/%) , aged 61, has over 30 years’
experience in enterprise management, investment, financing and
capital market operations. He joined Shenzhen Capital Group
Co., Ltd (RIITBIFFIREEE AR A A]) in 2004 as chairman.
Currently, he is a director of Rizhao Port Co., Ltd ( HBR#E XD A
FR/AE]) (@ company listed in the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: 600017), Guangzhou Pearl River Industrial Development
Holdings Co., Ltd (EMIK I EZEREZERMBRARF]) (@ company
listed in the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600684) and
Shenzhen Terca Technology Co., Ltd CRIITH 4B ERH A D
FR/AF]) (a company listed in the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code: 002213). Between 1993 and 2000, Mr. Jin was a deputy
general manager of Shenzhen Electronic Group Co., Ltd (&3
EREB AR A F]) and vice president and general manager of
Shenzhen SEG Co., Ltd CRIINERRHD BBR A F]) (@ company
listed in the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 200058). In
addition, Mr. Jin is the vice chairman of Shenzhen Chamber of
Investment (SZCI) GRIITIREHEEK RIS K ) , executive vice
president of Shenzhen Finance Consultant Association (&3t
L RERHE#778I€ K ) and honorary chairman of Wenzhou
Association for Investment in Enterprises CRIMN TR EH <
Z2 K ). He is on the professional expert board of the Science,
Technology & Economic Expert Committee of the Ministry of
Science and Technology (EIX B E B REBEERLZERERK) .
He has a Master degree in management from Huazhong University
of Science and Technology (EEFIE T KET & (EFHE)EL) .
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Jin did not hold any directorships in
any other listed public companies in the last three years. He has
not, by himself or through his firm in which he practices, provided
professional services to the Company during the year ended 31
March 2015.
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Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (£ £ % % 4 ), aged 47,
has been appointed by the Company as the independent non-
executive Director on 16 December 2013. Mr. Wong graduated
with professional diploma in accountancy from Hong Kong
Polytechnic in 1990 and obtained a degree of bachelor of law
from Peking University in the PRC in 1998 and a degree of master
of science from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1999.
Mr. Wong has extensive experience in auditing, accounting and
corporate finance. Mr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong previously
worked at one of the reputable international accounting firms for
six years and also worked in Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited for over 13 years with last position as senior manager of
the Listing Division of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.
Mr. Wong worked in a financial service institution licensed by the
Securities and Futures Commission as vice president of corporate
finance division for about four years. In the last three years, Mr.
Wong did not hold any directorships in any listed public companies.
He has not, by himself or through his firm in which he practices,
provided professional services to the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2015.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EERELBRS

The Board hereby presents this corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 March 2015.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and enhance the performance of the Group.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2015, except
for paragraphs A.2.7 and A.6.7 of the Code. This report further
illustrates in detail as to how the Code was applied, inclusive of the
considered reasons for any deviation throughout the year ended 31
March 2015.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Company periodically issues notices to its Directors reminding
them of the general prohibition on dealing in the Company’s listed
securities during the blackout periods before the publication of
announcements of financial results.

The Company has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, that all the Directors have complied with the required
standards of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2015.
The Company was not aware of any non-compliance in this respect
throughout the year ended 31 March 2015.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EERELBRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS BEExg
The Board is accountable for promoting the success of the ZEEENUBET BERFEMNAEFEENEET AN
Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible A B|FE% SARRBEKD - S & TE%EIT

AR R R AR &8 B AT IR B 31T

and effective manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company.

RHEFERENFTESRETRR:

Matters reserved for the Board include, but not limited to:

approval of the Group’s long term objectives and strategy,
policies and annual budgets;

oversight of the Group’s operations and management;

approval of major changes to the Group’s corporate structure,
management and control structure;

approval of quarterly, interim and annual results;

approval of any significant changes in accounting policies or
practices;

responsible for the system of internal control and risk
management;

approval of matters in relation to Board membership and
Board remuneration;

review of the existing policies of the Company on corporate
governance;

review of the coverage of knowledge and skills of the training
sessions arranged for the Directors and senior management
by the Company;

evaluated the effectiveness of internal safeguard procedure for
overseeing timely disclosure of material inside information and
perseverance of its confidentiality;

monitor the compliance of code of conduct by the Directors
and relevant employees of the Group; and

review of the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in this report.
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Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises ten Directors, including five
executive Directors, a non-executive Director and four independent
non-executive Directors and at least one of the independent non-
executive Directors has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. Biographical
details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical Details
of Directors” section on pages 35 to 42 of this report. The
composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Hao (Chairman)
(appointed on 25 August 2014 as Vice chairman
and redesignated as Chairman on 16 Septermber 2014)

Mr. Zou Chen Dong (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(redesignated as Vice chairman on 25 August 2014)

Dr. Lee Yuk Lun, JrP (Vice chairman)

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John

Mr. Wu Jin Cai (resigned on 15 September 2014)

Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Li Yong Sheng
Ms. Liang Hui (resigned on 15 September 2014)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP
(appointed on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP
(appointed on 9 February 2015)
Mr. Jin Hai Tao
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth
Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan (resigned on 31 January 2015)
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Chairman and chief executive officer

The role and duties of the chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Company are carried out by different individuals.

The chairman of the Board is Mr. Zhang Hao who is responsible
for strategic and business directions to the Board and ensures its
effectiveness in all aspects.

The chief executive officer of the Company is Mr. Zou Chen Dong,
who is responsible for the Company’s day-to-day management
and operations and focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board.

Management functions delegated by the Board

The Board has delegated the responsibilities of the execution
of strategies and decision making for day-to-day operation and
administration functions of the Company to the management
team headed by the chief executive officer. The Board has set out
guidelines for management team as to when final authority should
rest with the Board and its prior approval should be obtained before
making decisions or entering into any commitments; issue of such
include but not limited to any proposed notifiable transactions,
connected transactions, significant investments, major business
decisions related to operation and business strategy, change of key
management of the Group and disclosure of inside information.

Appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company. The appointment of
executive Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.

The non-executive Director was appointed for a specific term of
three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company.
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In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
at each AGM one third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after their appointment and be subject to re-election
at such meeting and all Directors appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which is not determinable by the relevant employer
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Paragraph A.2.7 of the Code provides that the chairman should
at least annually hold meetings with the non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors without the executive
Directors present. Although the chairman did not hold a meeting
with the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors during the year ended 31 March 2015, he delegated
the company secretary to gather any concerns and/or questions
that the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors might have and report to him for setting up follow-up
meetings, whenever necessary, in due course.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Relation of the Board Members

All Directors are no relationships (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships) among members
of the Board.
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Meeting of the Board

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Board had convened
total twelve meetings, four of which are in regular nature. The
attendance record of individual Directors at the Board and
committees” meetings and general meetings are set out in page 54
of this report.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company provides all members of the Board
with monthly updates on the Group’s performance and financial
position.

The Directors are aware of the requirement under the paragraph
A.6.5 of the Code regarding continuous professional development.
During the year, the Company had arranged a training session to
certain Directors which was conducted by an external professional
firm. In addition, Directors also reviewed the monthly business
and financial updates and other reading materials provided to
them concerning latest developments in corporate governance
practices and relevant legal and regulatory developments. A record
of the Directors’ participation in various continuous professional
development program during the year ended 31 March 2015 is
kept by the company secretary as below:
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Training
3
Self-learning Attend seminar  Induction
HEBER 2mmeE BB RE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhang Hao FEERE (RZF—F
(appointed on 25 August 2014) NAZ+HAEZF) v v v
Mr. Zou Chen Dong BERFE LA v v
Dr. Lee Yuk Lun, JP FEBELT AP+ v v
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung HEFLELE v v
Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John i e R v v
Mr. Wu Jin Cai RSk (RZFE—MF
(resigned on 15 September 2014) NA1FEAEF) v
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Training
&I

Self-learning Attend seminar  Induction

BRES SmNE BBRE

Non-executive Directors FHTES

Dr. Li Yong Sheng FxAEL

Ms. Liang Hui RELLT (RZF—1MF
(resigned on 15 September 2014) NA+FEHEHE)

Independent non-executive Directors BV FHITES

The Hon, Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP EBREES 2402
(appointed on 18 May 2015) XFwt (RZE—7 @E
ﬁﬁ F+/\HEZ(E)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP ORI RS
(appointed on 9 February 2015) XFut (RZE—RF
ZANAEZF)
Mr. Jin Hai Tao SeRELE
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth TRREE
Mr. Hau Chi Kit EEGEEE (RZF—0F
(resigned on 18 May 2015) AA+/AEE)
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan AKBEE (R—F—HF—H
(resigned on 31 January 2015) =+—HEL)

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and indemnity

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
has been provided by the Company to cover potential legal actions
against Directors and senior officers.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee (the
“‘Nomination Committee”) and remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”), to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. Their respective terms of reference are set out
in the Company’s website.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 11 August
2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph C.3.3
of the Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among
other things, reviewing and supervising the financial reporting
process and internal control systems, as well as the overall risk
management of the Group, reviewing the financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group, and
reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of audit work of the
external auditors.

The composition of the Audit Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Chairman)
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP
(appointed on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BB8S, JP
(appointed on 9 February 2015)
Mr. Jin Hai Tao
Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan (resigned on 31 January 2015)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. Li Yong Sheng
Ms. Liang Hui (resigned on 15 September 2014)

The members of the Audit Committee possess diversified
industry experience and the chairman of the Audit Committee
has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
accounting matters.

During the year, the Audit Committee had reviewed the first
quarterly results for three months ended 30 June 2014, the interim
results for the six months ended 30 September 2014, the third
quarterly results for the nine months ended 31 December 2014
and the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2015 and is of
the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the
applicable accounting standards and that adequate disclosures
have been made.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
A.4.5 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying and
nomination of directors and making recommendations to the Board
on appointment and re-appointment of directors.

The composition of the Nomination Committee is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Hao (Chairman) (appointed on 25 August 2014)

Mr. Zou Chen Dong (appointed on 16 Septermber 2014)
Mr. Wu Jin Cai (resigned on 25 August 2014)

Non-executive Director
Ms. Liang Hui (resigned on 15 September 2014)

Independent non-executive Directors
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP
(appointed on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP
(appointed on 9 February 2015)
Mr. Jin Hai Tao
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth
Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan (resigned on 31 January 2015)

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education background,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. Qualified
candidates will then be recommended to the Board for approval.
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Nomination Committee
had convened three meetings to consider (i) the appointment
of Mr. Zhang Hao as an executive Director and redesignation of
Mr. Zou Chen Dong as the vice chairman of the Board, (i) the
redesignation of Mr. Zhang Hao as the chairman of the Board and
(iii) the appointment of Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP as an
independent non-executive Director.

Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy on 30
August 2013 with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development of the Group. The Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development.

In designing the Board’s composition, the board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
B.1.2 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among other things, formulating and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy, determining the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.
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The composition of the Remuneration Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Jin Hai Tao (Chairman)
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP
(appointed on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP
(appointed on 9 February 2015)
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth
Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan (resigned on 31 January 2015)

Non-executive Director
Ms. Liang Hui (resigned on 15 September 2014)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Remuneration
Committee had convened three meetings to consider the revision
of Directors’ remuneration.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a
year, and Directors will receive at least 14 days prior written notice
of such meetings. For any ad hoc Board meetings, Directors
are given as much notice as is reasonably practicable in those
circumstances. Agendas and accompanying papers are sent not
less than 3 days before the date of Board meetings to ensure that
the Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. Draft and
final versions of minutes of regular board meetings are circulated
to all Directors for their comment and records respectively. All
Directors are kept informed in a timely manner of major changes
that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules
and regulations. The Board also understands where potential
conflicts of interests arise, the independent non-executive Directors
shall take the lead in discussing the relevant transactions being
contemplated when there is a Director or any of his associates
having a material interest in the transactions and shall abstain from
voting.
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Details of the Directors’ attendance at Board and committees’
meetings and general meetings for the year ended 31 March 2015

are set out below:

Number of meetings

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Hao (gopointed on 25 August 2014)

Mr. Zou Chen Dong

Dr. Lee Yuk Lun, P

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John

Mr. Wu Jin Cai (resigned on 15 September 2014)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. Li Yong Sheng
Ms. Liang Hui (resjgned on 15 September 2014)

Independent non-executive Directors

The Hon, Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP
(@opointed on 18 May 2015)

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B85S, JP
(appointed on 9 February 2015)

Mr. Jin Hai Tao

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 May 2015)

Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan (resigned on 31 January 2015)

Average attendance rate
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial
Statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs,
results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with relevant law
and disclosure requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in
“Independent Auditors’ Report” section on pages 78 and 80 of this
report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor during the year ended 31 March 2015
amounted to HK$0.68 million.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining the soundness
and effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group to

safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company has reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Yuet Tai (Z= A %), aged 32, joined the Company in
September 2011 as assistant to chief financial officer and re-
designated as company secretary on 1 June 2012. Ms. Li holds
a bachelor’s degree in business administration in Professional
Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and has
over 7 years of working experience in auditing and accounting
in Hong Kong and the PRC. Ms. Li is a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the
Company, Ms. Li has served in an international accounting firm for
five years. In the last three years, Ms. Li held no directorships in any
listed public companies.

The company secretary took more than 15 hours’ professional
training for the year ended 31 March 2015. Reporting to the chief
executive officer, the company secretary plays an important role in
ensuring proper Board procedures are tailored to the Company’s
business needs and compliance with all applicable laws, rule
and regulations. The Directors could obtain advices and services
from the company secretary for any updates and developments
in corporate governance, applicable laws and regulations when
necessary.

The company secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is
responsible for preparing the meeting agenda, serving notice to
the Board at least 14 days before the regular meetings or at a
reasonable time for other ad-hoc meetings, and providing relevant
Board papers to Directors at least 3 days before the meetings, so
as to ensure that the Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner for effective
and informed decision making.

The company secretary also ensures that the Board meetings are
convened and constituted in accordance with all applicable laws,
regulations and the procedural requirements set out in the articles
of association at all times. In addition, the company secretary
will take minutes of the meetings and circulate them to Directors
for comments at a reasonable time after the meetings. After
incorporating Directors’ comments, the executed version of the
minutes will be maintained by the company secretary and be open
for Directors’ inspection during normal office hours.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board believes that general meetings can provide an
open forum for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend general
meetings of the Company and give valuable advices to the
Company through this direct communication platform. The
Company will convene AGM every year and convene any other
extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”) as required.

1. The way in which Shareholders can convene an EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding not less than 10% of
the issued share capital at the time of deposit of the requisition
and carrying the right of voting at general meeting can deposit
a written request to convene an EGM.

The written request must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned and deposited to
the Board or the company secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business at Rooms 2601-2605, 26/F., China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong,
and may consist of several documents in like form each signed
by one or more Shareholders. The request will be verified with
the Company’s share registrar and upon its confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the company secretary
will notify the Board to convene an EGM and include the
resolution in the agenda. The Board shall convene and hold
such general meeting within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If the request is verified to be not in order,
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the result and no
EGM will be convened.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such general meeting, the Shareholders
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM,
but any EGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the said date.
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The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who wish to raise any queries with the Board
may write to the Company’s investor relationship contact
at Rooms 2601-2605, 26/F., China Resources Building, 26
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, by phone on +852
3104 2962 or by email at cnc@cnctv.hk.

The procedures for making proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

To put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings, the
Shareholders shall submit a written notice of those proposals
with the detail contact information to the company secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business. The request
will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the Board to include the resolution
in the agenda for the general meeting.

Communications with Shareholders

The Board believes regular and timely communication with
Shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our
Shareholders understand our business better. Copies of
the annual report, interim report and quarterly report of the
Company are distributed to its Shareholders in accordance
with statutory and regulatory requirements and also to
interested parties recorded in the Company’s mailing lists.
The publications of the Company, including financial reports,
circulars and announcements, are also available on the
Company’s website.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the Shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue is considered by a
separate resolution, including election of individual directors,
and the poll procedures are clearly explained. Paragraph
A.6.7 of the Code requires that independent non-executive
directors and non-executive directors shall attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders.
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The then executive Director, namely Mr. Wu Jin Cai, two
executive Directors, namely Dr. Lee Yuk Lun, JP and Mr. Kan
Kwok Cheung, a non-executive Director, namely Dr. Li Yong
Sheng, the then non-executive Director, namely Ms. Liang Hui,
an independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Jin Hai Tao
and the then independent non-executive Director, namely Mr.
Chu Siu Lun, Ivan did not attend the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 31 July 2014 due to overseas
commitment and pre-arranged business engagements.
Other Board members, the chairmen of the relevant Board
committees and the external auditor of the Company also
attended the annual general meeting to inter-face with, and
answer questions from the Shareholders.

Two executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Hao and Mr.
Zou Chen Dong, a non-executive Director, namely Dr.
Li Yong Sheng, an independent non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Jin Hai Tao and two the then independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Hau Chi Kit and Mr. Chu Siu
Lun, Ivan did not attend the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 22 January 2015 due to overseas
commitment and pre-arranged business engagements.

The attendance of the Directors at the general meetings of the
Company is set out on page 54 of this report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s corporate website is www.cnctv.hk. The Company
may from time to time conduct investor/analysts briefings and
presentations, roadshows, media interviews, marketing activities
for investors and specialist industry forums etc.

All corporate communication materials published on the GEM
website (http://www.hkgem.com) are posted on the Company’s
corporate website as soon as practicable after their release. The
Company’s constitutional documents are also available on our
website. No significant changes were made to these documents
during the year ended 31 March 2015. Information on our website
will be updated on a regular basis.
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together
with the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and is engaged
in provision of management services and television broadcasting
business. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of waterworks engineering services for the public sector in
Hong Kong, television broadcasting business in the Asia-Pacific
Region (excluding the PRC) and large outdoor display screen
advertisement in the PRC.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2015 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 81 to 82 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2015.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 24 July 2015 to Tuesday, 28 July 2015, both days inclusive.
During this period, no transfer of Shares will be registered. In
order to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of Shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queens’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 23 July 2015.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 19 to
the Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 39 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 87 of this report and note 40 to the Financial Statements.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group made the
charitable donations amounting to approximately HK$0.5 million.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2015, the Company’s distributable reserves,
including the share premium account, calculated under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
HK$52.9 million in deficit.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of the convertible notes of the Company are set out in note
37 to the Financial Statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and financial position for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 239 to 240 of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

BEHE

AEERBEREMBFENRE MM BARR
MEHN AR EF239E EFH2408 -

FTEEFRHERD

The percentage of the Group’s revenue, subcontracting costs HE-_Z—HAF=ZA=+—HULFE A%E
and purchases of raw materials attributable to the Group’s major 2 W z5 DB KA & R AR EEG AL B =
customers, subcontractors and suppliers respectively for the year Z2EF - DB M EEEAOE DD RIT
ended 31 March 2015 is as follows:

Revenue g

The largest customer BARF 55.3%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFPE 97.8%
Subcontracting costs WA N

The largest subcontractor BADBEHE 27.7%
Five largest subcontractors in aggregate ARDBEEhR 76.2%
Purchases of raw materials (Notes) PREEE AR (M)

The largest supplier RAMER 23.4%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AREEEE L 79.9%

During the year, none of the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest customers, subcontractors and
suppliers.

Note:

Total purchases of raw materials by the Group included purchases of raw
materials by main contractors for the Group’s use in carrying out waterworks
engineering services as a subcontractor for respective contracts. However,
the suppliers from which main contractors purchased the raw materials were
not included as the suppliers of the Group as the Group did not have direct
relationship with these suppliers.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2015 are set

out in note 31 to the Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of

this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zzhang Hao (Chairman) (appointed on 25 August 2014

as Vice chairman and redesignated as Chairman
on 16 September 2014)

Mr. Zou Chen Dong (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(redesignated as Vice chairman on 25 August 2014)

Dr. Lee Yuk Lun, JP (Vice chairman)

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John

Mr. Wu Jin Cai (resigned on 15 September 2014)

Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Li Yong Sheng
Ms. Liang Hui (resigned on 15 Septermber 2014)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP
(appointed on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BB8S, JP
(appointed on 9 February 2015)
Mr. Jin Hai Tao
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth
Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 May 2015)
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan (resigned on 31 January 2015)
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company. The appointment of
executive Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.

The non-executive Director was appointed for a specific term of
three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which is not determinable by the relevant employer
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of Directors as at the date of this report are
set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages
35 to 42 of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Group was entered into or existed during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration is determined with reference to the nature of
job, performance, qualifications and experience of individual
employees, as well as the result of the Group and the market trend.
The Group carries out staff performance appraisal once a year and
the assessment result is used for salary reviews and promotion
decisions. The Group recognises the importance of staff training
and thus regularly provides internal and external training for its staff
to enhance their skills and knowledge.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to the duties and level of responsibilities of each Director, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the prevailing market
conditions.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 13 to the Financial
Statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

Particulars of the pension schemes are set out in note 11 to the
Financial Statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme has been adopted to provide incentive
or reward to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group or any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest.
No share options have been granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2015, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long position in the Shares: RBGOHER:
Percentage
of aggregate
interests to
Number of total issued
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held share capital
BEREED
ERITRAN
] 5/ ERME FRAEE BO
Dr. Lee (Note a) Interest in controlled corporation 140,000,000 3.79%
*8L (Hita) REEHEE < #5
Mr. Kan (Note b) Interest in controlled corporation 220,590,000 5.97%
B (Hiztp) REEHEE < #5
Mr. Chia Beneficial owner 5,500,000 0.15%
i e ERBEAA
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Notes:

(@ Dr. Lee is the sole beneficial owner of Proud Glory, which was interested in
140,000,000 Shares. Under the SFO, Dr. Lee is deemed to be interested
in Shares held by Proud Gilory.

(b)  Mr. Kan is the sole beneficial owner of Shunleetat, which was interested in
220,590,000 Shares. Under the SFO, Mr. Kan is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Shunleetat.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2015,

the following persons/entities (other than the Directors or chief

executive of the Company) had, or are deemed to have, interests

or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures

of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the

nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in

all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group

or who/which were recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO with details as follows:

TERRREMATREDBRGD KR IEE
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2R EID MR AMA R R BRI AR AR
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MEHEFINEAELTEAREEFHKER
AR AE LR EMNEMAERRAEES %K
N EWMRERSIAE B LHER AR AIRE
BH KB EPEIB6IEFTTFE 2 Bl
mOORE BT

Long position in the Shares: RBROHER:
Number of underlying
Shares under
Number of Shares held convertible notes (Note a)
ARRRBET 2
FERO#E HERAHE (fiia)
Percentage
of aggregate
Interest in Interest in interests to
Beneficial controlled Spouse Beneficial controlled Total  total issued
Name owner  corporation interest owner  corporation interests  share capital
R
R RS2 hEHERT
A% ERfEA iEzER BEER EBEREAA iEzER BEE REXEAL
China Xinhua NNC REFENEERA 1,086,580,561 - - 1,413,419,439 - 2,500,000,000 67.69%
(Note b) (Note b)
(Hstp) (Hiztp)
CNC China REHEREERA () - 1,086,580,561 - - 1413419439 2,500,000,000 67.69%
(Note b) (Note b)
(Hiztb) (Hiztb)
Ms. Lam Shun Kiu, Rosita WrEL T - - 220,590,000 - - 220,590,000 5.97%
(Note ¢)
(Hiite)
Shunleetat Shunleetat 220,590,000 - - - - 220,590,000 5.97%
(Note ¢)
(Kizte)
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Notes:

(@) Details of the convertible notes were set out in the circulars of the
Company dated 19 November 2011 and 6 January 2015.

(b)  China Xinhua NNC is wholly and beneficially owned by CNC China.
Accordingly, CNC China is deemed to be interested in the 1,086,580,561
Shares and 1,413,419,439 underlying Shares held by China Xinhua NNC
under the SFO.

(c)  Shunleetat is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Kan. Accordingly,
Mr. Kan is deemed to be interested in the 220,590,000 Shares held by
Shunleetat under the SFO. Ms. Lam Shun Kiu, Rosita is the spouse of
Mr. Kan and is deemed to be interested in 220,590,000 Shares held by
Shunleetat under the SFO.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, the Directors
were not aware of any other person/entity (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company as disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations” above) who which had,
or is deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who which were directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any member of the Group or who/which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates including spouses and children under 18
years of age was granted by the Company or its subsidiaries any
right to acquire Shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate, or had exercised any such right during the year
ended 31 March 2015.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31
March 2015.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2015 and as at the date of
this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and the laws of Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata
pbasis to existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into following continuing
connected transactions:

Television Broadcasting Right Agreement

On 5 September 2011, Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific entered into
a television broadcasting right agreement (the “Television
Broadcasting Right Agreement”) with China Xinhua NNC, pursuant
to which China Xinhua NNC granted the television broadcasting
right in respect of broadcasting information contents from Xinhua
News Agency under the CNC Channels on television channels
in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) to the Group for
an annual fee of HK$1.0 million prior to 31 December 2016 and
HK$3.0 million with effective from 1 January 2017. The Television
Broadcasting Right Agreement has a term of 120 months from 1
September 2011 to 31 August 2021. Since China Xinhua NNC
is a substantial shareholder of the Company, and therefore a
connected person of the Company within the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the Television
Broadcasting Right Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Advertisement Broadcasting Contract

On 23 May 2011, CNC China and AVIC Culture Co., Ltd. (F i XX
LR BBR A &) (“AVIC Culture”) entered into an advertisement
operation cooperation contract (the “Advertisement Operation
Cooperation Contract”), pursuant to which CNC China granted
the exclusive right to AVIC Culture for the promotion and operation
of 58% of the advertising resources of the CNC Channels (the
“Partial Advertisement Operation Right”) for the period from 25
May 2011 to 25 August 2016. As consideration, CNC China is
entitled to a guaranteed fixed fee of Renminbi (“RMB”) 90 million
plus 40% of the part of advertising revenue derived from the Partial
Advertisement Operation Right in excess of RMB90 million during
the term of the Advertisement Operation Cooperation Contract (the
“Payment under the Partial Advertisement Operation Right”).

On 24 August 2012, CNC China and China Xinhua NNC entered
into the an agreement (the “CNC Agreement”), pursuant to which
CNC China will pay any amount that CNC China receives from AVIC
Culture as the Payment under the Partial Advertisement Operation
Right (on an after-tax basis and after deducting any reasonable
fees) to China Xinhua NNC to reflect the fact that the commercial
advertisements operated by AVIC Culture under the Partial
Advertisement Operation Right will eventually be broadcasted
through the television broadcasting network developed and
maintained by China Xinhua NNC.

To support the operation of the Company, on 24 August 2012,
China Xinhua NNC entered into an advertisement broadcasting
contract (the “Advertisement Broadcasting Contract”) with Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific in respect of the advertising airtime allocated to
China Xinhua NNC exclusively for the commercial advertisements
operated by AVIC Culture. Pursuant to the Advertisement
Broadcasting Contract, China Xinhua NNC has agreed to pay
Xinhua TV Asia Pacific, in cash, 50% of any amount that CNC
China received as the Payment under the Partial Advertisement
Operation Right (on an after-tax basis and after deducting any
reasonable fees).
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Since China Xinhua NNC is a substantial shareholder and a
connected person of the Company within the meaning of the
GEM Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the
Advertisement Broadcasting Contract constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Company pursuant to Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules.

On 21 May 2014, AVIC Culture and CNC China have mutually
agreed in writing to terminate the Advertisement Operation
Cooperation Contract (the “AVIC Termination”). As such, AVIC
Culture will not settle the remaining amount of advertising fee due to
CNC China which would then be paid to China Xinhua NNC and the
Group due to the termination of the initial public offering application
of AVIC Culture as announced by China Securities Regulatory
Commission in April 2014. Accordingly, CNC China, China Xinhua
NNC and the Group have mutually agreed to terminate the
CNC Agreement and the Advertisement Broadcasting Contract
(collectively the “CNC Terminations”) on the same day. The Board
confirms that none of AVIC Culture, CNC China, China Xinhua
NNC and the Group has to pay the other party any penalty and/
or compensation as a result of the AVIC Termination and the CNC
Terminations and none of CNC China, China Xinhua NNC and
the Group has to return any of the instalment payment previously
received as part of the Payment under the Partial Advertisement
Operation Right.

As a result of the AVIC Termination and the CNC Terminations, the
outstanding accounts receivable due from China Xinhua NNC in
respect of advertisement operation cooperation with AVIC Culture
of approximately HK$9.4 million was assessed to be irrecoverable.
In view of this, the Company has written off the aforesaid accounts
receivable of approximately HK$9.4 million for which the Company
has made a full provision as at 31 March 2014. In addition, the
Group will reduce both the revenue from China Xinhua NNC in
respect of the advertisement operation cooperation with AVIC
Culture and the profit of the Group for an estimated amount of
approximately HK$9.3 million per year in the subsequent years
from 1 April 2014 till 25 August 2016. Apart from the above-
mentioned financial impact, the AVIC Termination and the CNC
Terminations will not cause any material adverse impact on the
existing business or operation of the Group.
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CRU Framework Agreement

On 19 December 2012, CNC China and the Ministry of Commerce
of the PRC (“MOFCOM”) Department of Foreign Investment
Administration entered into an advertisement broadcasting
agreement (the “MOFCOM Advertisement Broadcasting
Agreement”) in relation to the provision of advertising resources
of the television channels controlled by CNC China to broadcast
advertisements of the MOFCOM Department of Foreign Investment
Administration.

On 25 December 2012, Sichuan Branch of Xinhua News
Agency and Yibin Wuliangye Liquor Sales Co., Ltd. entered
into an advertisement broadcasting agreement (the “Wuliangye
Advertisement Broadcasting Agreement”) in relation to the
provision of advertising resources of the television channels
controlled by CNC China to broadcast advertisements of Yibin
Wauliangye Liquor Sales Co., Ltd.. On 22 July 2013, CNC China
and Sichuan Branch of Xinhua News Agency entered into
the advertisement broadcasting authorisation agreement (the
“Wuliangye Advertisement Broadcasting Authorisation Agreement”)
in relation to the provision of advertising resources of the television
channels controlled by CNC China to broadcast advertisements of
Yibin Wuliangye Liquor Sales Co., Ltd..

To support the operation of the Company, on 22 July 2013, the
Company and CNC China entered into a channel resources
usage framework agreement (the “CRU Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Company will and will procure its
subsidiaries to provide advertising resources on the television
channels controlled by the Company to CNC China and its
associates for the advertisement business of independent third
party clients undertook by them. As consideration, CNC China
and its associates will pay advertisement broadcasting fees to the
Company and its subsidiaries. The CRU Framework Agreement will
have a term of 3 years ending on 31 March 2016.
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In order to implement the CRU Framework Agreement, on 22 July
2013, Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific entered into a channel resources
usage agreement (the “MOFCOM CRU Agreement”) with CNC
China, pursuant to which Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific agreed to provide
advertising resources on its television channels to CNC China
for broadcasting advertisements of the MOFCOM Department of
Foreign Investment Administration. On the same day, Xinhua TV
Asia-Pacific entered into a channel resources usage agreement
(the “Wuliangye CRU Agreement”) with CNC China pursuant
to which Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific agreed to provide advertising
resources on its television channels to CNC China for broadcasting
advertisements of Yibin Wuliangye Liquor Sales Co., Ltd.. Both
MOFCOM CRU Agreement and Wuliangye CRU Agreement
became effective on 22 July 2013 and will end on 31 March 2016.

As consideration for using such advertising resources, CNC
China will pay the Group 50% of the advertisement broadcasting
fees (after deducting applicable PRC taxes) it receives from the
MOFCOM Department of Foreign Investment Administration under
the MOFCOM Advertisement Broadcasting Agreement (including
those received before the effectiveness of the MOFCOM CRU
Agreement); and 50% of the advertisement broadcasting fees (after
deducting applicable PRC taxes) it receives from Sichuan Branch
of Xinhua News Agency under the Wuliangye Advertisement
Broadcasting Authorisation Agreement (including those received
before the effectiveness of the Wuliangye CRU Agreement). Such
advertisement broadcasting fees that CNC China are entitled to
equal to 30% of the advertisement broadcasting fees that Sichuan
Branch of Xinhua News Agency receives from Yibin Wuliangye
Liguor Sales Co., Ltd. under the Wuliangye Advertisement
Broadcasting Agreement (including those received before the
effectiveness of the Wuliangye Advertisement Broadcasting
Authorisation Agreement).

Since CNC China is a substantial shareholder and a connected
person of the Company within the meaning of the GEM Listing
Rules, the transactions contemplated under the CRU Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Announcement Posting Agreements

On 6 May 2015 and 11 June 2014, the Company entered into
agreements (the “Announcement Posting Agreements”) with Hong
Kong Listco Limited (“HKLC”) pursuant to which HKLC will provide
the Company with the service of dissemination of announcements
including hosting and posting of announcements, press releases
or other documents as required by the GEM Listing Rules on the
website(s) of the Group at a monthly service fee of HK$750 for a
term of one year commencing from 1 July 2015 and 1 July 2014
respectively. HKLC is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and is
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chia. The Company considers
it more cost effective to engage a professional firm to take up this
announcement posting obligation after listing.

GEM Listing Rules Implications

Pursuant to Rule 20.41 of the GEM Listing Rules, the transactions
contemplated under the Television Broadcasting Right Agreement
are subject to the applicable reporting, annual review and
disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company will comply with the applicable reporting,
disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval requirements,
as the case may be, under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
upon any variation or renewal of the Television Broadcasting Right
Agreement.

Also pursuant to Rule 20.41 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
transactions contemplated under the Advertisement Broadcasting
Contract are subject to the applicable reporting, announcement
and annual review requirements but exempt from independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules because the highest applicable percentage ratio of
the annual caps, calculated on an annual basis, is more than 0.1%
but less than 5%. The Company will comply with the applicable
reporting, disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements, as the case may be, under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules upon any variation or renewal of the Advertisement
Broadcasting Contract.
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Also pursuant to Rule 20.41 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
transactions contemplated under the CRU Framework Agreement
are subject to the applicable reporting, announcement and annual
review requirements but exempt from independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
because the highest applicable percentage ratio of the annual
caps (including the proposed annual caps of the transactions
under Advertisement Broadcasting Contract as mentioned above),
calculated on an annual basis, is more than 0.1% but less than 5%.
The Company will comply with the applicable reporting, disclosure
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements, as the case
may be, under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules upon any
variation or renewal of the CRU Framework Agreement.

As the annual service fee payable under the Announcement
Posting Agreements referred to above is less than HK$1.0 million
and none of the percentage ratios, on an annual basis, equals or
exceeds 5%, and that the Announcement Posting Agreements
were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group, the transactions under the Announcement Posting
Agreements are exempt continuing connected transactions of the
Company pursuant to Rule 20.33(3)(c) of the GEM Listing Rules,
which are exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates has any other conflict
of interests with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2015.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out

in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on pages 43 to 59
of this report.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 8 December 2014, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party pursuant to which
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will acquire 60%
of the issued share capital of Xinhua Afanti Asset Management
Limited (formerly known as Afanti Asset Management Limited) at
the consideration of HK$1.0 million. The acquisition has not yet
completed as at date of this report and the acquisition is subject to
approval of Securities and Futures Commission.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015
have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited which
will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited and to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Hao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 1 June 2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
15 3L #% 20 B 3R &

B g EH AR

Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CNC
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 81 to 238, which
comprise the consolidated and Company statements of financial
position as at 31 March 2015, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
15 3L #% 20 B 3R &

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 March 2015 and of the Group’s loss and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY CONCERNING GOING
CONCERN BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 3 in
the consolidated financial statements which indicates that the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$41,723,000
during the year ended 31 March 2015 and, as of that date, the
Group’s total liabilities exceeded its total assets by approximately
HK$28,966,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set
forth in Note 3, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hon Koon Fai, Alex
Practising Certificate Number: P05029

Hong Kong, 1 June 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HEHERRAMMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B ZE—F—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

Notes
HtaE

Revenue I = 6
Cost of services AR 7% X 7R
Gross profit EF
Other income H A 7
Other gains and losses H e R B 18 8
Amortisation expenses BT
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX
Administrative expenses THAX
Loss from operations EEESE 10
Finance costs & B A 12
Impairment loss recognised HEZEWIERERZ

in respect of trade receivables BB EE 27
Impairment loss recognised HEEmRREEIR

in respect of goodwill 20
Impairment loss recognised REREERRZ

in respect of intangible assets BIEEE 22
Loss before income tax MRATEHAIE B
Income tax Fris#i 15
Loss for the year FARER

2015 2014
—E-AE —ZE—uF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
369,635 324,331
(346,553) (274,231)
23,082 50,100
4,136 30,961
10,585 (3,307)
(24,088) (59,463)
(226) (85)
(33,121) (29,706)
(19,632) (11,500)
(25,720) (42,041)
- (9,469)
- (151,194)
- (269,309)
(45,352) (483,513)
3,629 52,221
(41,723) (431,292)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HEHERRAMEEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

Other comprehensive income

[tems that may be classified
subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Other comprehensive income for
the year, net of income tax

Total comprehensive loss for
the year

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Total comprehensive loss for
the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company
— Basic and diluted (HK cents)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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2015 2014
—E-HE — T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
108 45

108 45
(41,615) (431,247)
(41,723) (431,292)
(41,615) (431,247)
(1.34) (25.14)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEEMBRAR

At 31 March 2016 R-ZFE—FF=A=+—H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Available-for-sale financial assets

Current assets
Film rights
Inventories
Trade and other receivables

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss
Tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Finance lease payables
Employee benefits
Bank overdraft
Promissory note
Convertible notes
Current tax liabilities

Net current assets/(liabilities)

Total assets less current liabilities

ERBEE

kS
BIVEE
At ESREE

REBEE

BRI

A

B 5 N E A e WA

BBBRE A TE
ANRZEREE
QR dEERE
ReMAEEHEY

RBAE

B 5 & E A FE A I8
BEMHERMNRIE
EERA

RITEX

AR

AR IR
EHMIEARE

RBEE(AEK)FE

HMEERRBEME

2015 2014

—E-AF —ZE—puF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B it FHET FHETT
19 40,791 45,184
20 - -
1272 141,081 163,040
24 - 400
181,872 208,624

23 - -
26 23,335 14,955
27 87,122 77,804
29 12,117 10,485
- 480

30 62,166 20,609
184,740 124,333

366,612 332,957

32 90,122 107,063
33 4,936 3,345
34 2,569 2,095
35 5,978 4
36 - 44,609
37 - 543,234
7,932 7,087

111,537 707,433

73,203 (583,100)

255,075 (374,476)

2014/2015 SR

HEHEERZERERAE 83



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEEMBRAR

At 31 March 2016 R-ZFE—FHF=A=+—H

Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Finance lease payables B & TH E e IR
Promissory note AHEE
Convertible notes Al AR E
Deferred tax liabilities BERIERE

Total liabilities weE

Net liabilities EEFE

Capital and reserves EARE HE
Share capital [N
Reserves EER

Total equity mrEs

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 1 June 2015 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Hao
RE
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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2015 2014

—E-hF —F-mEF

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
et FET FET
e 4,673 4,037

36 38,080 -

& 203,326 -

38 37,962 29,426

284,041 33,463

395,578 740,896

(28,966) (407,939)

39 3,693 1,980

(32,659) (409,919)

(28,966) (407,939)

H_?ﬁﬁxa«%

Zou Chen Dong
BPER R
Director

EF

BERT 2 M Rt FER e M ®mEKR Z

SR T AT A BHERKET
FEMBHmEA YHFIALTRREZTSR



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Bt F5 4K 3L &

At31 March2015 R-ZE—A#F=H=+—H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities

Accrued expenses and other payables

Amounts due to subsidiaries
Convertible notes

Net current assets/(liabilities)

Total assets less current liabilities

Notes
ok
FRBEE
R =N 19
RHB AR ZRE 31
REBEE
B 5 K H At Y IE 27
JE U B B A B FRIE 31
RehBReEEY 30
WEE
RBEE
FERT R X R E A
JET F B 32
FESTHT B A &) 5108 31
Al IR =g 37
RBEE(AE)FE
HWEERARBER

2015 2014
= —=F-AF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TR
3,514 5,111
76,529 45,099
80,043 50,210
178 433
106,093 121,643
13,474 522
119,745 122,598
199,788 172,808
24,150 25,587
9,394 13,688

- 543,234
33,544 582,509
86,201 (459,911)
166,244 (409,701)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Bt ¥5 4K 3L &

At31 March2015 R-ZE—AF=H=+—H

Non-current liabilities
Convertible notes
Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Net liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 1 June 2015 and are signed on its behalf

by:

Zhang Hao

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes

Wit

37
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39
40

2015 2014
—®2-IHF —F—MF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
203,326 —
12,161 —
215,487 —
249,031 582,509
(49,243) (409,701)
3,693 1,980
(52,936) (411,681)
(49,243) (409,701)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEEDBIR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z _—F—AF=HA=1+—HILFEF

At1 April 2013
Loss for the year

QOther comprehensive income for the year, net of tax:
Items that may be classified subsequently to
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Issue of shares pursuant to conversion of
convertible notes

At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax:
ltems that may be classified subsequently to
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

Issue of shares pursuant to placing

Transaction costs attributable to issue of
ordinary shares pursuant to placing

Issue of shares pursuant to the conversion of
convertible notes

Transfer to accumulated losses upon mature
of convertible notes

Recognition of convertible notes equity reserves
on extension of convertible notes

Deferred tax liability arising on extension
of convertible notes

At 31 March 2015

W=E-=mA—-H
ENER

EREMZENA MBHA:

ERUARERECER:

BERNEBERER

ERzERA/ (BR)EE
RELATERRERTRG

WZE-ME=A=+-Bk
“2-NEMA-A

FRBE

EREBZENA MBHA:
78

ERUARERECER:

BERNEBLERER

ERzERA/ (BR) LR
REREETRA

BEEELTEEREERSMA

RELATERZEETRG

THERBHNRERE R BHE

ERTARZREED
TRRRRELEE

ERTHRRREL CREHERE

RZB-RF=A=1-A

Foreign
Convertible currency
Share Share  notes equity translation Other  Accumulated Total
capital premium* reserves* reserves* reserves” losses” equity
TRREE HEBRE
RA& RO EE BafRE R Hipfte it fEs
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET TET FET FET FET FET
(note 39) (note 40) (note 37) (note 40) (note 40) (note 40)
(Hi#39) (Hiit40) (Hritsr) (Hit40) (Hit40) (Hiz#40)
1,674 735,089 17,381 - 9,868 (800,115) (36,103)
- - - - - (431,292 (431,292
- - - 45 - - 45
- - - 45 - (431,292) (431,247)
306 60,823 (1,718) - - - 59,411
1,980 795,912 15,663 45 9,868 (1,231,407) (407,939)
- - - - - 41,729) (41,729)
- - - 108 - - 108
- - - 108 - (41,723) (41,615)
335 83,390 - - - - 83,725
- 2,118) - - - - 2,118)
1,378 277,829 (7,731) - - - 271,476
- - (7,932) - - 7932 -
- - 80,844 - - - 80,844
- - (13,339) - - - (13,339)
3,693 1,155,013 67,505 153 9,868 (1,265,198) (28,966)
* ROF—AFZAZAF—H BZEHFLEL

The aggregate amount of these balances of approximately

HK$32,659,000 in deficit (2014 approximately HK$409,919,000 in
deficit) was included as reserves in the consolidated statement of financial

position as at 31 March 2015.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ZEHRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z_—ZF

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:
Amortisation expenses
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Net (gains)/losses on disposal of
property, plant and equipment

Impairment loss recognised
in respect of goodwill
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of intangible assets
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of trade receivables
Finance costs
Waiver of the interests on
promissory note
Waiver of the interests on
convertible notes
Realised (gain)/loss arising on change
in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Unrealised (gain)/loss arising
on change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Gains arising on extension of
promissory note

Interest income

Exchange loss/(gain), net

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

Increase in trade and other receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade and
other payables

Increase/(decrease) in employee
benefits

Purchase of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss
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Notes

it

10

2015 2014
—E—-RfF —E—UF
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FET
(45,352) (483,513)
24,088 59,463
18,265 15,117
(1,455) 13

- 151,194

- 269,309

- 9,469

25,720 42,041
(4,054) -
- (30,691)

(493) 1,311

) 1,984
(8,708) -
(49) (18)

80 (1)

8,033 35,678
(8,380) 7,296
(8,318) (34,999)
(23,458) 24,768
474 (256)
(31,018) (150,969)
20,888 131,089




Cash (used in)/generated from
operations
Income tax refunded

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of
available-for-sale financial assets

Deposits paid for acquisition of
a subsidiary

Additions of film rights

Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from placing of ordinary
shares

Transaction costs attributable to issue of
ordinary shares pursuant to placing

Finance lease charges paid

Repayment of finance lease payables

Interest paid

Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities

Notes
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FE1H 3 Z R
EffBERERA
EERELERNKIE
ERHE

BMEEEFE (FA)
REFH

2015 2014
—E—-AF —T-MEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
(32,779) 12,607

151 -
(32,628) 12,607
1,832 45
(7,239) (23,324)

400 -

(1,000) -
(2,129) (1,231)

49 18

(8,087) (24,492)
83,725 —
(2,118) -
(375) (222)
(4,783) (3,538)
(183) @21)
76,266 (3,781)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ZEHRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at the beginning of the year

Effects of foreigh exchange rate
changes

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

Analysis of the balance of cash and
cash equivalents:

Being:
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdraft

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Notes
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2015 2014
—®2-IHF —F—MF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
35,551 (15,666)
20,609 36,229
28 46
56,188 20,609
62,166 20,609
(5,978) -
56,188 20,609
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 4R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B ZE—F—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

1. GENERAL 1. —RER
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands ARAR—ZE—ZEF=A+HBRER=Z
on 15 March 2010 as an exempted company with limited HERANEF2E (— N A—FEMS &
liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 iRe RIEF]) RASHEEMK L RER R
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The BREERAR -ARAZEMiiER XE
registered office and principal place of business of the I &2 2h 5 | 4 Cricket Square, Hutchins
Company are located at the offices of Cricket Square, Drive, PO Box 2681 » Grand Cayman, KY1-
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, 1111 * Cayman Islands & &7 /& (175 /&
Cayman Islands and Rooms 2601 — 2605, 26/F, China 2655 £ M K [E261£2601-2605F °
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
respectively.
The principal activities of the Company are investment holding, RARRI FBEBRITEER RESE
provision of management services and television broadcasting IR REBERERES MEMBARZE
business. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the EXEBAUARBERBRBREIFIRHEKB LT
provision of waterworks engineering services, road works TR - BEE TR S RS AR 75 LA 2 3 48 %
and drainage services and site formation works for the public BIR TREXE (TEEREARKEM
sector in Hong Kong, television broadcasting business in the (THE]) ) REERFERER LIS
Asia-Pacific region (excluding the People’s Republic of China J& 5 N AR B Y s DA R A R B 55 K AL B A
(“the PRC”)) in return for advertising and related revenue and BETRREEFER-
large outdoor display screen advertisement business in the
PRC.
At 31 March 2015, the major shareholder of the Company R-ZE—HE=A=+—H ARAIZEE
is China Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (“China Xinhua BRAEFRFAEFEERBERAF ([F
NNC”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong. BINrEMBEERM]) —RREBEMAK

SN ZNA]e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised standards, amendments and interpretations (‘new and
revised HKFRSs”) issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)that are relevant to its
operations and effective for annual periods on or after 1 April
2014.

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and Investment Entities
HKAS 27 (Amendments)

HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and
(Amendments) Financial Liabilities
HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and
(Amendments) Continuation of Hedge
Accounting
HK (IFRIC) — Int 21 Levies

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
Investment Entities

The Group has applied the amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 Investment Entities for the first time
in the current year. The amendments to HKFRS 10 define an
investment entity and require a reporting entity that meets
the definition of an investment entity not to consolidate its
subsidiaries but instead to measure its subsidiaries at fair value
through profit or loss in its consolidated and separate financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
Investment Entities (Continued)

To qualify as an investment entity, a reporting entity is required
to:

e  obtain funds from one or more investors for the purpose
of providing them with investment management services;

e commit to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to
invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation,
investment income, or both; and

e  measure and evaluate performance of substantially all of
its investments on a fair value basis.

Consequential amendments have been made to HKFRS 12
and HKAS 27 to introduce new disclosure requirements for
investment entities.

As the Company is not an investment entity (assessed based
on the criteria set out in HKFRS 10 as at 1 April 2014),
the application of the amendments has had no impact on
the disclosures or the amounts recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 32
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities for the first
time in the current year. The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify
the requirements relating to the offset of financial assets and
financial liabilities. Specifically, the amendments clarify the
meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off’
and ‘simultaneous realisation and settlement’.

The amendments have been applied retrospectively. The
Group has assessed whether certain of its financial assets and
financial liabilities qualify for offset based on the criteria set out
in the amendments and concluded that the application of the
amendments has had no impact on the amounts recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 39 Novation
of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting for
the first time in the current year. The amendments to HKAS
39 provide relief from the requirement to discontinue hedge
accounting when a derivative designated as a hedging
instrument is novated under certain circumstances. The
amendments also clarify that any change to the fair value
of the derivative designated as a hedging instrument arising
from the novation should be included in the assessment and
measurement of hedge effectiveness.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting (Continued)

The amendments have been applied retrospectively. As the
Group does not have any derivatives that are subject to
novation, the application of these amendments has had no
impact on the disclosures or on the amounts recognised in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HK(IFRIC) - Int 21 Levies

The Group has applied HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 Levies for the
first time in the current year. HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 addresses
the issue as to when to recognise a liability to pay a levy
imposed by a government. The Interpretation defines a levy,
and specifies that the obligating event that gives rise to the
liability is the activity that triggers the payment of the levy, as
identified by legislation. The Interpretation provides guidance
on how different levy arrangements should be accounted for,
in particular, it clarifies that neither economic compulsion nor
the going concern basis of financial statements preparation
implies that an entity has a present obligation to pay a levy that
will be triggered by operating in a future period.

HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 has been applied retrospectively. The
application of this Interpretation has had no material impact on
the disclosures or on the amounts recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new or revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

2. ERHMITREETEEMBREER
(BBMBREEN]) (&)

B BB RERZH T REBTE R

BwEEL

AEBEW BB PRA TS R/ME R RE
MR RBERT BB |G LR :

HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9
(Amendments)

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10 (Amendments),
HKFRS 12 (Amendments)

and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

HKFRS 11
(Amendments)

HKFRS 14

HKFRS 15

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 16 and HKAS 38
(Amendments)

HKAS 16 and HKAS 41
(Amendments)

HKAS 19 (2011)
(Amendments)
HKAS 27 (Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

Mandatory Effective Date of BERMBRELER
HKFRS 9 and Transaction ETHRREBBHG
Disclosure! A E R 9%

(BETA)

Financial Instruments' BT BREES

FEO5R

Investment Equities: Applying AR BImEER

the Consolidation Exception® F105% (BT A) -
BB EREER

F125% (BFTA) &
BB G KR F26%,

CHEY

Accounting for Acquisitions of BN BRELER
Interest in Joint Operations® EF15 (B A)

Regulatory Deferral Accounts? BN BRE LR

FE145%

Revenue from Contracts with BEMBRELERE
Customers?® 1658

Presentation of Financial BB G ERIE1HR
Statements — Disclosure (BETA)
Initiative®

Clarification of Acceptable BB g £
Methods of Depreciation and R EN
Amortisation? AR 385

(BETK)

Agriculture: Bearer Plants® BRI

R EN
SRR B4R
(BETA)

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee BB G ERIE195

Contributions® (Z2—%)
(BRI A)

Equity Method in Separate BR G ERE27%
Financial Statements? (BETA)

Sale or Contribution of Assets BB RS ER
between an Investor and its F10RREB
Associate or Joint Venture® SRR B 285

(BETAK)
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue not yet effective
(Continueq)

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle®

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle*

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle®

% Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
with earlier application permitted.

4 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on or
after 1 January 2016, with early application permitted.

% Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017,
with earlier application permitted.

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with
earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016,
with earlier application permitted.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with
earlier application permitted.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9
was subsequently amended in 2010 to include requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities
and for derecognition, and further amended in 2013 to include
the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another
revised version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 mainly to
include a) impairment requirements for financial assets and b)
limited amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other
comprehensive income’ measurement category for certain
simple debt instruments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

2. ERHMITREETEEMBREER
(IEBMBREE]) (&)

B BB RERZH T REBTE R
B|EER (&)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued) BEEYNBHERERFIFLHMTA ()

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below: BBV BWE LR FEW 2 2R E 4

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement are subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
reporting periods. Debt instruments that are held within
a business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income. All other debt investments
and equity investments are measured at their fair value at
the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrecoverable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair value
of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in
other comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue not yet effective
(Continueq)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS
9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in
the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS 39,
the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as fair value through profit or
loss was presented in profit or loss.

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for
expected credit losses and changes in those expected
credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is
no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred
before credit losses are recognised.

The new general hedge accounting requirements retain
the three types of hedge accounting. However, greater
flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions
eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the
types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments
and the types of risk components of non-financial items
that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the
effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with
the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective
assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer
required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about
an entity’s risk management activities have also been
introduced.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that HKFRS 9
that will be adopted in the Group’s consolidate financial
statements for the annual period beginning 1 January
2018 and that the application of new standard may have a
significant impact on amounts reported in respect of Group’s
financial assets. However, it is not practical to provide a
reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review has
been completed.

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts, describes regulatory
deferral account balances as amounts of expense or
income that would not be recognised as assets or liabilities
in accordance with other standards, but that qualify to be
deferred in accordance with HKFRS 14 because the amount
is included, or is expected to be included, by the rate regulator
in establishing the price(s) that an entity can charge to
customers for rate regulated goods or services.

The amendments to HKFRS 14 apply prospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The directors
of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these
amendments to HKFRS 14 will have a material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions
of Interests in Joint Operations

The amendments to HKFRS 11 provide guidance on how to
account for the acquisition of a joint operation that constitutes
a business as defined in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.
Specifically, the amendments state that the relevant principles
on accounting for business combinations in HKFRS 3
and other standards (e.g. HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets
regarding impairment testing of a cash generating unit to
which goodwill on acquisition of a joint operation has been
allocated) should be applied. The same requirements should
be applied to the formation of a joint operation if and only if an
existing business is contributed to the joint operation by one
of the parties that participate in the joint operation.

A joint operator is also required to disclose the relevant
information required by HKFRS 3 and other standards for
business combinations.

The amendments to HKFRS 11 apply prospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The directors
of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these
amendments to HKFRS 11 will have a material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related Interpretations when it becomes effective.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically,
the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

e  Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

e  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

The Directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15
in the future may have a material impact on the amounts
reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the Group
performs a detailed review.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of
Acceptable Method of Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit entities from using a
revenue-based depreciation method for items of property,
plant and equipment. The amendments to HKAS 38
introduce a rebuttable presumption that revenue is not an
appropriate basis for amortisation of an intangible asset. This
presumption can only be rebutted in the following two limited
circumstances:

a) when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of
revenue; or

b) when it can be demonstrated that revenue and
consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible
asset are highly correlated.

The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Currently, the
Group uses the straight-line method for depreciation and
amortisation for its property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets respectively. The directors of the Company
believe that the straight-line method is the most appropriate
method to reflect the consumption of economic benefits
inherent in the respective assets and accordingly, the directors
of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these
amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 will have a material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 Agriculture:
Bearer Plants

The amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 define a bearer
plant and require biological assets that meet the definition
of a bearer plant to be accounted for as property, plant and
equipment in accordance with HKAS 16, instead of HKAS
41. The produce growing on bearer plants continues to be
accounted for in accordance with HKAS 41.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of these amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS
41 will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as the Group is not engaged in
agricultural activities.

Amendments to HKAS 19 (2011) Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions

The amendments to HKAS 19 (2011) clarify how an entity
should account for contributions made by employees or third
parties to defined benefit plans, based on whether those
contributions are dependent on the number of years of service
provided by the employee.

For contributions that are independent of the number of years
of service, the entity may either recognise the contributions as
a reduction in the service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered, or to attribute them to the employees’
periods of service using the projected unit credit method;
whereas for contributions that are dependent on the number
of years of service, the entity is required to attribute them to the
employees’ periods of service.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

Amendments to HKAS 19 (2011) Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions (Continued)

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of these amendments to HKAS 19 (2011) will have
a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as the Group does not have any defined benefit
plans.

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

The amendments allow an entity to account for investments
in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in its separate
financial statements:

e At cost;

e |n accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(or HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement for entities that have not yet adopted
HKFRS 9); or

e Using the equity method as described in HKAS 28
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.

The accounting option must be applied by category of
investments.

The amendments also clarify that when a parent ceases to
be an investment entity, or becomes an investment entity, it
shall account for the change from the date when the change
in status occurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements (Continued)

In addition to the amendments to HKAS 27, there are
consequential amendments to HKAS 28 to avoid a potential
conflict with HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
and to HKFRS 1 First time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of these amendments to HKAS 27 will have
a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

Amendments to HKAS 28:

e The requirements on gains and losses resulting from
transactions between an entity and its associate or joint
venture have been amended to relate only to assets that
do not constitute a business.

e A new requirement has been introduced that gains or
losses from downstream transactions involving assets
that constitute a business between an entity and its
associate or joint venture must be recognised in full in the
investor’s financial statements.

e A requirement has been added that an entity needs to
consider whether assets that are sold or contributed in
separate transactions constitute a business and should
be accounted for as a single transaction.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10:

An exception from the general requirement of full gain
or loss recognition has been introduced into HKFRS 10
for the loss control of a subsidiary that does not contain
a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method.

New guidance has been introduced requiring that
gains or losses resulting from those transactions are
recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or
joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from
the remeasurement at fair value of investments retained
in any former subsidiary that has become an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method are recognised in the former parent’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests
in the new associate or joint venture.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of these amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 — 2012 Cycle
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs, which
are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 2 (i) change the definitions
of ‘vesting condition” and ‘market condition’; and (ii) add
definitions for ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’
which were previously included within the definition of ‘vesting
condition’. The amendments to HKFRS 2 are effective for
share-based payment transactions for which the grant date is
on or after 1 July 2014.

The amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify that contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability should
be measured at fair value at each reporting date, irrespective
of whether the contingent consideration is a financial
instrument within the scope of HKFRS 9 or HKAS 39 or a
non-financial asset or liability. Changes in fair value (other than
measurement period adjustments) should be recognised in
profit and loss. The amendments to HKFRS 3 are effective for
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after 1 July 2014.

The amendments to HKFRS 8 (i) require an entity to disclose
the judgements made by management in applying the
aggregation criteria to operating segments, including a
description of the operating segments aggregated and the
economic indicators assessed in determining whether the
operating segments have ‘similar economic characteristics’;
and (i) clarify that a reconciliation of the total of the reportable
segments’ assets to the entity’s assets should only be
provided if the segment assets are regularly provided to the
chief operating decision-maker.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle
(Continueq)

The amendments to the basis for conclusions of HKFRS
13 clarify that the issue of HKFRS 13 and consequential
amendments to HKAS 39 and HKFRS 9 did not remove
the ability to measure short term receivables and payables
with no stated interest rate at their invoice amounts without
discounting, if the effect of discounting is immaterial. As the
amendments do not contain any effective date, they are
considered to be immediately effective.

The amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 remove
perceived inconsistencies in the accounting for accumulated
depreciation/amortisation when an item of property, plant and
equipment or an intangible asset is revalued. The amended
standards clarify that the gross carrying amount is adjusted
in @ manner consistent with the revaluation of the carrying
amount of the asset and that accumulated depreciation/
amortisation is the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the carrying amount after taking into account
accumulated impairment losses.

The amendments to HKAS 24 clarify that a management
entity providing key management personnel service to a
reporting entity is a related party of the reporting entity.
Consequently, the reporting entity should disclose as related
party transactions the amounts incurred for the service paid
or payable to the management entity for the provision of key
management personnel services. However, disclosure of the
components of such compensation is not required.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of these amendments will have a material effect on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011 — 2013 Cycle
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs, which
are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify that the standard does
not apply to the accounting for the formation of all types
of joint arrangement in the financial statements of the joint
arrangement itself.

The amendments to HKFRS 13 clarify that the scope of the
portfolio exception for measuring the fair value of a group of
financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis includes
all contracts that are within the scope of, and accounted
for in accordance with, HKAS 39 or HKFRS 9, even if those
contracts do not meet the definitions of financial assets or
financial liabilities within HKAS 32.

The amendments to HKAS 40 clarify that HKAS 40 and
HKFRS 3 are not mutually exclusive and application of both
standards may be required. Consequently, an entity acquiring
investment property must determine whether:

a) the property meets the definition of investment property
in terms of HKAS 40; and

b) the transaction meets the definition of business
combination under HKFRS 3.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the

application of these amendments will have a material effect on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012 — 2014 Cycle
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs, which
are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 introduce specific guidance in
HKFRS 5 for when an entity reclassifies an asset (or disposal
group) from held for sale to held for distribution to owners
(or vice versa), or when held-for-distribution accounting is
discontinued. The amendments apply prospectively.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 provide additional guidance to
clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing involvement
in a transferred asset for the purpose of the disclosures
required in relation to transferred assets and clarify that
the offsetting disclosures (introduced in the amendments
to HKFRS 7 Disclosure — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities issued in December 2011 and effective for
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) are not explicitly
required for all interim periods. However, the disclosures may
need to be included in condensed interim financial statements
to comply with HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.

The amendments to HKAS 19 clarify that the high quality
corporate bonds used to estimate the discount rate for
post-employment benefits should be issued in the same
currency as the benefits to be paid. These amendments would
result in the depth of the market for high quality corporate
bonds being assessed at currency level. The amendments
apply from the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented in the financial statements in which the
amendments are first applied. Any initial adjustment arising
should be recognised in retained earnings at the beginning of
that period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle
(Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 34 clarify the requirements
relating to information required by HKAS 34 that is presented
elsewhere within the interim financial report but outside the
interim financial statements. The amendments require that
such information be incorporated by way of a cross reference
from the interim financial statements to the other part of the
interim financial report that is available to users on the same
terms and at the same time as the interim financial statements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of these will have a material effect on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(@) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the disclosures
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Going concern

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group notwithstanding that:

e  The Group has incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$41,723,000 during the year ended 31 March
2015 and, as of that date, the Group’s total
liabilities exceeded its total assets by approximately
HK$28,966,000.

The directors adopted the going concern basis in the
preparation of financial statements and implemented
the following measures in order to improve the working
capital and liquidity and cash flow position of the Group:

(1) Financial supports

China Xinhua NNC, one of the major shareholders
and convertible notes holder, has confirmed to
provide continuing financial support to the Group
to enable it to continue as a going concern and to
settle the liabilities as and when they fall due.

(2) Alternative source of funding

The Group is actively considering to raise new
capital by carrying out fund raising activities
including but not limited to rights issue, open offer,
placing of new shares and issuance of convertible
notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015

BE_F—hF=A=1+—HIFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continueq)

(b)

(c)

Going concern (Continued)

In the opinion of the directors, in light of the various
measures/arrangements implemented after the end
of the reporting period, the Group will have sufficient
working capital for its current requirements and it is
reasonable to expect the Group to remain a commercially
viable concern. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied
that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements
on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any future liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities
as current assets and liabilities respectively. The effect of
these adjustments has not been reflected in the financial
statements.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for assets.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Basis of preparation (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS
17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirely, which
are described as follows:

e |evel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e | evel 3inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continueq) 3. wWEEE (&)

d) DERZHRESR

(d) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars (HK$'000) except otherwise
indicated.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

e  has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(@) Basis of consolidation (Continueq)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group'’s voting rights in
an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

®  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and,

e  any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EREFHE (£)

(a) REEE(#)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component item of other Ba kAt 2 ZEA/KIEE
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of DHEBRARAIHEE A RIFEZERE

the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (i) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BERETTBE (£)

(b) EBEH(E)

(b) Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below); and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (i
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Business combinations (Continueq)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value
or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another
HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period”
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(b)

(c)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would
have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

Investments in subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Company is
able to exercise control. Control is achieved where the
Company, directly or indirectly, has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that are presently exercisable are
taken into account.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Goodwill

(e)

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # %= —

—AF=A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(e)

Interests in joint operations (Continued)

When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint
operations, the Group as a joint operator recognises in
relation to its interest in a joint operation:

e jts assets, including its share of any assets held
jointly;

e its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities
incurred jointly;

e jts revenue from the sale of its share of the output
arising from the joint operation;

e jts share of the revenue from the sale of the output
by the joint operation; and

e jts expenses, including its share of any expenses
incurred jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with other parties to the joint
operation, and gains and losses resulting from the sale or
contribution are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation
in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its
share of the gains and losses until it resells those asset to
a third party.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

() Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than properties under construction) less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The
principal annual rates used for the current year are as
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improvements the leases, whichever is shorter

Machinery 20% — 30%
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fixtures

Office equipment
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20%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised
as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the consolidated statement of financial
position as a finance lease obligation.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line
basis, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(h)

(i

@)

Intangible assets (Continueq)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
(Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are reported at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful lives and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.

Film rights

Film rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. Cost comprises
direct production expenditures and an appropriate
portion of production overheads. The cost of film rights
are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in accordance
with a formula computed to write off the cost over the
broadcast period.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised

when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

@)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, available-for-sale financial assets and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method (Continued)

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis

for debt instruments other than those financial assets

classified as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as at fair value through

profit or loss when the financial asset is either held for

trading or it is designated as at fair value through profit or

loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of

short-term profit-taking; or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading may be designated as at fair value through profit
or loss upon initial recognition if:

e  such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

e the financial assets forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits
the entire combined contract to be designated as at
fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item. Fair
value is determined in the manner described in note 46.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015

BE_F—hF=A=+—HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

@)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Avallable-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not
classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity
investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives
that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such ungquoted equity instruments are measured at cost
less any identified impairment losses at the end of each
reporting period (see accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

@)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through
profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets
are considered to be impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have
been affected.

For available-for-sale equity investments, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

e  breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

@)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period of 30 days, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at amortised cost,
the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods (see the accounting policy below).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

@)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered
to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

@)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments,
impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in
fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised
directly in equity. In respect of available-for-sale debt
investments, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair
value of the investment can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the recognition of the impairment
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group
entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

@)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Convertible notes

The component parts of compound instruments
(convertible notes) issued by the Company are classified
separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised
cost basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income
tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible notes, the balance recognised in equity will
be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

@)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are recognised directly in equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability component and are
amortised over the lives of the convertible notes using the
effective interest method.

Promissory note

Promissory note is recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables, finance lease payables and bank overdraft)
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

@)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premium or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis other than financial liabilities designated as at fair
value through profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z_—ZF

—AF=H=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

@)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its
entirety, the Group allocates the previous carrying amount
of the financial asset between the part it continues
to recognise, and the part it no longer recognises on
the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on
the date of the transfer. The difference between the
carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer
recognised and the sum of the consideration received for
the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain
or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that
continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those
parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract
amount and appropriate amounts for variation orders
and claims. Contract costs comprise direct materials,
costs of subcontracting, direct labour, borrowing
costs attributable directly to the construction and an
appropriate portion of variable and fixed construction
overheads.

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion of contract costs incurred
for work performed to date relative to the estimated
total contract costs, except where this would not be
representative of the stage of completion. Variations
in contract work, claims and incentive payments are
included to the extent that the amount can be measured
reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses
in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as
an expense immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z_—ZF

—AF=H=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(k) Construction contracts (Continueq)

()

When contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is shown as amounts due from customers
for contract work. For contracts where progress billings
exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown
as the amounts due to customers for contract work.
Amounts received before the related work is performed
are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position, as a liability, as advances received under trade
and other payables. Amounts billed for work performed
but not yet paid by the customer are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under trade
and other receivables.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and applicable selling expense.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.
Revenue is recognised as follows:

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised on
the percentage of completion method, measured by
reference to the certification by architects. If the certificate
of architects was not provided, revenue is recognised
by reference to the proportion of actual costs incurred
up to the date to the estimated total cost of the relevant
contract.

Advertising revenue, net of agency commission expenses,
is recognised upon the broadcast of advertisements.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established (provided that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z - F—AF=HA=+—HIFFEZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BERETTBE (£)

(n) Taxation (n) B1E

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before income tax’
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEXRETTBE (£)

(n) Taxation (Continued)

(n) BiE (&)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuead)
(n) Taxation (Continued)
Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

(o) Employee benefits
1. Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

2. Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised when
they accrue to employees. In particular, a provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of reporting period. Non-accumulating
compensated absences such as sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Employee benefits (Continued)
3. Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

4. Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments payable on cessation of employment
in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit method, discounted to its present value and
reduced by entitiements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plans that are attributable to contributions
made by the Group.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(p)

(@)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(r)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z - F—AF=HA=+—HIFFEZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BERETTBE (£)

(s) Foreign currencies (s) IhiE

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than
the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserve.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Segment information

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family

is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(u) Related parties (Continued)

@

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

condition applies:

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third party.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsorship employers
are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).

A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Related parties (Continued)

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.

(v) Current assets and current liabilities

Current assets are expected to be realised within twelve
months of the reporting date or in the normal course of
the operating cycle. Current liabilities are expected to be
settled within twelve months of the reporting date or in
the normal course of the operating cycle.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, management is required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgments, apart from those

involving estimations (see below), that management has made

in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies

and that have the most significant effect on the amounts

recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

()

Construction contract revenue recognition

According to the accounting policies of construction
contracts as stated in note 4(k), the Group uses the
percentage of completion method to determine the
appropriate revenues to be recognised in a given period.
If the construction contract works are not certified, the
stage of completion is measured by reference to the
contract costs incurred up to the end of the reporting
period as percentage of total estimated costs for each
contract.

Upon applying the percentage of completion method, the
Group needs to estimate the gross profit margin of each
construction contract, which was determined based on
the estimated total construction contract costs and total
construction contract sum, including confirmed variation
orders and claims, and liquidated damages. If the actual
gross profit margin of construction contract differs from
the management’s estimates, the construction contract
revenue to be recognised within the next year will need to
be adjusted accordingly.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables

The provision for impairment loss on trade and other
receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation
of collectability and aging analysis of accounts and
on management’s judgment. A considerable amount
of judgment is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
account. If the financial conditions of the debtors were
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to
make payments, additional allowances may be required.

(i) Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
management to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

The carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets
as at 31 March 2015 were approximately HK$nil and
approximately HK$141,081,000 respectively (2014: HK$
nil and approximately HK$163,040,000). Details of the
impairment loss calculation are disclosed in note 21.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continueq)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Impairment of assets

The Group assesses annually whether the financial
assets and non-financial assets have suffered any
impairment in accordance with accounting policies
stated in note 4(j) and 4(p) respectively. The assets
are reviewed for the impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
The determination of recoverable amount requires an
estimation of future cash flows and the selection of
appropriate discount rates.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for the
Group’s property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation
charge where useful lives are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

Useful lives of broadcasting right

The Group determines the estimated useful life at
10 years and related amortisation charges for its
broadcasting right. The estimate is based on the license
period of the broadcasting right acquired. Management
will revise the amortisation charge where the useful life is
difference to the one previously estimated.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Useful lives of film rights

The Group determines the estimated useful life in
accordance to the broadcast period of individual film
rights and amortisation for film rights is charged in
accordance to the broadcast period of individual film
rights. The estimate is based on forecasted customer
attrition pattern with reference to similar market
information. Management will revise the amortisation
charge where the useful life is difference to the one
previously estimated.

Valuation of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value at the end of the reporting period.
Net realisable value is determined on the basis of
the estimated selling price less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. The directors estimate the
net realisable value for construction materials based
primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. In addition, the directors perform an inventory
review on a product-by-product basis at the end of each
reporting period and assess the need for write down of
inventories.

(viii) Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
accordingly be adjusted in the relevant tax account in the
year in which such determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z_—ZF

6. REVENUE

Revenue recognised during the years ended 31 March 2015

and 2014 were as follows:

Construction works
Advertising income

7. OTHER INCOME

Other income recognised during the years ended 31 March

2015 and 2014 were as follows:

Interest income

Waiver of interests on promissory
note (note 36)

Waiver of interests on convertible
notes (note 37)

Sundry income
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—AF=H=+—HIFE

BETR
BEERA

B BA

RERAELEEZFE

(H17£36)

RERATRBRRRZHE

(H1:£37)
HETE WA

W 3

BE_T-AFE-_FT-MF=A=1—
Etifﬁuzw WT~

2015 2014
—E-1fF —F—MmF
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET TAT
358,684 303,384
10,951 20,947
369,635 324,331
H i A
BE—_Z-AFR-F-HAF=A=1—
EﬁEEﬁEZH@%AmT
2015 2014
—E-RF —T-F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET TAT
49 18
4,054 -
- 30,691
33 252
4,136 30,961




OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HftWzmRER

Other gains and losses recognised during the years ended 31 BHE_ T hAFE-_T—HNF=HA=1+—
March 2015 and 2014 were as follows: HiEFEmR Al REBINT
2015 2014
—E-IF —FmF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Exchange (loss)/gain, net N (E518), W F 5 (80) 1
Net gains/(losses) on disposal of HEMFE WER&EZ
property, plant and equipment Wz (E518) F5 1,455 (13)
Gains arising from extension of IERAHBBES 2 W
promissory note 8,708 e
Realised gain/(loss) arising on change B BIEZIEAFEAR 2
in fair value of financial assets ERMEEZATEE
at fair value through profit or loss EErzEmERNE (EE) 493 (1,311)
Unrealised gain/(loss) arising on change & @i IZ A FEARZ
in fair value of financial assets ERMEELAFEEH
at fair value through profit or loss EEZAERKE (EE) 9 (1,984)
10,585 (3,307)
SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. FWER
Information reported to the executive directors of the MARRIMITES (AEEEEREE)FR
Company, being the chief operating decision maker, for the ERUEESREREF GO BREAZE
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment BREFRIR Mk iR 2 RS 1EE A :

performance focuses on types of services delivered or
provided are:

()  Provision of waterworks engineering services — provision () BEKBIERE - REBEREEF
of waterworks engineering services, road works and REKBIERYS BEIERER
drainage services and site formation works for public AR% - IME B AR TR THR

sector in Hong Kong;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # %= —

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

—AF=A=+—HIFE

(i)  Television broadcasting business — the business of

broadcasting television programmes on television

channels operated by television broadcasting companies
in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) in return for

advertising and related revenue; and

(i) Large outdoor display screen advertisement business —

the business of broadcasting advertisements on large

outdoor display screens in the PRC.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately
as each of the product and service lines requires different

resources as well as marketing approaches.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable segment.

For the year ended 31 March 2015

Revenue from external customers
Inter-segment sales DEEHEE
Other income and gains Hit A Rz

Reportable segment revenue

Reportable segment results DEEEES
Unallocated corporate income RABEERA
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOBLERR
Finance costs BEKA

BRET1S B BB 1B

Loss before income tax

DEER (&)

(i) BERBREF—ELLREKRRE (
FEHE) 2 BRBENAFFTEE
RIFEHEITEARE B BIUARGE
RS 55 &

)
==
=B
=
BH

(iii K“ﬁ%%%EF¢¥W*E&%¢

AR EEEMMRBENFETRNER
AR HERARREEFE R EMEEE
DR D FE R

2 R A

AREBIZAI Z2|MOBEI DR EREED
Moo e

BE-Z—HFE=A=1+—HLEE

RESNBER 2

Provision of Large outdoor
waterworks Television display screen
engineering  broadcasting advertisement
services business business Elimination Total
REEAE ER  KEFHER
IREH BREYR REEXH E3E] st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
358,684 9,881 1,070 - 369,635
- 788 - (788) -
3 1,455 - - 1,458
358,687 12,124 1,070 (788) 371,093
12,859 (25,396) (2,751) (15,288)
13,344
(17,688)
(25,720)
(45,352)
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the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 4. Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit earned/
loss incurred by each segment without allocation of interest
income, finance costs, realised gain/(loss) arising on change in
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
unrealised gain/(loss) arising on change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, waiver of interests of
promissory note, waiver of interests of convertible notes, gains
arising from extension of promissory note and income tax
expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. AHWER(£)
For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-_ZT—MF=A=+—HItFE
Provision of Large outdoor
waterworks Television  display screen
engineering broadcasting  advertisement
services business business Elimination Total
ALK B AEFHNETR
TRRIR% BHER RELEK EIf| Bt
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FETL FET FET
Revenue from external customers RENBER 2 Wz 303,384 16,932 4,015 - 324,331
Inter-segment sales 2 HEHEE - 1,288 - (1,288) -
Other income and gains H A R 252 - - - 252
Reportable segment revenue DEE:Grllen 303,636 18,220 4,015 (1,288) 324,583
Reportable segment results A2RHBEE 28,074 (480,894) 2,037 (450,783)
Unallocated corporate income RABEERA 55,323
Unallocated corporate expenses RABLERT (46,012)
Finance costs A& A (42,041)
Loss before income tax BRETEHATEE (483,513)
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue EXEHHN D ERERRBINGER 2
generated from external customers. W &S o
The accounting policies of the operating segments are EIE D IR FTBUR B 4R B AR E

SETBERAR - D EEF, (BE)NED
ERDEMBWA  BEKA FEiBIER
BAFEARZEMEEATFTEEDES
ZERRUE (BR) BBBRERAT
BEARZEREERN T EESESE ZRME
R (BR) RBREARERZFES -
RHRABERBECANE ERALRRE
HE 7 Wk T PR AS T5 BE S AT P BREREN & 1),
ELXNBE LKA TELERREZR
AHEDBEERRFEDMRAZFTES
o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuead)
Segment assets and liabilities

At 31 March 2015

9. oHER (&)

THMEERERE

R-ZE-—RFE=HA=+—H

Provision of Large outdoor
waterworks Television display screen
engineering broadcasting advertisement
services business business Total
KEFH
REEKH ER ETRES
IRR% BHER % st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Segment assets NEEE 129,475 145,299 11,132 285,906
Unallocated ROB 80,706
Consolidated assets GREE 366,612
Segment liabilities PEBE 47,879 19,674 445 67,998
Unallocated RO 327,580
Consolidated liabilties FRAR 395,578
At 31 March 2014 R-ZE-—NF=A=+—H
Provision of Large outdoor
waterworks Television  display screen
engineering  broadcasting  advertisement
services business business Total
AELF4
R BY  ERRES \
TR B ¥% st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
Segment assets DEEE 118,012 165,051 11,027 294,090
Unallocated L 38,867
Consolidated assets HREE 332,957
Segment liabilities nEaE 53,005 25,754 140 78,899
Unallocated RAEE 661,997
Consolidated liabilities TeaB 740,896

.I 62 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015




SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continueq)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continueq)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other than

available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss, cash and cash equivalents,

tax recoverable and assets for corporate use. Goodwill is

allocated to segment of television broadcasting business;

and

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other

than bank overdraft, convertible notes, current and

deferred tax liabilities, finance lease payables and

promissory note.

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2015

Additions to non-current assets
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment
Amortisation of film rights
Amortisation of intangible assets

Net gains on disposal of property,

plant and equipment

REFNYEE
#%% BB kR ETE

ERRER
BIVEEEH

HENE FFER&HELZ

Wizs %

9.

DTHER (&)

ITHEEREE (&)

RERDMERAMDESBER :

KAt EemEE BRIBEEA
FTEARZzeHEE RekiReE
F%‘TW@&E&ﬁiﬁtﬁéﬂ’
FIBEEENTREEENH -BED
NEEBRBFREBFSEL: &

BBTEY - TIRRES - HH R
BOR AR BA R (A OE R
= AR B S RELEHE

Hit 7 BE R

BE-Z—HF=A=+—HLEE

Provision of
waterworks
engineering
services
Rt
KBIRE
PR
HK$'000
FET

11,417
13,548

1,455

Large outdoor

Television display screen

broadcasting advertisement

business business Unallocated Total
AEFEH

BHES BEEER ROE ‘st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

- 1,934 898 14,249

1 2,217 2,499 18,265

2,129 - - 2,129

21,959 - - 21,959

- - - 1,455
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For the year ended 31 March 2015

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

BE_F—hF=A=+—HIFFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2014

Additions to non-current assets
Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment
Amortisation of film rights
Amortisation of intangible assets
Net losses on disposal of property,

plant and equipment
Impairment loss recognised

in respect of goodwill
Impairment loss recognised

in respect of intangible assets
Impairment loss recognised

in respect of trade receivables

DEER (&)

Hibp &R (£)

BE-T-ME=A=t—ALFE

Revenue from major products and services

The Group’s revenue from its major products and services

were as follows:

Construction works
Advertising income

Provision of Large outdoor
waterworks Television  display screen
engineering broadcasting  advertisement
services business business Unallocated Total
R NIE
KL BiR N
FRi5 EHE BEE ROME @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FET FHET
REFRDEE 16,315 7 11,753 79 28,154
nE- BERRENE
11,633 1 1,186 2,297 15,117
EFRIERA - 1,231 - - 1,231
B EEEH - 58,232 - - 58,232
HEME BERREZ
BEFE 13 - - - 13
HEERAZAEER
- 151,194 - - 151,194
REVEERRREEE
- 269,309 - - 269,309
B W IERER
REEE = 9,469 - - 9,469
REXFEEREBRBZWA
AEEREHEHFZEERERE 2B AL
T
2015 2014
—E-hF —T—OF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
BETRE 358,684 303,384
B E A 10,951 20,947
369,635 324,331
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information
The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong

and the PRC. The following table provides an analysis of the
Group’s revenue by location of customers:

Hong Kong S
PRC s
Overseas g 4N

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-
current assets (excluding available-for-sale financial assets)
analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are

located:
Hong Kong BB
PRC h

DTHER (&)

REBZEBETEZMNERBRTE - TRIZ
HmEPUES D 2 AEBKE 2 DT

2015 2014
—E-RF —ZE—puF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
358,884 320,916
4,060 2,632

6,691 783
369,635 324,331

AT RREEMEEST ZIERBEE
(TERAHLESREE) CRESEL

ZUIE

2015 2014
—2-1%F —F—NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
171,635 197,609
10,237 10,615
181,872 208,224

2014/2015 SR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuead)
Information about major customers

Included in revenue arising from provision of waterworks
engineering services of approximately HK$358,684,000
(2014: approximately HK$303,384,000) are revenue
generated from four (2014: three) customers amounting
to approximately HK$357,617,000 (2014: approximately
HK$263,980,000) has individually accounted for over 10%
of the Group’s total revenue. No other single customers
contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue for years
ended 31 March 2015 and 2014.

Revenue from major customers is as follows:

Customer A EFH
Customer B P
Customer C PR
Customer D xFPT
Others Efb

.I & CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

DEER (&)
FHRXERFZENR

REXEIERBAEEORELD
358,684,000 L (ZZEE —WF: 4
303,384,000 )R BFEHMNA (=
T -—MNF: =ZRB)BPFROKE L
357,617,000 T (ZE—MWF: 4
263,980,0007% 7T ) fB 5l 2 & B 42 4 75 &9
10%A L - BEEME -—FXFRBEE_T
—hERZZTE-—NF=A=+—RHIFE
HAREBUZE10%3 A E o

REEXBEFZWESIWT:
2015 2014
—E-HF —T—mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TAET TETL
56,388 12,936
42,422 142,130
204,402 83,737
54,405 38,113
12,018 47,415
369,635 324,331




10. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

Loss from operations has been arrived

at after charging:

Contract costs recognised as expenses

Amortisation of film rights (included
in amortisation expenses)
Amortisation of intangible assets

(included in amortisation expenses)
Television broadcasting right fee and

television satellite fees
(included in cost of services)
Expenses incurred in provision of
large outdoor display screen
advertisement business
(included in cost of services)
Auditors’ remuneration
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment’
Staff costs (note 11)

Operating lease rentals in respect of

rented premises

expenses and expenses incurred in provision of large outdoor

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$13,002,000 (2014: approximately HK$11,342,000) and
approximately HK$2,292,000 (2014: approximately HK$1,199,000)
have been separately expensed in contract costs recognised as

10. £ EFHE

SEERIDEHRIATSEAR

HEG

BRAFAXZA KRR

BRI (BN EH
S )

B EE#E (BRENEH
Sz )

ERENEERMNEEERER
(BRERREKAH)

RERIFINER B
BEERBMELZHAX
(BRERREKAH)

2GR
ME - BELREBITE

BITRRA(HaE11)
HHAMEZELHERS

display screen advertisement business respectively.

2015
—E-EF
HK$’000
FET

333,532

2,129

21,959

10,284

2,737
680

18,265
80,197

19,127

2014
—ZE—E
HK$'000
FETT

264,671

1,231

58,232

8,361

1,199
680

o117
72,703

19,870

W BB REEITEA13,002,0008 7T (=
T[4 : #911,342,00078 7T ) & 492,292,000
B (ZZ—4 : £91,199,000/87T) E 2 5
STAER BRI Z A KA REEREF I
BrRESERMEEZRAY -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

11. STAFF COSTS 11. ETRA
2015 2014
—E—H=E S — (| EE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Staff costs (including directors’ BIA(BREESTMN) 21
remuneration) comprise:
Wages, salaries and other benefits ITE HFehHEMmER 77,823 70,526
Contribution to defined JE R FORRET S K
contribution retirement plan 2,374 2,177
80,197 72,703
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. @E KA
2015 2014
—E—H=E —EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Interest on: LATNEIEZFE
Finance leases payables A& H & B 375 202
Bank overdraft wholly repayable RAFABHEEZRITES
within five years 183 21
Promissory note (note 36) A E® (H:236) 2,665 2,520
Convertible notes (note 37) MR EE (#i37) 22,497 39,278
25,720 42,041
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(i)

Directors’ remuneration

The aggregate amounts of the remuneration paid and
payable to the directors of the Company by the Group
for the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014 were as
follows:

13. EEMERSREEENS

(i) ESE&

AEERBEE_ZT—HAFRER-_ZT—NO
FZA=+t—HLEFEENREMA
NAEF M@ T

Contributions
to retirement
Salaries and benefit
Fees other benefits Bonus schemes Total
ek RIKEEA
ne Hit iR A SHEIfR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2015 BE-Z-1%
ZA=t-BLEE
Executive director and HITEERTHAEH

chief executive officer
Mr. Zou Chen Dong PEREE - 972 50 - 1,022
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Zhang Hao (note (a)) RIS E (HiiteE) - 7 - - 7
Mr. Wu Jin Cai fnote (d)) RBA KA (7)) - 6 - - 6
Dr. Lee Yuk Lun (‘Dr. Lee”) FEBEL ([2BL]) - 12 - 1 13
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (‘Mr. Kan”)  BE&EL4E ([R%£]) - 1,812 - 18 1,830
Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John HEE L ([HEE])

(“Mr. Chia”) - 758 40 18 816
Non-executive Directors HHTEE
Dr. Li Yong Sheng FRAEL 12 - - - 12
Ms. Liang Hui (note (a)) REL+ (M) 5 - - - 5
Independent Non-executive Directors B AEHTEE
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron (note (b))~ F 532564 (52 (b)) 21 - - - 21
Mr. Jin Hai Tao HEELE 136 - - - 136
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth EBERE (M)

(note (c)) 136 - - - 136
Mr. Hau Chi Kit (note (g)) EHEELE (Hie) 136 - - - 136
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, lvan (note (f) KRB (Hz0) 112 - - - 112

558 3,567 90 37 4,252

2014/2015 Fik HPEFESHIEZERERLT 1&




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(i) Directors’ remuneration (Continuead)

13. EEMESRSREEEMS (&)

(i) E=ME (£2)

Contributions
Salaries and to retirement
Fees  other benefits Bonus benefit schemes Total
ek RS RH
e H A 2 7l Te4r Tl Hobs
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FAET FHET FET
Year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_Z-mF
=“A=+—HALEE
Executive director and HITEERITHARE

chief executive officer
Mr. Zou Chen Dong PRELAE = 708 20 = 728
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Wu Jin Cai fnote (a)) R EE (Fri2 ) - 12 = - 12
Dr. Lee Yuk Lun TEBET - 12 - 1 13
Dr. Kan Kwok Cheung B L - 1,865 151 16 2,032
Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John EE LA = 600 20 15 635
Non-executive directors HHTEE
Dr. Li Yong Sheng FxAEL 12 - - - 12
Ms. Liang Hui (note (d) RELT (HiFH0) 12 - - - 12
Indlependent non-executive directors 1B B TTEE
Mr. Jin Hai Tao HEERE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth TRERE (K2 0)

(note (c)) 35 - - = 35
Mr. Hau Chi Kit (note (g)) REGEE (Hite) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chu Siu Lun, Ivan fote (1) RIKBEEAE (HizD) 120 - = - 120
Mr. Chan Hon Yuen (note (g)) BREIRLE (M) 83 - - - 83

502 3,197 191 32 3,922
Notes: Kiat
(@) Appointed on 25 August 2014. @ RZE—NFENAZ+RHAEZRfE-
(b)  Appointed on 9 February 2015. b) RZE—RAF_ANBEZE-
(©) Appointed on 16 December 2013. © RZZE—=F+=-A+t ~AEZfE-
(d) Resigned on 15 September 2014. d RZZE—HNFNLAT+AHEE-
(e) Resigned on 18 May 2015. e RZT—NFRAA+/\BEffE-
()  Resigned on 31 January 2015. H RZE—RAF—A=+—HEE-

(@ Resigned on 10 December 2013.
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13.

14.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

None of directors agreed to wave any emoluments during
the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014 and there were
no emoluments paid by the Group to any directors or chief
executive officer as an inducement to join, or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Senior management of the Group represents the executive
directors of the Company during the years ended 31 March
2015 and 2014.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five highest paid individuals with the highest in the
Group, two (2014: one) were directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 13 above.
The emoluments of the remaining three (2014 four) individuals
were as follows:

Basic salaries, bonuses and
other allowances
Contributions to retirement RINE B FTEIH R

benefit schemes

13.

14.

AR B4R EADERE

2014/2015 SR

EEHERSREERME (&)

BE_ZE-—hFR_T—NF=A=+—
LR SESERAENEEAHNE B
AEBETERTAESRITRARNE
& AVE B 1R F A A R B S o0
A2 R SAERRERAEE -

AEERE_T-—HFE-_FT-—NFE=H
=t HBLEFEZEREREBREARAHN
TES-

BEEME

RAEEEME RS2 hERaFALTHE
EME(ZE—HF: —R)AARES"
BRAZEE M TR X 134K EE -
BREFZ(ZTE—WF - THB)ALTZHMES
AT

2015 2014
—F-1fF T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
3,165 3,998

53 60

3,218 4,058
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Their emoluments were within the following band:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000

£ %1,000,0007% 7T
1,000,000/ 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T

During the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014, none
of five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid

=5

by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as =1 6T

an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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14. EEME (&)

e FTHIEE AT

2015 2014
—E—H=E —EF
Number of Number of
employees employees

EEAE SAE
1 2
2 2
3 4

BE_ZT-AFR-FT-MF=A=1+—
BUEFE ARG HALTHEREXF
BRELMME  MANKE IER QR &
AT FERASHERB S AERE
PR F AR B LN IAR 2 Rk
ASBER RS o



15. INCOME TAX

The amount of income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

Current tax — Hong Kong profits Tax

— tax for the year —FAFIE
— over-provision in respect of —BEFEHRERE

prior years

Current tax — Macau Complementary

Tax

— tax for the year —FAHIE
Deferred tax (note 38) ERETIIE (H7iF38)

— current year —AFE
Income tax credit FrsHif e

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2014: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31
March 2015.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Company and its
subsidiaries incorporated in BVI are not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI respectively.

Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at the maximum
progressive rate of 12% on the estimated assessable profits
for the year ended 31 March 2015. No provision for Macau
Complementary Tax had been made as the subsidiary
incorporated in Macau had no assessable profits arising in
Macau during the year ended 31 March 2014.

EHRA-BENEH

2R E RIS /AN

15. Fi8 %

oS R ARGE T FERR
o -

B

2015 2014
- —F—MmF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
1,283 4,040
(169) (519)
1,114 3,621

60 -
(4,803) (55,742)
(3,629) (52,221)

EBNEHEEE_ZT—RHEFE=A
Zt+—HUEFEZGEFERBEN 2
16.5% (ZZ— P4 : 16.5% )51 & -

REASHERRBELAHS ([RBEX
HEDRUMER RARAAREREBER
RS ML Z KB A R B AR E
HERRBRIZEES B ZERMMEH-

BEMSHAARRBE_T—AF=A
=t HUEFEZAHERBEN &S
R RA12%5T B o ORI R M A L 2
BARIREBZE_T—NFEF=A=+—HIt
FREI BRI E &£ R TR A - B &
SURFIFTS A At IR 2 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

15. INCOME TAX (Continued)

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income tax has been made
as the subsidiary incorporated in the PRC had no assessable
profits arising in the PRC for the years ended 31 March 2015
and 2014.

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
income tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

15. FTiS% (&

RABEEMKAZZHBERARREE —F
ShAFR T ME=A=+—HUEFE
I 458 7 A B B AR PR AR s ) - BRI A L R
BRI HAT IR -

FARBEBRREGABR KA M2 KSR
RO Z RIS ATE R 2 BRI T

Loss before income tax BRETERAIEE

Tax calculated at the rates, applicable to %8 B R XK i A AT 5 H X

profits in the countries concerned FAEZHE

Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ FAI BT BHFRY 2
for tax purpose RETE

Tax effect of income not taxable BARROKAZ BB 2
for tax purpose

Over-provision in respect of prior years ~ BEFEBEARE

Tax effect of temporary difference AERERER BB E
not recognised

Utiization of tax losses previously PABTAEATEEE
not recognised

Tax effect of tax loss WERER ZWEF‘E =
not recognised LHBTE

Income tax credit FiEkiE%

2015 2014
—E-1% —T-JF

HK$'000 % HK$'000 %

FHET TET

(45,352) (483,513
(7,774) 17.1 (79,861) 16.5
2,955 (6.5) 25,686 (6.3)
(2,149) 47 0) -
(169) 0.4 (519) -
256 (0.5) 200 =
(234) 0.5 - -
3,483 (7.7) 2,276 (0.5)
(3,629) 8.0 (62,221) 10.7

16. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

The loss attributable to owners of the Company, which has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$60,130,000 (2014:
approximately HK$418,430,000).
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16. RATHEBAEEER

RRABIHES A (L E 18 A #160,130,00078
7T (ZZ—PO4F : #9418,430,000/ 7T ) A
YNNG+ b



17.

18.

DIVIDENDS

The board of directors does not recommend the payments
of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2015
(2014: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

17. RE
EFEeTERRNBEE_ZT—AF=H
=+t —BHEFEZEMRE (ZF—HEF:
) o

18. AR AFEBAARLEBRER

ARAEEANREERERREEEERT)
RIBA T BT H -

2015 2014
—E-aF —T—MmF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the purpose of basic and RUAFTEERER K
diluted loss per share B EEENER (41,723) (431,292)
Number of shares
ROEE
‘000 ‘000
Fig Fh&
Weighted average number of AUAFTESRERRE#E
ordinary shares for the purpose of [E5 18 A 3B AR Nt 3T &
basic and diluted loss per hare 3,112,536 1,715,272

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2015
and 2014 are the same as the basic loss per share as the
convertible notes outstanding at the end of the reporting
period had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.

HE_Z—AFEK-_ZT-—NE=ZA=1+—
HIEFE ARREARZ RITETBRRK
ERHEREABEEARBEEYE F
hEREEEEEGRENBERES-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. Y% -BERZE
The Group &
Leasehold Furnitures Office Motor
improvements  Machinery and fixtures  equipment vehicles  Site offices Total
HEME
% KE HARKE BARE EF nBHRAZE #gt

HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TET TET TET TET TET TET TET

Cost: B
At 1 April 2013 RZZE—=ZFNA—H 6,348 14,990 2,677 7,055 21,671 8,138 60,879
Additions NE 8 12,221 91 809 8,513 6,517 28,154
Disposals HeE - - - - (423) - (423)
At 31 March 2014 and RZZ-Mm$=A
1 April 2014 =+-Bk
—T-NFENA—H 6,351 27,211 2,768 7,864 29,761 14,655 88,610
Additions NE = 5,023 17 938 8,090 181 14,249
Disposals e = (6,197) - - (1,348) (28) (7,579)
At 31 March 2015 R-ZE—RF
ZA=+—H 6,351 26,037 2,785 8,802 36,503 14,808 95,286
Accumulated depreciation: B {TE:
At 1 April 2013 R-ZZE—=FMA—H 1,177 7,416 972 3,557 11,468 4,084 28,674
Depreciation charge FRHERS
for the year (Note 10) (His£10) 1,881 4,197 503 1,167 3,904 3,465 15,117
Eliminated on disposals 5 B 8 - - - - (365) - (365)
At 31 March 2014 and RZZ—ME=A
1 April 2014 =+—Bk
—T-pmEmA—H 3,058 11,613 1,475 4,724 15,007 7,549 43,426
Depreciation charge FRMERS
for the year (Note 10) (Bist10) 1,881 5,769 499 1,320 5,307 3,489 18,265
Eliminated on disposals o B 6 - (6,109) - - (1,060) @27) (7,196)
At 31 March 2015 WZZE—R&
=R=1+—"H 4,939 11,273 1,974 6,044 19,254 11,011 54,495
Net book value: BREFE:
At 31 March 2015 R-B-EF
=A=+-H 1,412 14,764 811 2,758 17,249 3,797 40,791
At 31 March 2014 RZE—NF
=ZR=1+—"H 3,293 15,598 1,293 3,140 14,754 7,106 45,184
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
The Group (Continued)
The net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment

includes the following assets held under finance leases (note
33):

Machinery 128
Motor vehicles B B

As at 31 March 2015, the Group pledged its machinery
with net book value of approximately HK$12,000 (2014:
approximately HK$78,000) and motor vehicles with net book
value of approximately HK$721,000 (2014: approximately
HK$1,834,000) as securities for its performance of being a
sub-contractor of the Replacement and Rehabilitation of water
mains, stage 4, Phase 1 — Mains in Tuen Mun, Yuen Long,
North District and Tai Po.

19.

rEE (E)

M- BERREE)

ME -BEMREIETFERR TR
BREMEERAZERE (ME33) -

2015 2014
“E-hfF —ZE—UF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
767 1,425

12,285 8,565
13,052 9,990

R-_E—RE=ZA=+—HB AE£EEIK
BERmFES B AK12,0008 T (=ZF
— PY 4 : 4978,0007% 7T ) & #9721,0007% 7T
(ZZ— /U4 : 491,834,000/ ) 2 #22 &
B LEAEEADBREBTERKE
BKE TR FABEER 18— 5P JuhA - 4t

B R KK E TR 2 B m e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Company

Cost:
At 1 April 2013
Additions

At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014

Additions

At 31 March 2015

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 April 2013

Depreciation charge for the year

At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014

Depreciation charge for the year

At 31 March 2015

Net book value:
At 31 March 2015

At 31 March 2014

R-Z-RF=A=+—H
RHTE:
RZE—=FWA—H
FRTERS
R-E-NE=A=+-AkK
“Z-NmFMA—H
FRITERS
RZZE-—RF=A=+—H

fREFE:
R=B-RF=A=1-H

R-E-NE=A=1+—H

19. ¥% BERRE (&)

RAFE
Furniture
Leasehold and Office Motor

improvements fixtures equipment vehicles Total
HENXER RARKE BORE L] st
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET FET
6,268 669 665 728 8,330
3 6 501 - 510
6,271 675 1,166 728 8,840
- - 903 - 903
6,271 675 2,069 728 9,743
1,097 78 76 134 1,385
1,881 134 183 146 2,344
2,978 212 259 280 3,729
1,881 135 338 146 2,500
4,859 347 597 426 6,229
1,412 328 1,472 302 3,514
3,293 463 907 448 5111
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20. GOODWILL

21.

The Group

Cost:
At 1 April 2013, 31 March 2014,
1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015

Accumulated impairment losses:
At 1 April 2013
Impairment loss recognised in the year (note 21)

At 31 March 2014, 1 April 2014
and 31 March 2015

Carrying amount:
At 31 March 2015

At 31 March 2014

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Bk
W=
=HA

T

RiHRE
R_Z—
REE

JiN

H
:::M 4}}1

BRMEE :
R=-T—

hY =
A
A=

Goodwill and intangible assets have been allocated for

impairment testing purposes to the cash-generating units of

television broadcasting business (‘“television broadcasting

CGU").

The directors of the Company have appointed an independent
valuer to perform a business valuation on the television
broadcasting CGU containing goodwill and intangible assets
which was acquired from the business combination of Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific Operating Co., Limited (“Xinhua TV Asia-

Pacific”) during year ended 31 March 2012.

20. HE

rEE
HK$’000
FET
—=FmMA—H -—T—MmM4
=+—B -ZZF—HmHFEmA
—E—FE=A=+—~H” 816,877
B518 -
=FmA—H 665,683
RZBEEE (Kitet1) 151,194
—NE=/A=+—8"
—MENMA—BRER-_Z—HF
Ar— 2 816,877
FE=H=+—H -
—MmME=A=+—H =

21. HERERFEERENR

Mﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁ?'ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁFEW“
EEERBERERCRATELEM ([
BRI ELENM]) -

ARREECEE—RBIUAEMAEE
EHEREREE (BEZZE—Z=F=FA
=t HLEFEBHEEREARES

RAR ([FEEREAG]) 2EBKAHT
Eﬁ%)za%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁiiu EIT— X
EEENEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND 21.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amounts
of goodwill and television broadcasting right (including in
intangible assets set out in note 22) before impairment loss,
have been allocated to the television broadcasting CGU are as

follows:
Goodwill B
Television broadcasting right AR U

The recoverable amount of television broadcasting CGU has
been determined on the basis of value in use calculation
and is based on certain key assumptions. The value in use
calculation is based on cash flow projections prepared from
financial budgets approved by the directors of the Company
covering a 5-year period and a discount rate of 18.82%
(2014: 18.98%). Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate ranged from 2.5% to 6%
(2014: 2% to 9%) for different countries and the growth rate
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
industry. The discount rates used reflect specific risks to the
segment.
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BAEREFLEERENHR (&)

AEITRENR  mERERERE (21
M2 |V EE ) IR REEEATZ
REEBEE T REERBEIRESELESM
RPN

The Group
RE

2015 2014
—E—-AF —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
816,877 816,877
375,649 432,349
1,192,526 1,249,226

ERENReEESMN 2 AIIRE SR TIK
BEAEETEES HERETEER
HoFAEBEHENERARARESHE
2 IEEERAFH M BEEX18.82%.2
BIRE (ZZT—UF:18.98% ) mE S
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FRBRNF2.5%%E6% (ZZT—MHF : 2%
F9%) 2R EREE  MIERETBIBIT
E2FHRBABER -MEAZHRER
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21.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2015, no impairment loss was
recognised in respect of goodwill and intangible assets as the
recoverable amount approximated to the carrying amount of
the unit which was assessed by reference to the value in use
calculation.

For the year ended 31 March 2014, due to deteriorating
performance and suffered continuous losses in television
broadcasting business, the directors of the Company
determined that there was a need for an impairment on the
goodwill and intangible assets arising from the acquisition of
television broadcasting business as the recoverable amount
of television broadcasting CGU (being the CGU to which the
goodwill and intangible assets have been allocated) based on
the valuation report by an independent valuer was calculated
to be lower than their aggregate carrying amounts.

Thus, the impairment loss of goodwill and intangible assets
recognised to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2014 was approximately HK$151,194,000 and approximately
HK$269,309,000 respectively.

The directors of the Company believe that the television
broadcasting CGU containing goodwill and intangible
assets has been reduced to its recoverable amount. The
management of the Group believes that any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying
amount of the unit to exceed the aggregate recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit.

21. BEREFEERERNS (£)

BE-T-AF=-HA=t—HILFE A

KA e eBELZFRAEEEN G2
BUREERE UHMERABERETLE
EERBERIE-

BE_Z-ME=A=+—HIFE HR
BEREREBEFEREREIFEEFSR
ARPESFETENBERBRRERESE
\ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%éﬁrﬁﬁﬁZﬂ@nﬁl
Eﬁfﬁiﬁﬁ%Zﬁﬁﬁi HHE
BRERMECELEM (AEESKBE R
BVEEZRSEAEMN) 2 KBS
BEREAHRESH -

Fit - ERBE—F-—MNE=A=+—H
Jtﬁﬁ;,ﬁv?maﬁnﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁw 37k TR
ZEAERENEEZREBRD B
151,194,000/ 7T & #7269,309,00078 JT. °

ARRIEZRASERENHSELEN (B
EEENEVEE) EREATWEISHE-
AEEERERAAROSEMERZE

2B EME AT H B TS EEZ
BURAEBBZXREELEN &
Y [ < 58 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22 BREE
The Group rEHE
Television
broadcasting
right
HK$'000
FET
Cost: B
At 1 April 2013, 31 March 2014, 1 April 2014 and 31 R-ZE—=4mA—H =T[4
March 2015 ZA=+—R -ZZE-—WFMA
—HE—_ZE—RHFE=A=1+—H 567,000
Accumulated amortisation and impairment: it R IEE :
At 1 April 2013 R-ZB—=—&#mA—H 76,419
Amortisation for the year (note 10) FREH (H2F10) 58,232
Impairment loss recognised in the year (note 21) FACERBAEEE (HiF21) 269,309
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 R-_E—NF=A=+—HEK
—ZE—mEMA—H 403,960
Amortisation for the year (note 10) FREH (KiF10) 21,959
At 31 March 2015 R_ZE-—RF=RA=+—H 425,919
Carrying amount: BREE:
At 31 March 2015 R-B-HF=HA=+—H 141,081
At 31 March 2014 R_ZE—WNFE=A=+—H 163,040
Intangible assets represent television broadcasting B EEEAS BTS2 SR FENE-
right acquired by the Group. The useful life of television BERERECAERAFHATF-
broadcasting right is 10 years.
The directors of the Company reassessed the recoverable AREEERN_E—AF=HA=1+—HE
amount of intangible assets at 31 March 2015 and determined arE | EEZAIRC 25 WETH
that no impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated EZ-FT—HF=A=T—HILFE #&
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income BEBERNGEEREMAEEKERF
for the year ended 31 March 2015. The recoverable amount BR-BEEEZKRBESENLRERE
of intangible assets was assessed by reference to the value in REETEN -
use calculation.
The directors of the Company had determined that there was WKt R R E—HFE=A=+—
an impairment on the television broadcasting right as at 31 B AARESECECERBERNEFTER

March 2014 as stated in note 21. (EXS
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23. FILM RIGHTS

The Group rEE
HK$'000
FET
Cost: AR :
At 1 April 2013 R-—ZE—=4mAE—A 1,749
Additions NE 1,231
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 R-ZZE—NNFE=A=+—H8BEK
—E—UFEEmA—H 2,980
Additions NE 2,129
At 31 March 2015 R-_ZE-—hF=RA=+—H 5,109
Accumulated amortisation and impairment: EFt#ERRE:
At 1 April 2013 R-—T—==mA—H 1,749
Amortisation for the year (note 10) FREE (HaE10) 1,231
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 R-E—pmE=A=+—A0EK
—“ZE—mM&EMA—H 2,980
Amortisation for the year (note 10) FNEH (HaE10) 2,129
At 31 March 2015 RE—ARAFE=HA=+—H 5,109
Carrying amount: AREE:
At 31 March 2015 R=-ZB-HF=ZA=+—H -
At 31 March 2014 R-=E—mE=8=+—H B

Film rights represent television programmes produced
by the Group. The useful life of fim rights is expired upon
the completion of broadcasting the relevant television
programmes.

BEXMENEARERENERNE -8
EHEN A RFR D EEHBEESREE
R T RE R E R ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 24.
Available-for-sale financial AHHEeREERRE:
assets comprise:
Unlisted equity securities in RBEBRIE LT IRARE S
Hong Kong

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEREMMANTAE:
Non-current assets EMBEE

Unlisted equity securities represented the securities issued by
a private entity incorporated in Hong Kong. The private entity
is principally engaged in outdoor advertising in Hong Kong.
They are measured at cost less impairment at the end of the
reporting period because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that their fair value cannot be measured
reliably.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the unlisted equity

securities was disposed to an independent third party at a
consideration of HK$400,000.
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AHESREE
The Group
EE
2015 2014
= —F—NmF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FrET

- 400

- 400

FELTRABRTD—ERBEEZMALZ
NEEBET R ZMEEBEERN
BEREENES AREFAEATE
ZEBBETOBEX ARBREEFR/ERYF
BRI SEEE HREEFNBREH
R AROR BT E ©
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25. JOINT OPERATIONS 25. EE¥

Details of investments in joint operations as at 31 March 2015 RZE—RER T —WF=A=+—H
and 2014 were as follows: REBEEZIREFBNT
Principal
Name Place of operation Participating shares activity
% EEME BRLH TEXK
2015 2014
—E-FE —E-mE
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Unincorporated joint operation 40% 40% Civil engineering
Joint Venture (DC/2012/04) operating in Hong Kong
EERME(DC/2012/04) REALEZLFBEEGELE IARIRE
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Unincorporated joint operation 43% 43% Civil engineering
Joint Venture (DC/2012/07) operating in Hong Kong
HEERME(DC/2012/07) REALEZLEBEEGELE IARIRE
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Unincorporated joint operation 43% 43% Civil engineering
Joint Venture (DC/2012/08) operating in Hong Kong
FEMEREE(DC/2012/08) REBLEZHBEBEELE IARIRE
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Unincorporated joint operation 17% 17% Civil engineering
Joint Venture (5/WSD/13) operating in Hong Kong
S £ 0 & (5/WSD/13) REBEECHBEBEELHE TARTIE
Note: Bt
Pursuant to the terms of the joint agreements, the profit sharing for each BIEALMHEIES FlFiEA%NEEE %
year of all joint operations listed herein above shall be distributed to the FOMREEBEAEL T2 EZLBORETE
joint operators in proportion to their respective interests. A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

26. INVENTORIES

Construction materials EEME

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

26. 78

The Group
EE
2015 2014
= —F—NmF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FrET
23,335 14,955

27. EZ R EMEWFIE

The Group The Company
x& b NG|
2015 2014 2015 2014
~B-1F | ZF-0F | —2-1F [ ZT-MF
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FE FET
Trade receivables (note (j), (i) B 5 ENGA
(Hizt0) - (ip) 48,165 40,234 - 250
Allowance for doubtful debts AR - (9,469) - -
48,165 30,765 - 250
Retention receivables YRR S (72 i) -
(note (i), (ii}), (note 28) (Kriz28) 9,355 5,074 - -
Other receivables and prepayments H o FE U FRIE R R
(note (iv) (Krizi) 23,724 36,498 17 176
Amount due from a substantial ER—ZFERFERE
shareholder (note (1) (B1i) 91 91 - :
Deposits Re 4,787 4,476 7
Deposit paid for acquisition of a Wi —MHB AR A2
subsidiary (note (1)) &e (Kim)) 1,000 - - =
87,122 77,804 178 433
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continueqd)

Notes:

Trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period mainly
derived from provision of construction works on civil engineering
contracts. The related customers are mainly government
department/organisation and reputable corporations. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables (net
of impairment losses) with the following ageing analysis based on
invoice date as of the end of reporting period:

BIHEAER D —1E A
—E=={@A
H8ia =18 A

Current or less than 1 month

1 to 3 months

More than 3 months but
less than 12 months

The Group grants an average credit period of 30 days (2014: 30
days) to its trade customers of contract works. Application for
progress payments of contract works is made on a regular basis.

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for
aged analysis) which are past due at the end of the reporting period
for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful
debts because there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.

27. EGREMEKRE

RIE (&)

Hiat -

BN+ @A

HERARZESRBFIATZRBRHE LA
ITRAHNZEZETR - HETFE T EREM
B MERBERIFZOE ASELE
SLEX SRR A EAEE -

B 5 R (RIRBERR) St AE S R

Hh R IE  HRBEEHZE RN HREHR
ZERE DT
The Group
rEH
2015 2014
—E-IfF L
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
45,530 30,742
2,533 -
102 23
48,165 30,765

AEERMEANIRESEFKHFH30H
(ZZ—WF:0R)Z2EEM-AaHNIRHE
ERIRRFEE LT

LR B SEBFABERNRERRE
BEmAEE S K ERREREZSE (R
TXEREDT)  RENEELGRHEERE
B R EEENE AR TUE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continueqd)

Notes: (Continued)

Hiat: (%)

)  (Continued) (i)

Ageing of receivables that are past due but not impaired

Overdue by: #HA
31-60 days 31260H
Over 90 days HBiB90H

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts

Balance at the beginning of the year FEH) 2

Impairment loss recognised ME S REWFKIAER 2R EEE
in respect of trade receivables
Amounts written-off during the year FRTAIUE 2 8 & 58

as uncollectible

FRZAER

Balance at the end of the year

(i)  Retention monies withheld by customers of contract works are
released after the completion of maintenance period of the relevant
contract or in accordance with the terms specified in the relevant

contract.

(i) Trade and other receivables are short term and hence the directors
of the Company consider the carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting

periods.
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(i)

(i)

(%)

B R BB R E 2 R IR R

27. EZ R EMBWFRIA (&)

The Group
£
2015 2014
—ZE—AfF —ZE—ImF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
2,533 ~
102 28
2,635 23
REREBZEE
The Group
£

2015 2014
—E—AfF —ZE—mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
9,469 -
- 9,469
(9,469) -
- 9,469

EBHNTREPZAREBSNBBA NRENE
RIRARIB AR A K HE TE IRFRIE AR B

BHREMEBRFIERES ARARRE
ERRE S REMBWHAZ RAER RS
HRBEERNFERS-



27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continueqd)

Notes: (Continueq)

(iv)

It mainly consists of prepayments for insurance and advance
payment to subcontractors.

Amount due from a substantial shareholder is unsecured, interest
free and recoverable on demand. During the year ended 31 March
2015, the highest balance of amount due from a substantial
shareholder was approximately HK$91,000 (2014: approximately
HK$91,000).

On 8 December 2014, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party pursuant to which
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will acquire 60%
of the issued share capital of Xinhua Afanti Asset Management
Limited (formerly known as Afanti Asset Management Limited) at
the consideration of HK$1,000,000. The acquisition has not yet
completed at the end of the reporting period and the acquisition is
subject to approval of Securities and Futures Commission.

28. AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR

27. EZ R EMBWFRIE (&)
Mt (%)
v) ETXESERBEMKEASEEXNZ
B e
V) BE—RBE2REFELEER BN

AREREE -BE—TE-—RAF=A=+—
BLEFE BE-—BETERRREAZIEDE
#R4)7391,000/8 7T ( = F — 04 : 4991,0007%
L) ©

R-ZE—NE+_ANR AEBEE—FTF

NE=REINEBE R B AREIZ—E

2 &Mt B A R LA B 1,000,000/ 7T Uk B 5

ERREAEEEARAR (AMBAESREAR

BEARAR)BBEITIRAZ60%  ZWER

MEMREARTHRGESFRPESHER
ZESH AR ZWBHAEE-

28. EWEHNIREEFARE

CONTRACT WORKS
The Group
x&E
2015 2014
—E—FE —E—F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Contracts in progress at the end of R ERETHREA
the reporting period:
Contract costs incurred to date SEEZEHRANE #R
plus recognised profits less i AR B R R 1B
recognised loss 1,282,544 923,860
Less: Progress billings J8 - HE R FIR (1,282,544) (923,860)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

28. AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR
CONTRACT WORKS (Continued)

“Contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits”
comprise direct materials, costs of subcontracting,
direct labour, an appropriate portion of variable and fixed
construction overheads and gross profit earned to date of the
contracts, which is measured by reference to the certification
by architects.

“Progress billings” represent the amounts billed to the
customers for work performed up to the end of reporting
period.

At 31 March 2015, the retentions held by customers
for contract works included in other receivables (note
27) amounted to approximately HK$9,355,000 (2014:
approximately HK$5,974,000).

29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed securities: EepECES
— Equity securities listed in —RBEB LT ZRAE
Hong Kong

The fair values of the listed securities are determined with
reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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28. EREHNIREFRIE (&)

[ SELEZAHIRANC HEREN ] B
BEEYE - DBRA BEERSET  aELLHl
2 7 &E%ELL;%%&E/:}%’]EHHFEE%
BZEN EFEII2ZREM 2 ZE -

GEEFIR] ERBEREHRMETZT
EREFHAREZA.

—£¢:H:+fa EFAE A
M&z B(HF27) AN IREFES
RE & ,%@9,355,000/%73 (ZE—MEF:
#95,974,00078 7T ) °

20 ZEBEHRBEAFEARZEHMEE

The Group
EE
2015 2014
= —F— M
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FrET
12,117 10,485

FHBHFZATFEDSEFTERERZM
BRARAHRTIZEANEBMETE °



30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Group and the Company

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
0.01% - 0.87% (2014: 0.01% — 0.35%) per annum.

The Group

As at 31 March 2015, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group included currencies denominated in Renminbi
amounted to approximately HK$888,000 (2014:
approximately HK$1,802,000) which is not freely convertible
into other currencies.

The Company

As at 31 March 2015, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Company included currencies denominated in
Renminbi amounted to approximately HK$106,000 (2014:
approximately HK$89,000) which is not freely convertible into
other currencies.

30. RERBEEEY

FEERAELQT

SRITHE MR IS EFI RN F0.01%20.87%
ZE P :0.01%E0.35% ) 5t B o

eX

RZE-—AF=A=+—H AEEZR
ERREFBMERAARETEZEYE
#1888,000/8 7T ( —F — 4 : 491,802,000
AT HTA BB RERMER-

KAF

R-E—RAF=A=1+—H ARQaZH
S RBEZEEVEREAARESENEE
#9106,0007% 7T ( == — O 4 : 4989,000/%
L) BT EREBREEMEE.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At %5 4R R Wi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

31. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted shares, at cost

Amounts due from subsidiaries
(note (a))
Less: Impairment loss recognised
(note (b))

Amounts due to subsidiaries (note (c))

Notes:

3. RIB AR ZRE

The Company

RAF
2015 2014
—E-i%F —F-mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET F#T
JE ETRRD » FRAKANE 76,529 45,099
JE W B B A I3 IE (Kt (a))
1,327,861 1,316,676
B BRERREE R (KTaEb))
(1,221,768) (1,195,033)
106,093 121,643
JFEAF B B A A1 FR3E (K aE(c)) 9,394 13,688

(@  The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and

recoverable on demand.

(b)  After considering the financial positions of the relevant subsidiaries,

the directors of the Company are in the opinion that an impairment

loss of approximately HK$26,735,000
HK$405,003,000) has been recognised
March 2015.

(2014 approximately
for the year ended 31

(¢)  The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.
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31. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the Company’s material subsidiaries at the year end

3. RIB AR ZRE (£)

ARABEZMBRARNBEREHILEFE

of the reporting period are set out below. ZFHBEEIAT
Percentage
Place and date of equity
of incorporation interests and
and form of voting power
business attributable to Nominal value
Name of subsidiary structure the Company of issued share capital Principal activities
ENGIESERY
R B S i B A HA S RAER R
WEA= AR REBEBHER FEEAL EBROREAHE FTEER
%
Direct subsidiaries
EEMEAR
TYW (BVI) Limited BVI, 2 July 2009, 100 United States Dollars (‘US$") 50,000,  Investment holding
limited liability company divided into 50,000 ordinary shares
of US$1.00 each
EBRAKE —TTNEFL 50,000% 7T ([%7T]) * 9 480,000k REER
AZH EREARARA BIREE1.00ET 2 LRk
Shenzhen Qianhai Xinhua TV Cultural ~ PRC, 30 May 2013, 100 Registered and paid up capital of Advertising business in PRC
Development Limited* limited liability company RMB30,000,000
FYBBHESEUEEERAR FE —F-—=6RA=1A" kR ERARKS0,000000 RABEULEESER
AREEAR
Indirect subsidiaries
GE30 PNl
Tsun Yip Civil Construction Hong Kong, 16 July 2000, 100 HK$20,000,000 divided into Holding of motor vehicles,
Company Limited limited liability company 20,000,000 ordinary shares of provision of waterworks and
HK$1.00 each laying of water pipes
EXIARTRERAA & —TTTFELATAA. 20,000,000 7 * 5 420,000,000 HAEEH REKBIERE
BBREAEARA SIREE1.008 T2 LRk FKE
Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Hong Kong, 100 HK$18,000,000, divided into Provision of waterworks and
Company Limited 6 February 1996, 18,000,000 ordinary shares of laying of water pipes
limited liability company HK$1.00 each
ERKBRERRAF BE —WNWAFZARE: 18,000,000 70 * 5 418,000,000  #EAH TR REZRKE

for identification purpose only.

BREEAR

BREE1.00ETZ ERK
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At %5 4R R Mi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015

BE_F—hF=A=1+—HIFFE

31. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

3. RIB AR 2 RE (&)

Percentage
Place and date of equity
of incorporation interests and
and form of voting power
business attributable to Nominal value
Name of subsidiary structure the Company of issued share capital Principal activities
ENNGIESZERY
AR 2 3t % B A X BRAERR
HE DR AE REBEBER FREEAL BROTRAHE TEEH
%
Indirect subsidiaries (Continueqd)
BERBAR (£)
Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Hong Kong, 22 December 100 HK$10,000, divided into 10,000 Television broadcasting
Co., Limited 2009, limited liability ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each business in the Asia Pacific
company region (excluding the PRC)

BE “BENFT-A
“+=R BREEAR

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the

end of the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally

affect the results of the assets of the Group. To give details of

other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

32. EZREMENFIR

The Group The Company
r5E b NG|
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-1F | I | ZB-1F | ZT-OF
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FETL
Trade payables BAEMNRIR 22,480 36,401 - L
Retention money payables ERHRE & 15,356 7,723 - =
Amount due to a shareholder (note ()~ FER —RIREZIE (H1:2()) 17,112 19,112 - =
Amounts due to directors (note (i) PR ESTIE (M) 2,758 12,858 2,758 12,858
Deferred revenue EIE s 555 3,857 - N
Interest payables PR F 2 19,917 13,501 19,917 9,932
Amount due to a related party (note (i) RN —ZEEA LA

(Hiz) 2,009 2,009 - =
Other payables and accruals Hi N F0B K ERT0E 9,935 11,602 1,475 2,797
90,122 107,063 24,150 05,587

Notes: Bt -

i) Amount due to a shareholder represents amount due to a major
substantial shareholder of the Company, China Xinhua NNC, which
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) Amount due to a related party represents amount due to ¥ =
&AL, FESZ & D and China Xinhua NNC have a common
shareholder, Xinhua News Agency (¥7#+f) . The amount is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i)  Amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

U)

(i)

(i)

e —RIRRREERN — R AR A ERK
RAPBEMEHEERM@ZRIA BEET -2

BRRERER -

e —RBEA THRREEBNAESERT L
ZHRIBE - FEFHR R L ER B EREER
Bz ARBRBHER - ZRBRERR -2

BRIREREER -

ENEZEFRA/EEMN RERIZEREE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continuead) 32.
The Group normally settles trade payables within 30 days
(2014 30 days) credit term. Based on the invoice date, ageing
analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting period is
as follows:

Current or less than 1 month BIHA S 51 1E A
1 to 3 months 1E31E A
More than 3 months but FB3A31E BB D 121& A
less than 12 months
More than 12 months tBiE121E A
33. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 33.

The Group leases a number of its motor vehicles and
machinery. The average lease term is 3 years (2014: 3 years).
Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance leases
are fixed at respective contract dates from 2.1% to 3.8%
(2014: 2.1% and 4.0%) per annum. The Group has options to
purchase the equipment for a nominal amount at the end of
the lease terms. No arrangements have been entered into for
contingent rental payments.

.I % CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

BEERHMEMNRIER (&)

AREB—MMNI0B (ZZE—WF:30H) 2
EEHRNBEEESENZE - RERE
B MEHRE S RN FKIBBOERER DT 0
=

The Group
RE
2015 2014
—2-1f% —FmF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
14,767 20,883
7,474 10,943
- 4,086
239 489
22,480 36,401
mMEHEESRIE

AEFEHEREEHLKE - FTHHEBRAAR
=F(ZT—NFE:=F) @MEHEEET
FIBEEREZFFNERSEHNBAHETS N
T2 1B EI8E (T —MF:2.1E K4.0
B) AEBBHAHEHEANEESHEER
R o WEM KA S KT LT HE -



33. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES (Continued) 33 MEHERNRIE (&)

Future lease payments are due as follows: RREEMNKEEB RO
The Group _E
At 31 March 2015 R-ZE—HF=HA=+—H
Present value
Future of minimum
Minimum lease finance lease
payments charges payments
REHER
REHER RRAMEMX ZE{E
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Within one year R—FNA 5,239 303 4,936
In more than one year and BB FETBARE
not more more than five years 4,790 117 4,673
10,029 420 9,609
Less: Amount due for settlement R T ZEAREEEE
within 12 months (shown Z I (FERE
under current liabilities) a8E&E) (4,936)
Amount due for settlement R+Z@A%BIBEE
after 12 months 2B 4,673
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z_—ZF

—AF=H=+—HIFE

33. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES (Continued)

The Group (Continued)

At 31 March 2014

Within one year
In more than one year and
not more more than five years

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown
under current liabilities)

Amount due for settlement
after 12 months

—&NR
BE-FEIEARSF

AR TZERANRBREE
Z IR (Wﬂzulb@]
BfE)

R+ -@EARISBEE
28

.I % CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

33. MEHERMNR

rEE (F)

R-E—NE=A=+—H

RIE (&)

Present value

Future of minimum

Minimum lease finance lease
payments charges payments
REHEER

REHEER ARERBEFRX ZHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFETT FET
3,572 227 3,345
4,186 149 4,037
7,758 376 7,382
(3,345)

4,037



34.

35.

36.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Liabilities for employee
benefits comprise:

Annual leave entitlement FRERN
Long service payments entitlement R B RR 7% & RE A

BANK OVERDRAFT
The Group

Bank overdraft was secured by corporate guarantee executed
by Shunleetat (BVI) Limited, which is wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung, a director of the Company,
the charges over the properties held by Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung
and personal guarantee provided by Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung
and bear interest at Hong Kong Dollars’ best lending rate less
1.5% per annum.

PROMISSORY NOTE
The Group

A promissory note with a principal amount of HK$45,040,000
was issued by Profit Station Limited (“Profit Station”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on 11 August 2011
(the “Issue Date”) upon the completion of the acquisition of
17% of equity interests in China New Media (HK) Company
Limited. The promissory note was unsecured, carried interest
at the rate of 3% per annum and matured on 11 August 2014.
Profit Station might early redeem all or part of the promissory
note at any time from the Issue Date. Unless previously
redeemed, Profit Station will redeem the promissory note on
its maturity date.

34.

EERMBEBREATIER:

35.

36.

BERF

The Group
REH

2015 2014
—®2-1%F —F—nmF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
895 635
1,674 1,460
2,569 2,095

WITEX
A%EH

$R173% 3 J5 1 Shunleetat (BVI) Limited ( &
AABESHRAELELZERERESR)
BUZLERER HEBEETERBIEZ
ME 2 MBI EREZ AAER
BRI WIRB T REB BN EREF1.5E

o
E+ /%\ »

AR R
AEM

KRR wEl 2 B2 &M B A FProfit Station
Limited ([Profit Station | )R =T ——4
NA+—B8 ([F#TaE]) AU EEH B
KBS (BB)BRAAZ17%R AR %
117N 58 545,040,00078 7T 2 7 5 4k o 7
HEBAEERR REMERI%TERNZ
Z—pE N\ B +— B3| H - Profit Stationa]
R E1T B HZ R R AR AT B |l 2 2P ek 3B
DEGE R o BRIEZBIE BB - & Bl Profit
Station#§ 7 £ EI| 8 A BE Bl & X = 4% -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mi 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

36. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued) 36. RNEE (&)
The Group (Continued) RE® (&)

On 11 August 2014 (the “Renewal Date”), Profit Station has
entered into an extension agreement with the noteholder of
the promissory note pursuant to which the maturity date of
the promissory note was extended from 11 August 2014
to 11 August 2017 and the extended promissory note will
be non-interest bearing with effect from 11 August 2014 till
11 August 2017. Furthermore, the noteholder has agreed
to waive the interest accrued on the promissory note
amounting to approximately HK$4,054,000 (note 7) for the
period from 11 August 2011 to 11 August 2014. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remain unchanged.

At the beginning of the year NG
Interest charged at effective
interest rate of 5.744%

Interest payable

Gains arising on extension of
promissory note

Interest charged on effective

interest rate of 7.423%

ZMBFX
R 78

ZHBRX

At the end of the year RER

m CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

BB ES.744%51H

ERANZBRES 2 Wa

REBRNERT?.423%:tE

RZZE—WHENA+—RB ([EFBEH]) -
Profit Station 24 i R 2 R H AEE]
VERHE B ARZEEZEBHAR
—E-NFENA+—HERE-_ZT—tF
NA+—HB BEERZAREEEES =
E—mWENAT—HRBE_ZE—+FNA
T—HLERE - WIN ZERFBEACRE
ChRARZEEA - ZT——F/\A+—HE
—ZT-NENA+—BHBEEEZFELY
4,054,0007% 7T (B 5E7) o B £t & b - &
HERZ HM R RIGERTE -

The Group
iy

2015 2014
—®-1f% —FnmF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
44,609 43,440
917 2,520
(486) WS
(8,708) -
1,748 -
38,080 44,609




36.

37.

PROMISSORY NOTE (Continueqd)

The Group (Continued)

Interest expenses on the promissory note are calculated using
the effective interest method by applying effective interest rate
of 5.744% from 1 April 2014 to 11 August 2014.

Upon the extension, the fair value of the liability component of
the extended promissory note was reassessed and calculated
using an equivalent market interest rate for an equivalent
instrument at the Renewal Date. The fair value of the liability
component of the extended promissory note at the Renewal
Date amounted to approximately HK$36,332,000. The fair
value is calculated using discounted cash flow method at a
rate of 7.423%.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

The Group and the Company

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes
with the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000,
carried interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific.
Each note entitles the holder to convert to ordinary shares at
a conversion price of approximately HK$0.196 per share.

Conversion may occur at any time between 9 December 2011
and 8 December 2014. If the notes have not been converted,
the Company will redeem on 9 December 2014 at the
outstanding principal amount. Interest of 5% per annum will
be paid annually until the notes are converted or redeemed.

36.

37.

AARE (&)

rEE (F)

AARBEZMNEAX VRAERN L
EEZZ-—NFHA—-—RAE-Z—HFN
A+ —BREERANE5744%:1 58 -

WEER  SEREREEEETH AT
BEQERE UAZBTAREFES 2
ETBRRE  REH B EEAKR
5 B A1 2 2 T B A4)36,332,000%
T o A TETYABETLIA £ B RIRT.423%
PEIE SN

R EE

AEERALDT

R-_ZT——F+-ANA ARQRFEFTAK
© 5 /A#%607,030,000/8 7T * #F B EK5%5t
B BREE ERKREMESHETIA
BZBIRE-BHRBM THEAETR
RERARMDH0.1068 T RIRER AT
AL o

AMBRERAIR_Z——F+_ANBZE
“E-MFE+ - AN\BHERRER R
HMEBERARLR RABHR - F—MHF
T_ANBEERITEASRE - FF5%L
MERAGFXN B HE LM -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

37. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continueq) 37. TRRRE (&
The Group and the Company (Continued) AEBEAQT (&)

On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain
terms and conditions of the convertible notes, where (i) the
maturity date of the convertible notes will be extended for 3
years and the conversion period will accordingly be extended
for 3 years to 9 December 2017; and (i) the interest rate of the
convertible notes will be amended from 5% per annum to 3%
per annum for the extended period, being from 9 December
2014 to 9 December 2017.

The convertible notes contains two components, liability and
equity components. The equity component is presented
in equity heading “convertible notes equity reserves”. The
effective interest rates of the liability component are 6.64%
from 9 December 2011 to 9 December 2014 and 15.98%

R-ZZE—WE+=-A B AQaEA
MEFEERET LHARZE BUAQ
AP EFEEGEBRE ST R
RRZETIERR G - B ()T RRER
ZEIH B BERIF - B G EELER
SFE_FE—+FE+ZANB: Ki)TERE
M ZE—mF+-_ANLEBE=T—+
FHTZANR)ZABRBREEZFEGH
BFESWIEEFT REF3% °

AR EHmERSD AR 28R
N ED 7 - HEZR PP EM =@ [ AR R
EERFEE] B2 BEHIZE ,%?Fl
ERNRE—E——Ft+t_-_ANHEEZ
—MF+ = AN A R6.64%K Q_i@—@

JI*

iy
b

\+

et

from 9 December 2014 to 9 December 2017 respectively. FH+-—ANBEZ—tF+=-ANBA
15.98% ©
HK$'000
FET
Equity component at 1 April 2013 R-_E—=FMNA—BZEZBD 17,381
Conversion of convertible notes HIRAT R EE (1,718)
Equity component at 31 March 2014 RZE—NFE=A=+—08K
and 1 April 2014 ZE-NFRA—BzEERD 15,663
Conversion of convertible notes Rl g Ei% (7,731)
Transfer to accumulated losses upon mature of MR EEIBEESRE REEE
convertible notes (7,932)
Recognition of equity component on extension of ERATBBREBERERZERLD
convertible notes 80,844
Deferred tax liability arising on extension of ERITMBRERELEZEEHRIEAE
convertible notes (13,339)
Equity component at 31 March 2015 R=B—FF=HA=+—H%2
EmEB o 67,505
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37. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 37. THERERE (£
The Group and the Company (Continued) AEBREAQT (&)
HK$ 000
FET
Liability component at 1 April 2013 RZE—=FNA—HZAEH 592,787
Interest charged calculated at an effective B ERFZ6.64%5 E 2 ) B SE
interest rate of 6.64% 39,278
Interest payable JE AT H) & (29,420)
Conversion of convertible notes HIRA MR EI& (569,411)
Liability component at 31 March 2014 and R-ZE—NNFE=A=+—"HBK
1 April 2014 “E-NFWRA—BzAERS 543,234
Interest charged calculated at an effective BRERFEE.64%TE 2 FBEFAX
interest rate of 6.64% 12,791
Interest payable NS (7,619
Conversion of convertible notes AR ER (271,476)
Liability component at 9 December 2014 RZZE—NFF+ZANBRERAZ
before extension BEES 277,030
Recognition of equity component ERAMBREBRFER BRI
on extension of convertible notes (80,844)
Interest charged calculated at an effective BERFIZE15.98%1H 2 F| B X
interest rate of 15.98% 9,706
Interest payable JE A F B (2,566)
Liability component at 31 March 2015 R-=E—FHFE=A=+—H
ZEEHD 203,326

On 31 October 2013, Proud Glory Investments Limited
(“Proud Glory”), a holder of the convertible notes agreed to
waive the payment of convertible notes interests incurred
from 9 December 2012 to 8 December 2014 in order to
support the development of the business of the Company.
As such, the convertible notes interests waived for the period
from 9 December 2012 to 31 March 2014 amounted to
approximately HK$10,839,000. Proud Glory has disposed
part of the convertible notes, with waiver of interests, to an
independent third party during the year ended 31 March
2014.

%ff =Ft+A=+—H HEKESF

NAE([HE]) (TRREERFEA)R
n%%@ T—_F+_-_AhBHE_F
—MFE+—ANBELEZAIBRRERFE
RN AEZRHARR 2 EBER-EiL- B
-+ -_AhBE_ZT—NFE=A
= t+—AHMARKR AT RRERNE S
A#J10,839,0008 Lo E T —MF =
A=T—HLEFE HEER—BBILSE
=HHEHO AT BREKREERE (SRR 2T

B)e
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

37. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 37. THERESE (&)
The Group and the Company (Continued) TEBMEAQAT (&)
On 30 October 2013, China Xinhua NNC agreed to waive R-ZZE—=FE+F=+H AEFHFEHE
the payment of convertible notes interests incurred from EREREERE T ——F+=ANAH
9 December 2012 to 8 December 2013 amounting to ET—=F+-ANBEAZABREKRERE
approximately HK$19,852,000 in order to support the BRI B 5X4919,852,000/8 7T * A AR
development of the business of the Company. Al EFERE-
38. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 38. EEBIBEE
The Group rEH
Accelerated
Intangible Convertible  depreciation Unrealised
assets notes allowances income Total
BVEE ARREE MEFERE RERNE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FETT FET AT FAT FET
At 1 April 2013 R-E—=FWA/—H 80,946 1,635 2,587 - 85,168
(Credited)/charged to profit or (GtA) /R ERER
loss for the year (note 15) (HiE15) (54,043) (1,635) 263 (327) (55,742)
At 31 March 2014 and 1 Apri 2014 R-Z-mF=A=+—-B%
“Z-mFEMA—H 26,903 - 2,850 (327) 29,426
Recognised directly in equity BEERERER - 13,339 - - 13,339
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss (GtA) /B ERBES
for the year (note 15) (H1it15) (3,623) (1,178) (329 327 (4,803)
At 31 March 2015 R-ZE-RF=F=1+—H 23,280 12,161 2,521 - 37,962
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38. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Company

At April 2013 R-B—=&mA—§
Credited to profit or loss for the year st AFERE R

At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 RZZ—N&E=A=+—H
ZE-MEMA—H

Recognised directly in equity EERERER

Credited to profit or loss for the year st AFE A B

At 31 March 2015 RZE-HFE=F=+—H

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$66,725,000 (2014: approximately
HK$34,574,000) available for offset against future profits that
may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams.

38. EERIBERE (£)

b NN
Accelerated
depreciation Convertible

allowances notes Total
EFTERE TRRRE #ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FET

57 1,635 1,692
(67) (1,635) (1,692)

- 13,339 13,339
- (1,178) (1,178)

- 12,161 12,161

RBEBRR AEBEERDAREES
1B #166,725,0008 L (Z T — M F : 4
34,574,000/ 7T ) A] FAVEHK $8 1] #R R HA 45 88
LR EF o BRI EF R ATEA -
WA E BB RECHRIBEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

39. SHARE CAPITAL

The Group and the Company

Authorised:

At 1 April 2013, 31 March
2014, 1 April 2014 and
31 March 2015

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 April 2013

Issue of shares pursuant to
the conversion of
convertible notes

At 31 March 2014 and
1 April 2014

Issue of shares pursuant to
the placing

Issue of shares pursuant to
the conversions of
convertible notes

At 31 March 2015

Notes:

39. A
AEBRAAT
Notes Number of Nominal
B it shares value
BHEE E{E
At HK$0.001 each HK$'000
#220.001% 7T FEIT
EIE
R-_ZE—=FWPWA—H"
—E—ME=A=+—8"
—E—WENMA—BK
—E—hF=A=+—H 500,000,000,000 500,000
ERTRAR:
N—ZE—=FMH—H 1,674,735,664 1,674
RIEH R AT MR F iR
BT
@) 306,122,448 306
R-ZE—NF=A=+—8BxK
—E—NFEPA—H 1,980,858,112 1,980
B EEBITIRGD
b) 334,900,000 335
BIE KR AT R =%
BTN
() 1,377,551,019 1,378
R-ZZE—HRF=A=+—H 3,693,309,131 3,693
Kz
@ M-ZZE—HmE—A-+N\B —ZAHRKR=E

(@ On 28 January 2014, a holder of convertible notes exercised
its conversion right to convert part of the principal amount of
HK$40,000,000 into 204,081,632 shares. The excess of the
conversion price over the nominal value of shares of approximately
HK$204,000, was credited to share premium of the Company.

On 13 March 2014, China Xinhua NNC, a holder of convertible
notes, exercised its conversion right to convert part of the principal
amount of HK$20,000,000 into 102,040,816 shares. The excess
of the conversion price over the nominal value of shares of
approximately HK$102,000, was credited to share premium of the

Company.
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BREEATEELRENBINASSHE
40,000,000/ 7T 5% #2 £204,081,632% A% 19 °
H|ER L RGO EE 2 £54204,0008 T2
FFARRB Z D RE -

R-_ZE—NE=A+=0 HEFEFHEE
RBP(—BTBEBREBEFEA)ITEELR
HE LA 5 2015 7N 4 € %820,000,00078 7T 3 # A
102,040,816% A% 17 - H I ERB L RN EEZ
© %8 49102,000/8 7L B 5t AR R 7 Z B9 i

=



39. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

Notes:

)

On 17 July 2014, 334,900,000 shares of HK$0.001 each were
issued by way of placing at a price of HK$0.25 per share for cash
consideration of approximately HK$83,725,000 for the purpose of
the Group’s business development, payment of registered capital
of a subsidiary incorporated in the PRC, repayment of unsecured
and non-interest bearing advances from certain directors of the
Company and general working capital of the Company. The excess
of the placing price over the nominal value of the shares issued was
credited to the share premium of the Company.

On 26 May 2014, APT Satellite TV Development Limited, a holder
of convertible notes, exercised its conversion right to convert the
principal amount of HK$35,000,000 into 178,571,429 shares. The
excess of the conversion price over the nominal value of shares of
approximately HK$179,000, was credited to share premium of the
Company.

On 26 May 2014, China Xinhua NNC, a holder of convertible notes,
exercised its conversion right to convert the principal amount
of HK$20,000,000 into 102,040,816 shares. The excess of the
conversion price over the nominal value of shares of approximately
HK$102,000, was credited to share premium of the Company.

On 18 July 2014, a holder of convertible notes exercised its
conversion right to convert the principal amount of HK$60,000,000
into 306,122,448 shares. The excess of the conversion price over
the nominal value of shares of approximately HK$306,000, was
credited to share premium of the Company.

On 27 August 2014, a holder of convertible notes, exercised its
conversion right to convert the principal amount of HK$47,560,000
into 242,653,061 shares. The excess of the conversion price over
the nominal value of shares of approximately HK$243,000, was
credited to share premium of the Company.

On 27 August 2014, Proud Glory, a holder of convertible notes,
exercised its conversion right to convert the principal amount
of HK$27,440,000 into 140,000,000 shares. The excess of the
conversion price over the nominal value of shares of approximately
HK$140,000 was credited to share premium of the Company.

On 22 September 2014, China Xinhua NNC, a holder of convertible
notes, exercised its conversion right to convert part of the principal
amount of HK$80,000,000 into 408,163,265 shares. The excess
of the conversion price over the nominal value of shares, of
approximately HK$408,000, was credited to share premium of the
Company.

39. A (&)

AEERADTR (F)
Mt
) R=B-MELA++A BAREHN

12 & 1%0.25% 7T 2 (B 1§ % 17334,900,0000%
FREE0.C0IEBTZ M RERERL
83,725,000/8 7T - AEASKE 2 XK &
~F — R0 AR B B B Sz 2 B B R B 2 iR T B
K EEEERANEERZARAETERSE
RRARAR 2 —REEES -REBBELE
BORODEEZ BT ARRE 2 B0

e

MRZZE—NERA-+AB BAERERE
ERAR(—BARBREEFEAN)TEL
3R LA 7N & € §835,000,000/8 7T 4 2 A
178,571,429 % 17 - H IR (BB L RN EEZ
& E47179,0008 L E T AR R A Z B 7 '

Ee

R-ZZ—NFERA - +/x8  hEFEHH
BERSE (-2 REEEFAA)TEEL
#E DA 8 AN & & %820,000,00078 7T 3 18 &
102,040,816/ {7 - KA BB KA EE 2
T F#9102,000/8 T2 5t AR R B Z B fn)a

Be

R-ZE—MFE+A+N\B ' — B BRREERE
A ATTEE KR HE LA AN £ 4 %860,000,000
78 JT 1, #0 5306,122,4488 A% 17 © H IR (E B
BN E B 2 £ 5B 49306,000/8 LB 5t AR A A
2R ERE e

RZZE—MHENA=Z++tHB —RA#EK
EBERBATEELBEAR TS 28
47,560,0007% JT H.# /242,653,061 IR A 17 °
SHAERE AR B Z £ %8 4)243,0008 T E
FEARR B Z A5 (8 -

REZZ—WENAZ++EB  #HR (—FE
BREBEFBEANTEELREUNERE S5
27,440,000/ 7T X, ¥ %140,000,0000% B 15 °
HARER LR M EE 2 £54140,0008 T2
FTARRA R Z RN RIE °

MZZE—NEAA -+ =B hEFEHHE
EEM (— B RRERFEA)TERE SR
HE DA #5385 78 & % %880,000,000/8 7T H. 2 A&
408,163,265% i 17 o H I E R L R DEE 2
& ¥8 47408,000/%8 7L E 5T AR A A Z B 2 '

Ee
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40. RESERVES 40. f#¥E
The Group _E
Details of movements in capital and reserves of the Group are REBZEARFEEZE 2FIBHNREST
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on BiEeREEK-
page 87.
The Company b NN
Convertible
notes
Share equity Other  Accumulated
premium reserves reserves losses Total
ARREE
R EE BRfEE Hitv i 2 EE ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FETL
At1 April 2013 W-B-=#mA-A 735,089 17,381 23,647 (828,473) (52,356)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FRNBEEREASELE
for the year - - - (418,430) (418,430)
Issue of shares pursuant to conversion 1R 15 KA A # R Z 5
of convertible notes BIRG 60,823 (1,718) - - 59,105
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 RZE-NE=A=+—H
B-E-mEMA—A 795,912 15,663 23647 (1,246903) (411,681)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FABERZEBELSE
for the year = - - (60,130) (60,130)
Issue of shares pursuant to placing BB S ETRH 83,390 - - - 83,390
Transaction costs attributable to issue of — IRIEEL & %47 & B
ordinary shares pursuant to placing EIERZKA (2,118) - - - 2,118)
Issue of shares pursuant to conversion of  1R1& X AR ZE
convertible notes BIRG 277,829 (7,731) - - 270,098
Transfer to accumulated losses upon ERZRISEERS
mature of convertible notes ZEtERE - (7,932) = 7,932 3
Recognition of convertible notes equity ~ FER AT IR Z B
reserves on extension of convertible BRUAREBERRE
notes = 80,844 = = 80,844
Deferred tax liability arising on extension ~ ER ATHRRZEEE 2
of convertible notes EEREAR = (13,339) = = (13,339)
At 31 March 2015 R-E-RE=A=1+-H 1,155,013 67,505 23,647 (1,299,101) (52,936)
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40. RESERVES (Continued)

40. fEE (&)

The following describes the nature and purpose of each T AT S ERENEE &

reserve within owners’ equity:

Reserve

f#E

Share premium

f% 1 & (B

Foreign currency
translation reserves

SNEHE R

Other reserves

H

Accumulated losses

RETER

B Ay

Description and purpose

Bt B8

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders provided that
immediately following that date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts when
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
ﬁ?ﬁﬁaﬂ%%ﬁ SRAVE AARIRME BRI H O IR TIRE - R BRI
SZBEE ARAKEAXNEBEEBRETINHPNES-

Foreign currency translation reserves represent foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 4(s).

INE R BRI E IR INETR c M IS MR P EE 4 2 SN B 34 2 58 - % fRh
EIRIB I T A()E P 2 B aT BUR BRI

Other reserves of the Company represent the difference between the
consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries at the date on which
they were acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of
the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the
reorganisation.

RAATHMbHEEENB AR ARAWEZ BNGEe EEFEERN
NAINEE R RBERTZRNDOEELEZE -

Cumulative net losses recognised in profit or loss.

EA?E $EEE/LZ%H+)§S?E/$§EO

2014/2015 Fik HPEHFESHEZERERLT m



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT M. LR AER AR

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed at a Board meeting
held on 11 August 2010 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to participants for their contribution
to the Group. The Share Option Scheme will expire on 10
August 2020. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board
may grant options to the Directors, employees, non-executive
directors of the Company, suppliers of goods and services,
customers, advisors and consultants, shareholders or any of
its subsidiaries for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to them, to subscribe for shares in the Company with the
payment of HK$1 per offer.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the
date of listing of the shares unless the Company obtains the
approval of the shareholders in general meeting for refreshing
such 10% limit, in which case the total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company as “refreshed” shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of shares in issue as at the date of the approval of
the shareholders on the refreshment of the limit. The number
of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.
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REBREAS EFERARRES
BE JFATES EmLRH 2 HER
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ZAN/NCTN v
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B2 EBTRMNEN10% HARDFTREA
2 LERRAEEFTEB10%RERIN £
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

Options granted must be taken up within 21 business days
of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per each grant
of options. Options may be exercised in whole or in part by
the grantee (or his legal personal representatives) at any time
before the expiry of the period to be determined and notified
by the board to the grantee which in any event shall not be
longer than ten years commencing on the date of the offer
letter and expiring on the last day of such ten-year period
subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in
the Share Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined
by the Directors and will not be less than the highest of the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant, the average closing prices of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange on the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options or the nominal value of the Shares.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in
equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing the
shares.

During the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014, no share
option was granted, exercised, expired or lapsed and there is
no outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme.

M. URBBER 2K (E)

R AN R L B 21EE %
BREES WA R DB RESN
1BT AR A (KR EZEEBEREAN)A
REZFEEBETERBAARANGRE (£H
WA ERN B BN RMTEEES T FT
KR Z+ R &RE— B &R ERE
BT BIFTE 2 IR ATAR LE IR T IAFE
) Em A 2 BRI R RITREEE RS
BRE -1TEEHREFET  WHHMERA
TZHEZ&E  RORE G A BERR
PPz &« IR N B ZBEBER H
B 8T A AR 5 B AR TR 1%
miE: sk zEE-

FrB ARy RER SN 2 B EF MGt A
et - BTN NEBYEERDEE
S HEE B AR E sk ST B ARE

BE T AR T-MNF=A=+—
BIEFE SiEERERERL B17E- &
kR BB AR 8108 T I B MR 1T
158 2 P S o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

42. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

42, BEREEE

The Group as lessee

AEBEREEA
2015 2014
—E-i1%F —F-mEF
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FA&T

Minimum lease payments paid FARBLEEREDN
under operating leases Z &EHEER

during the year 19,127 19,870

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

RBEHR - AEERBETAREHLEHE
AEZRREEHEER B HRBERNAT :

The Group The Company
PN 3 VNN

2015 2014 2015 2014

—%-1f | ZT-0F | =F-1fF [ ZT-MF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET FET FET

Within one year —FR 16,480 16,361 24 24
In the second to fifth years inclusive EF_EEFREN

(BREEEMF) 33,024 33,548 34 57

Over five years BAAT 5,542 9,333 - =

55,046 59,242 58 81

Operating leases related to office property, director’s quarter,
certain office equipment, television broadcasting right, the use
of satellite capacity and broadcasting services with lease term
of between 1 to 10 years (2014: 1 to 10 years). All operating
lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that
the Group exercises its option to renew. The Group does not
have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of
the lease period.
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43.

44,

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Commitments for the acquisition of WEEWZ BB K& 2 A&

property, plant and equipment

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, during the years ended 31 March 2015 and
31 March 2014, the Group had entered into the following
material transactions with related parties which, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, were conducted on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

(a) During the year, the Group entered into the following

43. EREIE

The Group
EH
2015 2014
= —F—AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

- 3,480

YU EXBEIRS

SRR e M mREMEIBOFAREEIN
BE_Z-AFf=A=+—HERZZ—X
FZA=tT—HLFE AEEHEP@E)
BRI NIEAR S  NRRAREEZR DX
EXGIRIEFRFEGR LRANKE—
REERGBIETET

(@ TR AEBEFTILATERBETR

material related party transactions: Z
2015 2014
—E-hF —FT-HF
Related party relationship Type of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
A& 5 BA 1R REEH FET FrET
A company that Service fee for announcement 9 9
Mr. Chia Kar Hin, Eric John posting agreement
(“Mr. Chia”) had material
interest
e E A ([@HEE]) NGB N
BEEAER QA
Company secretarial fees paid 51 518
ENARWEER
A company that the spouse of  Legal and professional fee paid 35 56
Mr. Chia had material interest
HEEZERBREEANER BNEEREXER
/N
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

44. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(@) (Continued) (@ (&)

4. EXBERIRS (£)

Related party relationship Type of transaction

BELRE RE5ER
China Xinhua NNC Annual fee for television

broadcasting right (note (i)
rh [ 5 5 T AR A EREHEFE (H20))
Advertisement broadcasting income

(note (i)
B E BRI (B 7))

Waiver of the interests on
convertible notes (note (i)

RERATRRE B ZAE (B (i)

Accrued interests on
convertible notes (note (iv))

AR AR T 2 AR B (ATt ()

CNC China
B FEBRE (T H)

Advertising income (note (v))

BEEWRA (Kith))

A company that Dr. Lee Yuk Lun  Waiver of interests on

(“Dr. Lee”) had convertible notes (note (i)
material interest

FEBBL(1FEL]) RIR AR IR EIR 2 B (B a7 (i)
BEEAHER A

Accrued interests on
convertible notes (note (iv))

AR AR 2 AR B (ATt ()

2015
—E-F1F
HK$’000
FET

1,000

10,085

2,578
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2014
—E—OF
HK$’000
FETT

1,000

9,332

19,852

19,642

2,248

10,839

8,131



44. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continueq)

(@) (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

Pursuant to the agreements signed between the Group and
China Xinhua NNC on 5 September 2011, China Xinhua
NNC granted the television broadcasting right to Xinhua TV
Asia-Pacific for the period form 1 September 2011 to 31
August 2021 on an exclusive basis with an annual fee of
HK$1,000,000 payable by Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific to China
Xinhua NNC prior to 31 December 2016, and HK$3,000,000
payable by Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific to China Xinhua NNC with
effect from 1 January 2017. The transactions constituted
continuing connected transactions under the GEM Listing
Rules.

Pursuant to the advertisement broadcasting contract
signed between the Group and China Xinhua NNC on 24
August 2012, China Xinhua NNC has agreed to pay Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific, in cash, 50% of any amount that CNC
China receives as the economic entittement of CNC China
under the advertisement operation cooperation contract
(“Advertisement Operation Cooperation Contract”) dated
23 May 2011 entered into between CNC China and AVIC
Culture Co., Limited (“AVIC Culture”) relating to the grant
of the exclusive right by CNC China to AVIC Culture for the
promotion and operation of 58% of the advertising resources
of the China Xinhua News Network World Channel (the “CNC
Channel”) (Chinese) and CNC Channel (English) (collectively
the “CNC Channels”) which are developed and currently
maintained by China Xinhua NNC (“Partial Advertisement
Operation Right”), for the period from 25 May 2011 to
25 August 2016, being a guaranteed fixed fee of RMB90
million plus 40% of the part of advertising revenue derived
from the Partial Advertisement Operation Right in excess
of RMB90 million during the term of the Advertisement
Operation Cooperation Contract. The transactions constituted
continuing connected transactions under the GEM Listing
Rules.

4. EXBERIRS (&)

(@ (#&)

Kiat -

(i)

2014/2015 SR

RIEA S EE R EFEFET RN
—E——FNARBERIZHE TEH
MENEERBRAMEER NS E
THEREEENE BRESEFRES
—E——FNA—HRBREZZ=—F
NAZ+—HLE-R=T—X~E+_A
=+—BA FESEDAEEMNTEH
MEFEERM 2 FE 1,000,000
TToMEZE—+tF—A—B# WE
BRDASENPBFEREERE
2 843,000,000 T ZEXFHEHE
REIZER ETARRE T 2 HFERER
%o

BIEAEEE P B EREHEREGAN
TE-——F Nt HEHEINES
BREYL FENEFHEERACRE
B SMFMESHEDAE X HREF
BIFTERERA (PE)EF bR 5
BRAB([FHMRXE)R=ZFE——F
FAZT=BI 2 BEEE A ERH
(TBEEEAERZE]) (RRERTE
MEFHEEBEE (PR)EFH ML
ZRERECERE ([BPrESEERE]) -
AStER R BT EREER AT RN
ARFR R B =B ERAIRIRE
E([hEFEHETSEAEE])F X
ABREXE (578 [CNCAEE])58%H
BEERETHREMES HRA=Z
—FRA-tRAE-E—RENA
ZHARA)BETHBEFEZEE (PEH)
BERERPBENEERME (REH)
4 R 78 2 AE (A ZURE Z2.50% * BAERIE
& 7E Uk & A R #90,000,0007T * 5 1K
BEEEAEREBRRARBI BESE
ERBTESZEERABEARE
90,000,000 2 #B 7 W ER40% ° 52 55 32
SEBKAIZER ETRAIE T ZHEH
ER 5

HEHEERZERERAE 21 5



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

44. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

(i)

(i)

(V)

(Continuea)

On 21 May 2014, AVIC Culture and CNC China have mutually
agreed in writing to terminate the Advertisement Operation
Cooperation Contract. As such, AVIC Culture will not settle the
remaining amount of advertising fee due to CNC China which
would then be paid to China Xinhua NNC and the Group.
Accordingly, CNC China, China Xinhua NNC and the Group
have mutually agreed to terminate the agreement concluded
by CNC China and China Xinhua NNC and the Advertisement
Broadcasting Contract concluded by the Group and China
Xinhua NNC respectively on the same day. Details of the
termination were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 28 May 2014.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, China Xinhua NNC
and Proud Glory, a company in which Dr. Lee has had
material interests in, have waived the interests on convertible
notes of approximately HK$19,852,000 for the period from
9 December 2012 to 8 December 2013 and approximately
HK$10,839,000 for the period from 9 December 2012 to
31 March 2014 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the convertible
notes interests payable to China Xinhua NNC and Proud
Glory were amounted to approximately HK$10,085,000
(2014: approximately HK$19,542,000) and HK$nil (2014:
approximately HK$8,131,000) respectively.
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4. EXBERIRS (£)

Hiet: ()

(i

(i

(V)

(&)

RZZE-—MFRAZ+—H FMX
LR BENEERME (PE)AE
EEA ARG E K ILEERESER
FeoBEN I PR T BEXHR
REZ M BEFENRERERAE
EBERRHENEERS (HE)
ZEERBRRIRZ K Bt - o B
EFHEEE (PE)  PEHENRHEE
BHEEAEEREHERGE 5 RIRRFEB
AR BEEREERE (PE) &F
B 37 3 T ] AR AR R 2 T DA B AR
SENTEFEREERHERCES
BHAH -RILFBEHNARR AR
“E-MERAZTNBZRM-

HE-_ZT—NF=A=1+—HILFE"
FEFENEEEARME(—HBF
BIHEEAER AR ERBR T
——Hf+-_ANBE-_ZE—=F+=-A4
NBHEAE —E——F+-_ANB=E
—E-OE=ZA=+—HHBES L
19,852,000/ 7T & 4310,839,0007% 7T 2
AMBRERZFE -

HE—_Z-—AF=A=+—HIEE"

A RBFENEEERARME 2
R R F S B S B4 410,085,000
77T (ZZ—PO4F : #919,542,000/ 7T.)
RZEHIIT (ZZF — U : 498,131,000/
JT) e



44. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continueq)

(a)

(b)

(Continued) (a)

Notes: (Continueq)

(v)  On 22 July 2013, the Company and CNC China entered
into the channel resources usage framework agreement
(the “CRU Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Company will and will procure its subsidiaries to provide
advertising resources on the television channels controlled
by the Company to CNC China and its associates for the
advertisement businesses of independent third party clients
undertook by them. As consideration, CNC China will pay the
Group certain percentage of the advertisement broadcasting
fees (after deducting applicable PRC taxes) for using such
advertising resources based on the terms and conditions of
each agreement. The CRU Framework Agreement will have a
term of 3 years ending on 31 March 2016. The transactions
constituted continuing connected transactions under the
GEM Listing Rules.

One of the directors of the Company, Mr. Kan Kwok
Cheung (“Mr. Kan”), who is also a shareholder of the
Company, has provided personal guarantee to the lessor
in respect of the Group’s obligations under finance lease
as at the end of the reporting period as disclosed in note
fetel,

As at 31 March 2015, the banking facilities of the Group
were secured by corporate guarantee executed by
Shunleetat (BVI) Limited, which is wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Kan, the charges over the properties held
by Mr. Kan and personal guarantee provided by Mr. Kan.

Compensation of key management personnel of (b)
the Group

The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors of the Company. Details of the remuneration
paid to them during the year are set out in note 13.

4. EXBERIRS (&)

(%)
Hiet: ()

vy R-E—=F+A-+=-H -AAFHE
B EEERE (RE) T EE
BRIEAERRE ([SaBERLAESE
thal) - BRI - AN B S I S M {5 EL B
BAREPREFENEERE (REH)
MEBERNRRESAEZBYE=H
BEZBEEEBIREBARENEFZE
RIFEZ BEER -ERRE P EIF
EHEBEMA (PR BRES H#
R RGE MEAZESERAAS
EXETa stz BEENER (K
MRER P RERIE)  38EERIG A
ERBEEP=F BR_T—RF=
A=+—HRIE-%ZERFHEEKEIZE
RETRAUNBBTZHEBERS -

ARRl—RESHEFLE ([FL
£ (FAERRFRR)ERAEE
RBEPRcBEHERERHEA
REMAER FBERBERMESS -

R-_ZE—RAF=ZA=+—H8 &%
B & TR 17/ E B Shunleetat (BVI)
Limited (FAEEE 2 ENERHEE ) %
VZEERER HBEERFEZY
F 2R KB ERBEAERER
o

FEBTEEEASHMH

AEBETBREBABRARAES

FRACNZEETMEFBEHNME
18
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

44. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS U EXBEIRS (&)

(Continued)

(c) For the transactions constitutes continuing connected (c) BRAEKAIZER EMARAIETHER
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules, please refer to ERGIZHERS #2HE58H
“Connected Transactions” under “Directors’ Report”. HEIANTHEERS]

45. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 45. kRERH

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group (@ BHE—T—RAF=-A=+—HLIF
entered into finance lease arrangements in respect B AREBMYE WFEKLREF L
of property, plant and equipment with a total capital BEMHETH PERNERGREREE
value at the inception of the leases of approximately B 14 B 49 7,010,000/ 7T ( = Z — M
HK$7,010,000 (2014: approximately HK$4,830,000). F 1 494,830,000/ 7T ) ©

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 46. €R T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (@) £MITEMER
The Group
rER
2015 2014
—E-IF —T—MF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables ERRkEWFIE (BERE
(including cash and KBEeEEY)
cash equivalents) 126,095 68,333
Financial assets at fair value FRBHEAFEAR
through profit or loss ZEREE 12,117 10,485
Available-for-sale financial assets Al HE S RIE E - 400
138,212 79,218
Financial liabilities £ =N
Amortised costs ESH RN AR 346,560 698,431
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueqd)

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets ERMEE
Loans and receivables EREEWGIE (BERe
(including cash and kIREEEY)

cash equivalents)

Financial liabilities E@Mes
Amortised costs S DN

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate rises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is
also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity
investments in other entities and movements in its own
equity share prices.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial
management policies and practices described below:

(i) Credit risk management

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
its trade and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents. Management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

46. €RT A (#&)

(@) €WMITAER (&)

The Company

YN
2015 2014
—®-HF | —ZT-mfF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH7T Fi&T
119,574 122,422
236,870 582,509

(b) TEEREERNHRBEE

AEBENAEXEKERETEGEE
MEE & S =R o AN H T
HEMEERARE R BB RAKND
EREHMEL 2 RANERER

RE TNz AEE S BAR
BHIATIR ) :

() FERREE

rEEZEERBREEREES
NEMEURFENANIRS RIRE
ZEY - -EREERLEEEEK
METAEE 2 ZEEERRERE

E’LT/L °

2014/2015 Fik HPEFESHIEZERERLT 21 9



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # %= —

—AF=A=+—HIFE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

U]

(i)

Credit risk management (Continued)

Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the
financial condition of trade customers and, where
appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is
purchased. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group'’s and the Company’s exposure to credit
risk is influenced mainly by the carrying amounts
of the recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated and the Company statement of
financial position.

The default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit
risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of reporting
period, the Group has a certain concentration of
credit risk as 35% (2014: 13%) and 54% (2014:
46%) of the total trade and other receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

Liquidity risk management

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans of cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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46. €W I A (&

(b) £REREEENEEE ()

(i)

FERBREE (&)

AEEGUHESEPHMBRA
EITHAFEENM X (W#EA)
BEEEERRRE - —8ME
SETEREFREEAR-

AEERARRZEERRBEE
iR MR Z AR K FT

TERREMEEZRMEMZ
@O

)5,2% SFETREERCED
TN EERREMTE A

%zF?J\°B/\#E¢HH3E'$EIZ
35% (ZF—HF :13% ) &54%

T—UF:46%)E 5 N EAM
FEMGRIR B R R B N E &
REPRAREP #EE—E
SR EERR -

MEBE G EE

AEEAERZEEREAR
FEEZREEE BREATE
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueqd) 4. SRIT A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) SERAREEBENRBUR (£)
(Continued)
(i) Liquidity risk management (Continued) (i) ZEHELEBEE (&)
The tables below summarise the maturity profile of TRIBIEA LR IE FIBBL A A
the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities at SERAAFIEMBER=A
31 March on contractual undiscounted payments: =+—HZEEBER:
The Group RKE
Total Total
On Less than 3to12 Over undiscounted carrying
demand 3 months months 1year  cashflows amount
ABERES

BER ORZER ZE+-BR  BB-F  RERE KEEAER
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TET TET FET TET FET TR

At 31 March 2015 R-Z-2%=h=+-H
Trade and other payables £ 5 RE MR 208 31,324 22,480 20,407 15,356 89,567 89,567
Finance lease payables RMEREEMTE - 1,417 3,822 4,790 10,029 9,609
Bank overdraft FITEX - 5,978 - - 5,978 5,978
Promissory note RERE - - - 45,040 45,040 38,080
Convertible notes BB ER - - - 299,397 299,397 203,326
31,324 29,875 24,229 364,583 450,011 346,560
At 31 March 2014 RZZE-WE=A=+—8
Trade and other payables B o REMEMNKE 44,501 36,401 13,501 8,803 103,206 108,206
Finance lease payables BERERMRE - 987 2,585 4,186 7,758 7,382
Promissory note ERER - - 45,525 - 45,525 44,609
Convertible notes AARER - - 561,199 - 561,199 543,234
44,501 37,388 622,810 12,989 717,688 698,431

2014/2015 Fik HPEFESHIEZERERLT 221



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq) 46. €RT A (&

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(b) LRRABREEENREE (&)

(i) Liquidity risk management (Continued) (i) REBELREBEE (Z)
The Company FINYNE|
Total Total
On Less than 3t0 12 Over undiscounted carrying
demand 3 months months 1year cash flows amount
AERES
BER DSR=ER =ZZ+=fA BA-F REAE KREEARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2015 R-EB-R§=A=+-H
Accrued expenses and FEET R 2 IR E A FE 3008
other payables 4,233 - 19,917 - 24,150 24,150
Amounts due to subsidiaries ERIB QR ZHE 9,394 - - - 9,394 9,394
Convertible notes EEl S - - - 299,397 299,397 203,326
13,627 - 19,917 299,397 332,941 236,870
At 31 March 2014 RZZ-NE=R=+—H
Accrued expenses and FESTR S R A FE A 508
other payables 15,655 - 9,932 - 25,587 25,587
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTH B AR 2 508 13,688 - - - 13,688 13,688
Convertible notes ARRER - - 561,199 - 561,199 543,234
29,343 - 571,131 - 600,474 582,509
(iii) Interest rate risk management (i) 7 E @ EE

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for
changes in interest rates to the Group’s cash at
bank, convertible notes, promissory note and
finance lease payables. The Company manages
the risk by regularly evaluating its cash flows and by
repaying the bank borrowings when sufficient funds
are available.
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueqd) 4. SRIT A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) SERAREEBENRBUR (£)
(Continued)
(iii) Interest rate risk management (Continueq) (iii) FIEEBREE (&)
Interest rate profile FIEIEX
The following table details interest rates analysis that TREFMAR R ESTHEF =X
the directors of the Company evaluate its interest BB 2 FI = 547 o
rate risk.
The Group rKE
2015 2014
“Z-IF —T-MmF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BERAE BB =
(%)  HK$000 (%) HK$'000
FET FET

Financial liabilities SREE
Fixed rate borrowings ~ ERMEX

- Finance lease payables — @& & fE (7R 3.6 9,609 3.2 7,382
- Convertible notes —ABRREEE 15.78 203,326 6.64 543,234
~ Promissory note —EREE 7.42 38,080 5.74 44,609

Floating rate borrowings 1% B fE

~ Bank overdraft —RITEX 35 5,978 - -
Financial assets SREE
Floating rate assets FEEE
- Bank balances — R 0.01-0.87 62,156 0.01-0.35 20,486
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk management (Continued)

Interest rate profile (Continued)

The Company

Financial liabilities
Fixed rate borrowings
- Convertible notes

Financial assets
Floating rate assets
- Bank balances

ﬂ4 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015
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46. €W I A (&

(b) LRRABREEENREE (&)

(iii) 7/ E@BREE (&)

(%) HK$ 000

FIE G (&)
RAF
2015 2014
—E2-1% —R-EEF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
ERAI=E ERAI=
(%) HK$'000
22
15.98 203,326 6.64
0.01-0.87 13,474 0.01-0.35

FEr

543,234

522




46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueqd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk management (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis
The Group

At 31 March 2015, it is estimated that a general
decrease or increase of 100 (2014: 100) basis
points in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase or decrease the Group’s
loss after tax by approximately HK$562,000
(2014: HK$205,000). There is no impact on other
components of equity.

The Company

At 31 March 2015, it is estimated that a general
decrease or increase of 100 (2014: 100) basis
points in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would increase or decrease the
Company’s loss after tax by approximately
HK$135,000 (2014: HK$5,000). There is no impact
on other components of equity.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for non-derivative financial instruments in existence
at that date. The 100 basis point decrease or
increase represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014.

46. €RT A (#&)

(b) SEMEABREEENREE (&)

(iii) FIEEREE (/&)

RSB AIT

REH

[ = — A = LS8N
fily 51 fiaf 1) 3% B2 88 T f£ 5 F100
—ZT—NF:100) E B FEFT
BHEMEBERTENERLT
REE BRI Z BB G N S0R
A #7562,0007 7T ( ZF — U4 :
205,000 7T ) - i E R A H
A EEEAFE-

RKRQF

R-ZZE—FRFE=A=+—8"
il 51 ) 5= B B8 N B& 5k 7100
—ZE—PU4F:100) HE B FEAT
BEMBHERTENBERT -
PAN/NGIEO]G RS SRR Ry
1 #49135,0008 7 (=T — U F
5,000/ 7T ) o h £ ¥ i 25 ) H Atb
HoEETRFE-

WA £ BURKE 04 B R AR I R &

ERXRmEMNRELMEE LD
e B4 B P ¥ 2R B 3F0T4E
TR TR Z A RE L 100E 3
BOSIEIMEEEEHEE N —
BFEAE AR N XA s
BEBHHG-AMIRE—F
—MEER 2 EEETT
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq) 46. €RT A (&

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) SREAREEBENRBUER (£)
(Continued)
(iv) Foreign currency risk management (iv) JSNEEREEEZE
l*‘mlz/(ﬁ ZEBEMMEEE
BRI REERNLD
E’JF#EJS'Z HRASENEZER S
AU EEEEENNERE
HE HMARREERALAEE

The group entities collect most of the revenue
and incur most of the expenditures in their
respective functional currencies. The directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency exchange risk is insignificant

as the majority of the Group’s transactions are B9 HINEE TR B L o

denominated in the functional currency of each

individual group entity.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign REBRWMERRAINESTEZ

currency denominated monetary assets and B EEREKBEZREAR
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period S &
are as follows:

The Group r&E
Assets Liabilities
BE =
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-Ff —mE | —F-1E — iR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHT FHT
United States Dollars EVACE VD)

(‘USD") 2 1,839 163 546
Renminbi (‘RMB’) ARE ([ARE]) 1,370 1,712 158 =
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueqd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iv) Foreign currency risk management (Continued)

46. €RT A (#&)

(b) LRRABREEENREER (&)

(iv) SMERBREE (&)

The Company ¥ NN
Assets Liabilities
EE =L

2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-REF | ZEOF | ZE-RF | ZT0OF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Renminbi (‘RMB’) AR ([ARE]) 106 89 - -

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis SRR SR 7 T

As HK$ is pledged to USD, the Group does not
expect any significant foreign currency exposure
arising from the fluctuation of the HK$ to USD
exchange rates. As a result, the directors of the
Company consider that the sensitivity of the Group’s
exposure towards the change in foreign exchange
rates between HK$ to USD is minimal.

The Company is mainly exposed to the effects of
fluctuation in RMB.

RRB T ERXTTHEE AR ETE
HITERBETAERT 2 EXRS
mELEMERINEEL - Bt

ARBEERRAEEHBITR
KL EINEER BB 2 PRE
BRI

ARREZ2EHARE KB E
P SRV LR ©
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 46. BT R (&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) SREAREEBENRBUER (£)
(Continued)
(iv) Foreign currency risk management (Continued) (iv) SMERBREE (&)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (Continued) INE R E T (BB
The following table details the Group’s and the T&RFFNEEAEE KRR RS
Company’s sensitivity to a 5% (2014: 5%) increase RABTRAAREER FTNEEI5%
and decrease in HK$ against RMB. The sensitivity (ZE—F:5%) ZHBRHE -8
analysis includes outstanding foreign currency RE DT EERE R B AINE
denominated monetary items. A positive number FHMEMEMIEE - T7 2 E8X
below indicates an increase in profit or equity where BT ARBFAESR (=
the HK$ strengthen 5% (2014: 5%) against RMB. T—OF:5%) Bl F) ok i 2
For a 5% (2014: 5%) weakening of the HK$ against A8 0N o W BT H A R EZE5%
RMB, there would be an equal and opposite impact ZTE—UEF:5%)  BIgE R F
on the profit or equity, and the balances below would SREEEAFHEARNZE
be negative. i F5 &g a8
The Group AEE
Impact of RMB
ARBHTE
2015 2014
—E-RF —F—F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Profit or loss (note) w= A sk e (AYaE) (60) (86)
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueqd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iv) Foreign currency risk management (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Company

Profit or loss (note) w= Ak EE (A7)

Note:

This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on
monetary items denominated in RMB not subject to cash flow
hedge at the end of the reporting period.

46. €RT A (#&)

(b) LRRABREEENREER (&)

(iv) SMERBREE (&)

SNE GRS ()

FINYNE|
Impact of RMB
ARBEHNEE
2015 2014
—E-1F —E-mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FBEIT
(5) (4)
Biat -

It EZBRNIAAREHER HARR RS
HARRReRELH TR ZE¥IER 2

Ao (Bl = e o

2014/2015 Fik HPEFESHIEZERERLT 229



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At %5 4R R Mf 5

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z_—ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFFZE
46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 46. BT R (&

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) SREAREEBENRBUER (£)
(Continued)

(v) Other price risks (v) EmEREREE

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment in listed equity securities. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different risk and
return profiles. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities quoted in the
Stock Exchange. In addition, the management of
the Company monitor the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risk at the end of the reporting period. If the equity
price had been 5% higher/lower (2014: 5% higher/
lower), post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March
2015 would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$606,000 (2014: approximately HK$524,000).
This is mainly due to the changes in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueqd)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices and ask
prices respectively.

The fair values of derivative instruments are
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not available, a discounted cash flow analysis
is performed using the applicable yield curve for
the duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional
derivatives.

The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding those described above) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

46. €RT A (#&)

(c) EMIAZAFE

CREERERBEZA
\/%B\JFZ;E

FAETHIZIA

I S (5 2 R I 0 B BB T
B eMEERSRAR
R2ERBTHEERERE
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B H 3o
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?STEIEZ"J?TET*WF? o
HARBEESBBER RIAJES
T%?JEIE:ZIE:E@BEW}@%?
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors
of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their

46. €W I A (&

(c) eMIAZA¥E (&)

BRTIRAFLEIN ARBEERS
REFEEMBERRPERCEREER
TRABZHRAEREAFERS:

fair values:
The Group _E
2015 2014
—E-1%F —E-—|mF
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
IREE AVE RHEE NEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FBT FAT
Financial liabilities SRAE
Convertible notes RRER 203,326 167,128 543,234 541,592
Promissory note AL ER 38,080 26,331 44,609 45,016
The Company RKAF
2015 2014
—E-1% —Z-NF
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
REE AYE REE NFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FBT FAT
Financial liabilities SRAE
Convertible notes RRER 203,326 167,128 543,234 541,592
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueqd)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based
on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

e |evel 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

e |evel 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

e |evel 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

46. €T R (&)
(c) EMIAZAFE (&)

RiGE BRI & AR L FEG

y--§

TREIRVNTEREIR A FEE
ZEMIANH AREEAFER
BERBEDAF EF=45:

s FMAAFEAETEENS
NRREEL B EZRE CRE

HE)

e F_MAAFEFETIFAE—
MR 2 MEAINATEZE (BNEE
R EE (REER)REE
HEEBEERNBAER: &

o F=MAAFEFERBILIFA
ABEMSHBERER C EER
BEBAEH (THERHNE A
BER)HEEN %
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

The Group

At 31 March 2015

46. €W I A (&

() eMIAZATE (&)

RGE BN K7 R 2 FlEG

8 (&)

#5EH

R-Z2-RF=A=+—H

Financial assets at fair value ZEBEZEAFEAR
through profit or loss ZEMEE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE—HA FEZHA E=HA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FE FEn FEn FET

12,117 - - 12,117

At 31 March 2014

Avallable-for-sale financial assets 7] i1 & & Bl & &
Unlisted equity securities (notg) ~ 3F E MR ANE % (#77E)

Financial assets at fair value ~ BRBE&EEATEAE
through profit or loss LEREE

ZM' CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—®A FBZHZH B=H5 et
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

= = 400 400

10,485 = = 10,485




46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueqd)

46. €RT A (#&)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

(Continued)

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used).

Financial assets

TREE

Financial assets at fair
value through profit
or loss

FEREREATE
ARZEREE

Fair value as at

RUTHEHBHZATE
31 March 31 March
2015 2014
—E-RF —T-F
=A=+-—H =Zle=- =
Listed equity Listed equity
securities in securities in
Hong Kong: Hong Kong
- HK$12,117,000 | - HK$10,485,000
REE LT REE LT
MRANFE 2 P& 2N 75 25

—12,117,000% 7T

- 10,485,000/ 7T

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 for both

years.

() EMIAZAFE(E)

REE BN I %P ERZ L FEE

8 (%)

AEBHDEMEEREREHRL
NVEFE TREFEHIAEE
ZETMEELATFEZEMN (LER
FTRAZ AETERBARIER)

Fair value Valuation techniques
hierarchy and key inputs
HEFER

DNEEZEER FEBARE

Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
active market

E— T2 BB T 3% PR &Y
BAB

PREFE F—EHE_FB 2@
TS o
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

of financial assets

The Group

At the beginning of the year R FE )
Disposal during the year FAHE
At the end of the year RER
Note:

The unlisted equity securities was recognised at cost less
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

47. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debts.
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46. SRT A (&
(c) SMIBEZQFE(£)

EHEEF =KL FHETEZHEK

rE
Unlisted equity securities
FEmBRAFES
2015 2014
—E-IF —E-mF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FBT
400 400
(400) —
- 400

ME R E IR - IF L IRATE F IR AR AR
EER -
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47. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENTContinued)

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes trade and other payables, finance lease payables,
employee benefits, bank overdraft, promissory note and
convertible notes, net of cash and cash equivalents) and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital and reserves.

The Group’s risk management reviews the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital.

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of the reporting period
was as follows:

Debt (note (a)) &% (Hit@)

Less: Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt BE7%5 %58
Equity (note (b)) W (Kt b)

Net debt and equity B FRE kR

Net debt to equity ratio

Notes:

(@) Debt comprises trade and other payables, finance lease payables,
employee benefits, bank overdraft, promissory note and convertible
notes as detailed in note 32, 33, 34, 35, 36 and 37 respectively.

(o)  Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to owners of the
Company.

B BeERBREEEY

ERF R EEmL X

47. EXERERE (£)

AEBZENEBREERFH (BRFEE
7 R EMENKIA BEHEE R A
BERH RITEZ ARRBRAERER
B HkReRREFEY) RAREES
AR (BREBRARHE)

AEBZRAREBEABRSYEZEER
HEARB-ERAER —#n EF
ERBEARRKA KRk f & & A HE R 1ERE
go

RBERRER FHEEER 2 L E
T

2015 2014
—2-uF S ERT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
349,684 704,383
(62,166) (20,609)
287,518 683,774
(28,966) (407,939)
258,552 275,835
111% 248%

HsE

@ EXBREZREMENTKE BEHERE
MR BB RITEX  AARERA
BRER B D B E AP FE32 33 234
35+ 3637 °

b) B EAAARAES AR ARG

i
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48. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 8 December 2014, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party pursuant
to which a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will
acquire 60% of the issued share capital of Xinhua Afanti
Asset Management Limited (formerly known as Afanti Asset
Management Limited) at the consideration of HK$1,000,000.
The acquisition has not yet completed as at date of this report
and the acquisition is subject to approval of Securities and

Futures Commission.

49. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 1 June 2015.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the financial position of the Group

for the last four financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, is set out below.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue e

Cost of services BRA A A

Gross profit £

Other income Hi A

Other gains and losses Hin s REE

Amortisation expenses BHRx

Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAX

Administrative expenses THRAX

(Loss)/profit from operations 2 (B8) /&H

Finance costs BEKAR

Impairment loss recognised in respect of HESEYFERER 2
trade receivables REEE

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill 5t 7 2 # A 2 BiEE B

Impairment loss recognised in respect of HEFEERRZAESE
intangible assets

Impairment loss recognised in respect of HAHLESRHEERRZ
available-for-sale financial assets MBS

(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETEHA (B18) /A

Income tax PSR

(Loss)/profit for the year attrioutable KDAER AEG
to owners of the Company FR(ER) /&7l

PR

N 38 A PO E B BUF B 2 R R AR
2 e E TR 2 KERMBRE - &#yIm

mERE
BE=A="+—HIFE

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—E-1F —E-mF —T—=% —T-C-F —T——F
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET FET
(Restated)
(=5)
369,635 324,331 293,034 218,961 184,307
(346,553) (274.231) (248,252) (197,190) (162,107)
23,082 50,100 44,782 21,771 22,200
4,136 30,961 28,829 217 544
10,585 (3,307) 488 @) @)
(24,088) (59,463) (60,474) (17,694) -
(226) (85) (423) - -
(33,121) (29,706) (27,615) (32,732) (10,737)
(19,632) (11,500) (14,413) (28,441) 12,005
(25,720) (42,041) (41,425) (13,852) (341)
- (9,469) - - =
- (151,194) - (665,683) -
- (269,309 = g y
- - (66,741) = -
(45,352) (483,513) (122,579) (707,976) 11,664
3,629 52,221 6,390 3,079 (1,918
(41,729) (431,292) (116,189) (704,897 9,746
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MHEHE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March

Non-current assets
Current assets

Total assets
Less: Current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities
Less: Non-current liabilities

Total net (liabilities)/assets/Total equity

FRBEE
MBEE

REE
B RBAE

BEERRDARE
B FRBAR

B(afR) EEHE/

Bign

e MBI
2 e =2
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
“B-EF | ZEF-WE ZF-=fF ZF-Zf  ZF—F
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK8 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TET FAT TAT TAT TAT
(Restated)
(g=31)
181,872 208,624 674,380 788,289 12,711
184,740 124,333 104,966 92,209 61513
366,612 332,957 779,346 880,498 74,204
111,537 707,433 88,498 84,451 26,659
255,075 (374,476) 690,848 796,047 47,565
284,041 33,463 726,951 725,554 1,785
(28,966) (407,939) (36,103) 70,493 45,780

240 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2014/2015




v

CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED
PR EERERARAS



	封面
	香港聯合交易所有限公司創業板之特色
	目錄
	財務摘要
	公司簡介
	公司資料
	釋義
	主席報告書
	管理層討論及分析
	董事履歷詳情
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報表附註
	財務概要
	封底


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (Japan Color 2001 Coated)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize false
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness false
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages false
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages false
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages false
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting true
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks true
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /BleedOffset [
        8.503940
        8.503940
        8.503940
        8.503940
      ]
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MarksOffset 0
      /MarksWeight 0.283460
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PageMarksFile /JapaneseWithCircle
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
    <<
      /AllowImageBreaks true
      /AllowTableBreaks true
      /ExpandPage false
      /HonorBaseURL true
      /HonorRolloverEffect false
      /IgnoreHTMLPageBreaks false
      /IncludeHeaderFooter false
      /MarginOffset [
        0
        0
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetadataAuthor ()
      /MetadataKeywords ()
      /MetadataSubject ()
      /MetadataTitle ()
      /MetricPageSize [
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetricUnit /inch
      /MobileCompatible 0
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (GoLive)
        (8.0)
      ]
      /OpenZoomToHTMLFontSize false
      /PageOrientation /Portrait
      /RemoveBackground false
      /ShrinkContent true
      /TreatColorsAs /MainMonitorColors
      /UseEmbeddedProfiles false
      /UseHTMLTitleAsMetadata true
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [595.276 841.890]
>> setpagedevice




